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TRXEREEHR
CORPORATE MILESTONE

‘ | Invested in Central |
China School
and finished the
construction of its
new campus in 2016
REEZEHFERYE T
2016 F BRI RE |

Established Yunnan Einsun Computer
Vocational Training Station and is engaged
in computer basic knowledge training and
education, and entered into the private
education industry

BRYEEEFERTERBEZNGE RS
AERERABZIAE BREARR

‘ﬂﬁﬁ%

2005

Group headquarter moved to Beijing from
Yunnan

SEATHEREELR

Established Guizhou School offering a
three-year junior college program

BMNERKY RU=FHENRE

Established Yunnan School and was
upgraded from junior college to
undergraduate school in 2011
EHBERBY XR20MERENAKS
A BB R
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TERREE®
CORPORATE MILESTONE

2018

| Invested in Henan School

RETEER

Included as a constituent stock of
Hang Seng Stock Connect Hong Kong
Index, with effect on 5 March 2018
EMABEEBRBEERGR B
2018F3ASHAEX

Cooperation in relation to the
Gansu College and planned the
construction of its new campus

EFEERTRERYBETRE

Invested in Northeast School Invested in Guangxi Schools

RERLER REBAER

Northeast School and Henan
School Acquisition Closing

RESRURAEEBRK S 5K

N CONNECT f | /:
1ORE OPPORTUNITIES ey

| EREABRBENE
total number of enrolled students of
the Schools over 110,000

BEEERUREPERXZ TR

Guangxi Schools and Central China
Listed on the main board of SEHK School Acquisition Closing
ERBIPAERLS

HEEZRENREE-FREAERL
Included as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng ZHE8,00085 2 4+ A E
Composite Small Cap Index, Hang Seng Consumer The construction of new campus of
Goods & Services Index and MSCI China Small Gansu college was completed within

BEXEMABEGE N EREERELEHERE students moved in
E REZEEAOGREMSCHIHE/NEIEBH
R A7 B ‘

Cap Index for the first time | one year and more than 8,000

2019 ANNUAL REPORT )



FTEBHZKREH
MAJOR STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS ITEMS

WA R E b K8 & E
Revenue and Other income and gains Gross Profit
(BBTARY) (BBTARY)
(RMB million) (RMB million)

t

+72.1%

201881 201981 5 201881 5 201981 45
FY2018 FY2019 FY2018 FY2019
48 A BEEBITDA* EBENEATRRENFFE
Adjusted EBITDA* Net profit attributable to owners of the parent
(BBTARY) (BBTARY)
(RMB million) (RMB million)

t

+63.2%

L

3
33.4
+59.3%

2018 B4 2019814 2018 B1 4 2019871 5
FY2018 FY2019 FY2018 FY2019

. HHRREMERDEE 2 PNENSHRBERRB

Excluding the impairment allowance made for prepayment included in other non-current assets

6 CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#iam#EEERAR



MAJOR STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

BB KREMBRESFRA
Total Capital* Operating cash inflows
(BEBTARY) (BBTARY)
(RMB million) (RMB million)

t

+153.5%

2018 B 5
FY2018

2019815
FY2019

20181 58
FY2018

201981 5
FY2019

RARFNEBERZE
Adjusted interest cover

4R EBITDA / FIB X H
Adjusted EBITDA/ Interest expense

FEE =
Net gearing ratio

BEEEE/ EREHE
Net borrowing/ Total equity

#E AL EBITDA 12 &
Adjusted EBITDA multiple

FHEAME / KR EBITDA
Net borrowing/ Adjusted EBITDA

ELRBERRAERRESLSEY NEHEFR NSEAER

Total capital equals to the aggregate of cash and cash equivalents plus time deposits and pledged deposits

EHBMRRKRER

‘E o B

\F/?*%'E

Net borrowing
(BBTARY)
(RMB million)

NN

2018 B &8
FY2018

/.64 E.

20185 [EHf : 5.631F
Same period in 2018: 5.63 times

14.9.

20185F[E15f : 38.3%
Same period in 2018: 38.3%

0.61 &.

20185 [EHA : 1.991%
Same period in 2018: 1.99 times

$

-49.7%

201981 &
FY2019
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TREMES
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENTS

EMNEZSVRE
BKABRRESERARNSURREEAEFBEFHZE2019
F12B31HILWEERE -

019F RHEFSHREERL20BF - ERZUREE R
EERNBELXENEDT KAMHBF e KT IBES
B EEIANE-FRIBEEZ LERIUELEAD L
LEBEBAR]ICETLATEENREAPRERE - KE
ERATNEREARINER BBABTH RER
AR REMERBEEEE MEEFEREER -
09FEEERENAREMKERIGE ARBE1252E T
BLLER2% BERRBRENERERESL AHFE11.35
B ELER21%; FABAREIET ALIBER6% ;
ESHBBEARBI04ET BHERIMY  BEEAEF
BEARM439E T R TH50% -

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present to the Shareholders
the results report of the Group as of 31 December 2019.

2019 is the 20th anniversary of the establishment of China New
Higher Education Group. With the care and support of investors
and social communities, we adhere to the “Quality, Grow and

FEFSHEBERA A
China New Higher Education
Group Limited

Light” strategic direction, and focus on the “Six Excellences” EEABA ESEIE
strategic goals, to improve the quality of school operation with HITESE

the main purpose of creating the “Student-oriented, Contribution Founder of the Group, Chairman of
first” corporate culture. Upholding this principle, the Group’s the Board and Executive Director
organizational vitality was stimulated, organic growth was promoted

and our intended goals was achieved well, which bring rapid growth $$$$

in performance. In 2019, the Group’s revenue and other income
and gains reached RMB1,252 million, a year-on-year increase of
72%. The total number of enrolled students in our self-founded and
invested schools reached 113,500, a year-on-year increase of 21%.
Net profit amounted RMB430 million, a year-on-year increase of
69%. The total capital amounted RMB1,047 million, a year-on-year
increase of 154%. Net borrowing amounted RMB439 million, a
year-on-year decrease of 50%.

Li Xiaoxuan

8 CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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FTRBESE
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENTS

The teaching quality has been significantly enhanced. The average employment
rate of graduates of the Group’s colleges and universities in 2019 was 97.35%,
and the high-quality employment rate reached 38.48%. The professional
counterpart rate of high-paying pilot classes was nearly 100%, and the
average annual salary of these graduates was nearly RMB80,000, which had
been widely recognized and praised by students, parents and enterprises.
Our universities and colleges actively responded to the call of the Ministry
of Education, vigorously promoted the education mode for Outcomes-Based
Education, strengthened major and curriculum setting, built the teacher team
with “double qualifications”, newly added 164 internal and external experimental
training bases, carried out student employment cooperation with nearly 10,000
established corporations including Huawei, Alibaba Group, etc., and signed
cooperation agreements with 17 overseas schools or institutions in terms of
international collaboration.

Our social reputation continues to improve. About 1,700 students have won
around 500 grand prize and first-prize awards in national, provincial, and
municipal competitions. Yunnan School has won the first award of the Yunnan
Duty Appraisal of Employment Target for 10 consecutive years. Guizhou School
has awarded the title of “Advanced Educational Institution in Guiyang”. The new
campus of Gansu College was completed in only one year, creating a miracle
for rapid construction in the field of education in Gansu Province. Central China
School ranked first in the province in terms of job satisfaction. The Group
also actively undertakes social responsibilities such as poverty alleviation and
education, implements the “Not One Less” ( —{E&B 84> ) poverty alleviation
project, which has provided subsidies to more than 30,000 students, and has
continued to improve its brand influence.

2019 ANNUAL REPORT
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FTRBESE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENTS

NERBEABERS 2FERBBR AR
B FAERY  FBEERAAREE1.0ET
BB R114% ; £ B ER2018F W A K 9,947
TTIREHARY1095T BLHIERI1% o &K&& 4
HEFRARLLENG2% - RMBE S I EH T
B oER FXRNERSUMEAMEE AEKX
BERBREMTEIRE SIBRRANWRESER
BEE EPERBLFEREEM-

MEXBEEZ VB -EBEITETnClassHEF G
BLERELETRERERNHE  ECOVID-19% FH
HttRETEEEA 2ARET EFRTEL]
ZFAENTRARLIZE-EEERRESE
EIFZRETEZRG EEER HHEERPMK
REMyARGEZERTEREEMEERT
LB - RIEMEZERBENEFTLLEERETFE
HAMERHOEZ2E Z88RE HE HEF
DN EHERERSHRERIE 500888 K - B[
BEE -AREE HRERP NCCEREBEAL &
FREEMRABBHE-

M TR SRR T —

The efficiency of school operation has been greatly improved. The annual
revenue from tuition fees reached RMB984 million, a year-on-year increase of
92%; the revenue from boarding fees amounted RMB105 million, a year-on-year
increase of 114%; the tuition fees per student increased from RMB9,947 in
2018 to RMB10,995, a year-on-year increase of 11%. Operating cash inflows
increased by 82% year-on-year. We actively strive for the addition of 24 popular
majors such as the establishment of new engineering, new medicines and new
arts, etc., to provide a strong guarantee for expanding the admission quota;
Stunning results have been achieved in post-investment management of acquired
schools, and the number of students in Central China schools has increased
rapidly.

The advantages of technological support are prominent. The Group has been
using TronClass integrated online teaching platform, gradually realized online
and offline mixed teaching, and also played an important role during the
COVID-19 epidemic, comprehensively guaranteeing “Delay resuming of school,
no delay in teaching and learning”, with a total of more than 40 million visits in
the platform. We established a safe campus management system in cooperation
with Hikvision, and Yunnan school and Gansu school were listed by government
departments as models for promotion and the technology was approved to be
promoted in schools across the two provinces. Relying on the digital integrated
service platform developed by Aliyun, it had provided teachers and students
with comprehensive services including academic record, registration for
examinations, payment of fees, evaluation of teaching, apartment maintenance
and suggestions for more than 15 million times. In cooperation with Aliyun and
Yonyou, we upgraded the ERP and NCC management systems which resulting in
the increasingly apparent effects of digital management.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



EEAFEERA - EZEET XBEZH IFE
SIEABAENBRIRMA BREREEEURE
RGBEECTEREER - BBRENTE TEE
FHRAR - ERE - FAK BABTHXR BER
EEBAZ L S ELEZE S ARBEL 000668
TSHERNEBEENHER SHEEZABEREHA
16.7% " BEF[LEE AR L -ULEMELAAN WA
Bt ROAKTHFHNSESE N AHEANEHN
M- RER TEEEITFEGASRBAEE
BEERME L BRASTE EWmERGHK

& o
f

REARAR BEXESETHERRNERANGT AR
MRATERANER=ZM -RAMSEEREEERL
MBEZ BE(SAREIEBBLE BETNE—
RIBEES MEBRFRESRER EHA
AREMBRNED B EEEHEEBERE
EREEN HEBHENERAT HNEAHNERE
R REURRAIERENERK-

TERFSHEEERAT
TE
T

202053 A 23H

FTRBESE
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENTS

Management level has continued to rise. We have trained a team of cadres who
are professional and able to continue to lead the organization. A solid foundation
was laid for ensuring current performance and future mergers and acquisitions.
Through scientific management, efforts have been made on the income, demand,
use, and input of assets to achieve asset diversification and to introduce more
than RMB40 million social funds to participate in the school’s software and
hardware construction, driving an increase in asset turnover ratio of 16.7%.
We adhere to the organizational culture of “Student-oriented, Contribution
first”, vigorously promote the reform of remuneration management, widen the
difference in performance-related bonuses, and provide motivation to fuel the
management’s leadership by adhering to flexible appointments of cadres in
the organization; in order to stimulate organizational vitality to bring forth fresh
achievements.

Looking forward, the country’s related benefits for the development of higher
education provide us with ample room for growth. We will continue to give full
play to the advantages of collectivized school operation, adhere to the “Quality,
Grow and Light” strategic direction, and focus on the “Six Excellences” strategic
goals, accelerate to unleash the potential of newly invested schools, and improve
the quality of education and profitability. At the same time, we will actively
select potential high-quality targets in the designated areas, continue to promote
development strategy with organic growth as the mainstay and investment as the
supplement and create stable returns for all shareholders.

China New Higher Education Group Limited
Li Xiaoxuan

Chairman

23 March 2020

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

1



SCHOOL NETWORK
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BRA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

EEIBER (EMER)
o Yunnan Technology and Business University
(Yunnan School)

EMNIBBEZR (EMNER)
Guizhou Technology and Business Institute
(Guizhou School)

KREERSER (RILER)
Harbin Huade University
(Northeast School)

HMIERBERERZZER (EHER)
Science and Technology College of Hubei Minzu University
(Central China School)

BEREBXZER CTEHER)
Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College
(Henan School)

FERREERBEER BEARMAZERBERTER
REAREFHBBEASKEMNETR (RBEAER)

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College,

Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School
and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School

(collectively, Guangxi Schools)

BMNEBEIRERMIESER (HHEZMk)
College of Technology and Engineering
(Gansu College)

BBEHRERNEGHRAENPIRELEHRERNERERE

The acquisition of Gansu College is still pending approval for change of school sponsor of Gansu College by the MOE

2019 ANNUAL REPORT %k 13
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SCHOOL NETWORK

B4
EHER
B

B RR20055F  REAR R ERNKE

EREE-RPBABER
HEBEZEFELEE TS0

019FBMEFMERAEATBEETHRER

EMEERRLSREBEGAERABIRMRE
PONEREARMER

BRER:

2019/20202 F AHIER11%

19FEXERERFERITEISLI L
1IEEHMMBLELETHEHFAARYBIE

JC
BEETFEEEERNETI/FEEEREZRZ—
42
19FERMEELZEME2EZELEDH
EHE0861E  HP B RKA L IE42ME B HEE
2441

OUR SCHOOLS

YUNNAN SCHOOL
Self-founded

Founded in 2005, provides undergraduate education and junior college
education

The first private undergraduate school in Yunnan Province

Top 50 National Graduate Employment of the MOE (B B &2 Bl 2% 4+
BT 1E5038)

Approved as applied talents training model institute in Yunnan Province in
2019

The first applied undergraduate university in Yunnan founding University
Edge Computing Network Engineering Research Center

School performance:

The number of students enrolled in the 2019/2020 academic year
increased by 11%

The graduate employment rate in 2019 continued staying above 98%

The average annual salary of the 2019 Excellence Class graduates
exceeds RMB75,000

Won the first award of the Yunnan Duty Appraisal of Employment Target
for 10 consecutive years

In 2019, teachers and students of the school won 286 awards in a
number of national and provincial competitions, including 42 national
awards and 244 provincial awards

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



BRA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

e

Teie o
S,

BEMNEBR GUIZHOU SCHOOL

B Self-founded

o K012 RUEERHE . Founded in 2012, provides junior college education

. EMNEZHHIEREAERERANEREPR e The largest full-time vocational college by enrollment in Guizhou Province

o 2M9FEBTH——ZFIBEEFIEBETHSE e  The only private college in Guiyang awarded the “Advanced Educational
AAATEERB WRPSERR Institution in Guiyang” in 2019

BRRKRE: School performance:

e MVESEMMEBELEFTHEFEFHFBAARYSE o  The average annual salary of the 2019 Excellence Class graduates
T BB WG KE exceeds RMB80,000, far exceeding the average market level

. 019F MM AEBEBR XA UREREEHNRME H o In 2019, teachers and students won 92 national and provincial awards, of
Al R 22152218 which 22 were national awards

HERF: Major settings:

o EHITEAMERE KB KBE=KZEZEE o  Focus on providing three major streams i.e. big health, big data and big

finance

e EHEEXEELUEEMSMEBEEBREHIEE o  Accounting major is on the list of key majors developed by Education Office of
¢ Guizhou province

e HENFEITERZABERYSNEBES e  The pass rate of nurse qualification examinations for four consecutive years
BEHKE CAREMNBEATF is higher than the national average level of higher vocational education, and

ranking the top in Guizhou

e BMNEBEEHEARE-—ZR4E e 4first prizes of the Guizhou Nursing Skills Competition

e BMNEBEHMBBREHAE-—ZR1E e 1 first prize of Guizhou Teachers’ Teaching Ability Contest

e HREZHEEHEAE_ZHRIE e 1 second prize of National Nursing Skills Competition

2019 ANNUAL REPORT 15
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BRAE =
SCHOOL NETWORK

RiER
RE (R2018FE128 TR BEER)

MER1992F » 2004F KL BB L HE - 1214
KRB
EEIEERENEREAIRRE
ZERPBERAE—BERESZE-
B ERIEEZIEYERE
ERTESEEREN

TERE

BRERR:

FEREIREERHEESNMBERAE —FRE
¥ER

019F AP 7 (FEDBRATEIE B
EEIEM SRR EIREE

MABEETH -EHN DE—S5ZHNE02A1E

2019f8 2 % 4 it 550058 1 2 5 % £10.60%
HehE % M %:Re5.72%

BREBEERE:

EREREXERATI REESE1,000
BRAC2019F HABRERETRLSER T
HE DVERAUSXELETFHFHFAAR
H8E T BERIT100%

EREEEFEH RABBIMEAEEEH
Bl (CEE1BERRERERIVEARIE
BEM)  2019FHEREESIEEBE 1218

*
-
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NORTHEAST SCHOOL
Investment (completed in December 2018)

° First built in 1992, then established as an independent institute in 2004,
provides undergraduate education

° The earliest private undergraduate university in Heilongjiang Province

o The only national key construction base for the training of qualifications of
higher- and middle-level professional teachers in private universities

° Heilongjiang Top 100 Quality Institution

School performance:

° Automobile service engineering major was recommended to participate in
the construction of national first-class majors

e Cooperated with Siemens (China) Co., Ltd. (FaFS ¥ (FFE) BR L F)
in 2019 to launch the only intelligent manufacturing engineering major in
Heilongjiang Province

° Strengthen cooperation with Geely, Midea, FAW and other well-known
enterprises

° Graduate employment rate in the world’s top 500 companies in 2019
reached 10.60%, and the professional counterpart rate is 85.72%

Post-investment management:

° Based on the construction of Talent Class for outstanding majors, more
than 1,000 students have been trained. In 2019, there are 8 Talent Class
for majors such as smart manufacturing engineering. The average annual
salary of the graduates of the Talent Class in 2019 exceeds RMB80,000,
and the employment rate is nearly 100%

° For school-enterprise cooperation, there are 13 large scale
practical teaching centers (including 197 on-campus laboratories
and 97 off-campus internship bases) on campus, 12 newly added
school-enterprise cooperation projects were recorded in 2019

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#imBEEERAR
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BRERR:

2019/20202 F A BIL R 27.6%
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REER:
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EECRR MAEERSKER  HEHEH
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REAZTEHEEENEE SHBLFEX
REEM EREABEL

BRA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

HENAN SCHOOL

Investment (completed in October 2018)

Established in 2013, provides junior college and vocational education
Excellent private school in Henan Province

The National Top 10 E-commerce Educational Institutions

The first batch of pilot colleges to hold the National E-commerce Skills
Examination

School performance:

The number of students enrolled in the 2019/2020 academic year
increased by 27.6%

E-commerce major was selected as provincial brand major construction
site

E-Commerce Institute is recognized by the Electronic Commerce Industry
Steering Committee as a “characteristic college focusing on modern
apprenticeship training established jointly by schools and enterprises”
Automobile testing and maintenance major was rated as a national key
major by the MOE

Post-investment management:

Expansion of campus: built a new campus of about 500 mu, increased
investment in books and facilities, greatly improved hardware conditions,
and met the need of school development

Strengthen management: send key management teams to integrate
schools into the collectivization system, increase the construction of
information systems, deploy collaborative office, financial management,
and teaching service information systems to improve management and
the quality of education and teaching. Implement comprehensive budget
management to achieve effective control of school operating costs
Optimize the structure: increase the introduction of highly-educated and
highly-skilled talents, improve the quality and standards of talent training,
increase the vocational admissions plan, and optimize the structure of
students
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GUANGXI SCHOOLS
Investment (completed in January 2019)

° Established in 2005, provides junior college and vocational education
° Located in the port city of Beibu Gulf Economic Zone

° The only private college in the local

o The most international college in the local

School performance:

° Carry out student internship employment cooperation with 76 high-quality
units such as SAIC GM Group and JD Group

o Conduct “order class” cooperate with five companies including Beijing
Hoing Education and TCL

° Signed cooperation agreements with 11 undergraduate colleges, such as
Guilin University of Technology, Guilin University of Electronic Technology,
Beibu Gulf University, and Guangxi Normal University for Nationalities,
in relation to excellent graduates exempted from college entrance
examination

Post-investment management:

° Improve campus: invest to improve campus environment, experimental
training equipment, classrooms, dormitories and other hardware
conditions, further improve the quality of education and teaching, and
improve students’ satisfaction

° Talent incentive: change the performance evaluation system, generously
reward those who have contributed, and promptly promote young capable
people, which will significantly increase the employment rate

° Enhance teaching: integrate group education resources, optimize
professional settings, innovate working mechanisms, strengthen
cooperation with Guangxi undergraduate schools, provide undergraduate
courses for college graduates, and training revenue increased rapidly

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#imBEEERAR
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CENTRAL CHINA SCHOOL
Investment (completed in August 2019)

° Established in 2003, provides undergraduate and junior college education
in medicine, arts and other subject

° National Advanced Independent College

o Obtained the qualification to grant Bachelor of Medicine

° In 2019, it was named the advanced collective of college admissions team
in Hubei Province

° Awarded “Excellent Project of National College Student Volunteer Service
in Western China in 2019(2019%F 2 B A £ 4 7 Jf8 ik 7% 78 30 ok 2 51
gEEEB)

School performance:

° Ranked first in the province in terms of job satisfaction

° Government entrusted targeted training unit for medical students

° Financial management and nursing science won provincial first-class
professional construction site

° Received 83 provincial and above discipline competition awards, including
9 national awards

Post-investment management:

o Improve management: strengthen team construction, increase campus
information construction efforts, upgrade collaborative office, financial
management, teaching service information systems, and improve
management and education and teaching quality

° Improving efficiency: Tuition fees for medical, art (music, dance), and
economic management majors have been significantly increased;
comprehensive budget management has been implemented, asset
utilization has been strengthened; and the cost of running schools has
been effectively controlled, and the efficiency of running schools has
increased significantly per capita

° Expansion of campus: increased capital to expand the campus, investment
in experimental teaching equipment and continuous improvement of
school conditions, the number of students increased rapidly

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

19



20

BRAE =
SCHOOL NETWORK

HEZR

RE

(552 ™K)

B R20045F R AR HE

0195 HREBLEHRMERERE —
AE-RNIRIRFE
HREEEHERARMASERERAMBRER

HEEEBERRRRTELEEN

2EBVERENEE -

BRER:

WOF Y REFESRERSREETY
#HE30%

REIHERESERZE 2EENERKE
TERLTEREHBREIEBEMHESR LR
NZEEXERE

H=ZF BEERNFAFBE R EGRER
RARSEIE 20080 BB R IE1E

AEEMREMB R HIAE RBREHRE
MEBEFHEEAERE

HERERA FEEE -HHEE -WISA
EESHR0REDET A0 EE
NTRMEINEFEE
EEAMEREANEBEBESE EE4C
BAREXS BN CE R A BEELER
R ADE

B EE:

EERTREEZR FREEXATHEEXK
FEEEBEREESE —  R2019%F9A 78,0008
ZELEECRBEAFTRE

GANSU COLLEGE

Investment (pending closing)

° Established in 2004, provides undergraduate education

° Ranked No. 1 in employment rate of Gansu Independent College in 2019

° Excellent Engneering Training Platform in Northwest of China

° The first batch of pilot universities for transformation and development of
applied technology universities in Gansu Province

o Advanced Unit of Employment in Ordinary Colleges and Universities in Gansu
Province

° Ranked No. 1 in patents in independent colleges in the province

School performance:

° The average employment salary in 2019 is 30% higher than that of
college students in Gansu Province

° There are 1 provincial key laboratory, 2 provincial experimental teaching
demonstration centers, 7 school-enterprise collaborative engineering
technology research and development centers, and more than 30
professional laboratories

° In the past three years, students have won more than 50 national awards

and more than 200 provincial awards in scientific and technological

innovation competitions

Undertake provincial and ministerial key scientific and technological

research and development projects and more than 30 Ministry of

Education industry-academia collaboration education programs

Established off-campus training and employment bases with more than

200 companies, including Fortune 500 companies such as State Grid,

CSCEC, China Railway Group, and Zhejiang Geely Group

Reputable in the field of domestic truss robots, and graduates have

established 2 national high-tech enterprises, and more than 100

graduates have been in many robot companies

Post-investment management:

° Has completed the construction of the new campus, the construction of
new campus is the fastest in the field of education in Gansu Province and
more than 8,000 students relocated to new campus in September 2019

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The financial results for the year ended 31 December 2019 and those for the

wmr: year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:
BETHAHILEEE
Year ended
20194 20184
12A31H 12A31H =)
31 December 31 December
2019 2018 Change
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
PN Revenue 1,089,221 561,450 +94.0%
FEHAR Cost of sales (546,582) (275,029) +98.7%
EF Gross profit 542,639 286,421 +89.5%
Ham R g Other income and gains 163,090 166,044 -1.8%
HERDHBAX Selling and distribution expenses (13,957) (5,434) +156.8%
THEAX Administrative expenses (84,891) (53,701) +58.1%
Hip Other expenses (27,208) (38,567) -29.5%
=N Finance costs (93,806) (77,970) +20.3%
42 FLEBITDA* Adjusted EBITDA* 716,878 439,150* +63.2%
R i Al R E PROFIT BEFORE TAX 485,867 276,793 +75.5%
i X% Income tax expense (55,513) (22,525) +146.5%
FRHAEF Net profit for the year 430,354 254,268 +69.3%
BEER Net profit attributable to owners of the parent 386,446 242,530 +59.3%
BRERN (ALH) Earnings per share (RMB) 0.26 0.17 +52.9%

HHRREMERDERE 2 PHNRA R RRERE -

Excluding the impairment allowance made for prepayment included in other non-current assets.
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REVENUE

The Group’s revenue increased by 94.0% from RMB561.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB1,089.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. This increase was primarily due to (i) the completion of new
acquisitions of Central China School, Guangxi Schools, (2) and that the results of
Henan School and Northeast School which were consolidated in 2018 covered
the full year of 2019, and (3) that teaching quality and boarding experience have
been enhanced. Both of the student enrollments and tuition and boarding fees
have increased.

COST OF SALES

Cost of sales of the Group increased by 98.8% from RMB275.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB546.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2019. The increase was primarily due to (1) increase in student
enrollments, (2) the completion of new acquisitions of Central China School and
Guangxi Schools in 2019, (3) the results of Henan School and Northeast School
which were consolidated in late 2018, covered the whole year of 2019 and (4)
the increased inputs to teaching.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Gross profit increased by 89.5% from RMB286.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to RMB542.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019,
consistent with the growth of the Group’s business. The gross profit margin
decreased to 49.8% for the year ended 31 December 2019 from 51.0% for the
year ended 31 December 2018, mainly resulting from the relatively lower gross
profit margin of the newly acquired schools, which can be improved year-by-year
through collectivized management in the future.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains of the Group decreased by 1.7% from RMB166.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB163.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2019. The decrease of such service fee income was primarily
due to the decrease in service fees charged by Huihuang Company under the
exclusive technical service and education consultancy service agreements. These
agreements were previously entered into by the schools invested by the Group
and Huihuang Company prior to the completion of acquisitions, therefore, the
service fees incurred by it shall be included in other income of the Group. Upon
completion of new acquisitions of Central China School and Guangxi Schools,
the exclusive technical service and education consultancy agreements were
automatically terminated, resulting in the decrease in other income and gains of
the Group. Without taking into account such impact of income from service fees
charged by Huihuang Company, other income and gains increased by 59.0%
compared with last year, mainly due to the expansion of service categories and
the introduction of high-quality service providers.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased by 159.3% from
RMB5.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB14.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019. This increase was primarily attributable
to (1) the completion of new acquisitions of Central China School and Guangxi
Schools, (2) that the results of Henan School and Northeast School, which were
consolidated in late 2018, covered the whole year of 2019. The expenses remain
as approximiately 1% of the total revenue, which is generally consistent with
historical levels.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by 58.1% from RMB53.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB84.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019, which was primarily attributable to the increase of
newly acquired schools and the increase of the investment costs in employing
professional parties to provide strategic studies and internal training to the Group
and staff, and the increased investment in information management services.

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses of the Group decreased from RMB38.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to RMB27.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2019, which was primarily because the Group obtained the positive judgement
from Xinjiang High Court in favour of the Company’s claims for the prepayments,
and therefore did not make additional provisions. Excluding such impact, other
expenses growth was attributable to the acquired schools, and the increased
costs arising from other gains and revenue growth.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs of the Group increased by 20.3% from RMB78.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB93.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2019, which was mainly due to the increase in the scale of financing,
while the finance rate decreased significantly.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

As a result of the foregoing, we recognized a profit before income tax of
RMB485.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, as compared to a
profit before income tax of RMB276.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2018, representing an increase of 75.5%.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group’s income tax expense increased by 146.7% from RMB22.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB55.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2019, which was primarily due to (1) the service fees from other
income derived from the exclusive technical service and education consultancy
service agreements charged by Huihuang Company, entered into with Central
China School invested by the Group prior to the completion of acquisition, (2)
the increase of service fee income under the Structured Contracts, and (3) the
increase of withholding income tax on dividend payout.

NET PROFIT

As a result of the combined effect of income, costs and expenses above, the
net profit of the Group was RMB430.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2019, an increase of 69.2% as compared with RMB254.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The total capital of the Group, which equals to the aggregate of cash and cash
equivalents plus time deposits and pledged deposits, increased by 153.5%
from RMB413.2 million as of 31 December 2018 to RMB1047.3 million as of
31 December 2019. The capital reserves was obviously increased. The total
capital coverage of short-term interest-bearing liabilities rose from 0.7 to 1.5.

CASH FLOW

The following table sets out a summary of our cash flows for the years indicated:

BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20194 2018%F
2019 2018
ARBEETR ARBBEER
RMB million RMB million
KRETBHMERESFEHE Net cash generated from operating activities 830.9 456.7
RETBHFARESFE Net cash used in investing activities (603.6) (1,080.6)
BEES (FTA) RSB Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (18.0) 854.5
RERBESLEBYELEHTE Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash
and cash equivalents 0.1 0.4
FURERESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 349.6 118.6
FREESRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 559.0 349.6
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

The Group generates cash from operating activities primarily from tuition fees
and boarding fees. Cash flows from operating activities have reflected (i) profit
before tax; (i) movements in working capital; and (i) other cash items consisting
of income tax paid and interest received.

Net cash from operating activities amounted to RMB830.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019, increased by 81.9% for the year ended 31 December
2018.

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investing activities inflows comprise primarily acquisition of subsidiaries and
sales of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Investing activities
outflows comprise primarily purchases of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets, prepaid land lease payments, and an increase in time deposits
of RMB107.5 million. The time deposits is RMB107.5 million as of 31 December
2019.

Net cash outflows from investing activities amounted to RMB603.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, which had primarily reflected the property, plant
and equipment purchased by Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Henan School,
Northeast School, the investment in the construction of schools in Lanzhou, and
prepaid land lease payments.

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financing activities inflows primarily include borrowing bank loans and other
loans, and the fund raised from the Group’s listing by way of top-up placing.
Financing activities outflows primarily include repaying bank loans and other
loans, paying interest and dividends, and increasing in pledged time deposits of
RMB317.3 million. The time deposits amounted to RMB380.8 million as of 31
December 2019.

Net cash outflows from financing activities amounted to RMB18.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s capital expenditures were
RMB439.2 million, which was primarily used for the construction of our school
buildings and facilities at the new campus, prepaid land lease and purchase of
equipment and software.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments were primarily related to the balance payment
for the construction of school building, purchase of facilities and investment
in Gansu College. The following table sets out a summary of our capital
commitments as of the dates indicated:

20195 20185
12A31H 128318
As of As of
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
AREEETR ARBEETR
RMB million RMB million

EHEREES: TR Contracted but not provided for:
ME - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 140.0 72.3
BE Investments 43.0 123.0
183.0 195.3

PA2019F 12831 AEB Y EEMEREEB/RE
KW E KRB ANEIE -

5%
RITERKEMER

EENRTERREMERIEEREEHEEES
SERREZREREFRBRENRBABEEER &
Z2019F12A3EMNRITERREMERBARY
1,486 8E B L HHBB T ENERB6IEET
B HBR U AR E-

RAREE

HZE2019F128318 EEHMBTMEARSAREE
ERIHEAEETMARENTIMRRARNELE
ReFAREREE

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant capital commitment
authorized but not contracted for.

INDEBTEDNESS
BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group’s bank loans and other borrowings primarily consisted of short-term
working capital loans and long-term project loans for the construction of our
school buildings and facilities. The bank loans and other borrowings amounted to
RMB1,486.8 million as of 31 December 2019, among which HK$569.5 million
was denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, while the remaining was denominated in
Renminbi.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities, guarantees or any litigations or claims of material importance, pending
or threatened against any member of the Group.
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RATIO OF INTEREST-BEARING DEBT/TOTAL ASSETS

Ratio of interest-bearing debt/total assets equals to the total amount of
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings as of 31 December 2019
divided by the total assets. The Group’s interest-bearing debt/total assets ratio
decreased from 27.7% as of 31 December 2018 to 24.8% as of 31 December
2019, mainly due to the completion of consolidation of newly invested schools.
With the simultaneous enhancement of the Group’s total assets, the scale of
interest-bearing debt is effectively controlled.

NET RATIO OF INTEREST-BEARING DEBT TO EQUITY
RATIO

Net ratio of interest-bearing debt to equity ratio equals total interest-bearing
bank loans and other borrowings net of total capital divided by total equity as of
31 December 2019. The Group’s net ratio of interest-bearing debt to equity ratio
decreased from 38.3% as of 31 December 2018 to 14.9% as of 31 December
2019, which was primarily attributable to the increased capital reserves of the
Group and the decreased net ratio of interest-bearing debt.

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio equals ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity as of 31
December 2019. Ratio of interest-bearing debt includes all interest-bearing bank
loans and other borrowings. The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from 56.5% as
of 31 December 2018 to 50.4% as of 31 December 2019. The Group’s solvency
has continued to improve.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets for the year ended 31 December 2019.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

The acquisitions of Guangxi Schools and Central China School were completed
in 2019. Each of the schools entered into the structured contracts with
Huihuang Company. Accordingly, Guangxi Schools and Central China School were
treated as a consolidated affiliated entities of the Company. Please refer to the
announcements dated 14 January 2019 and 26 August 2019 for details.

Save as disclosed, there were no other significant investments held by the
Group, no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures during the period, nor was there any plan authorized by the Board for
other material investments or additions of capital assets during the year ended
31 December 2019.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The functional currency of the Group is RMB and HKD. The majority of the
Group’s revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB. As at 31 December
2019, certain bank loan and bank balances were denominated in USD and HKD.
The Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policies. The
management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign exchange risk exposure
and consider adopting prudent measures as appropriate.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The pledged assets of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

(i) the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic devices with an
aggregate net carrying amount of approximately RMB250,178,000 as at
31 December 2019 (2018: RMB219,024,000);

(i) the pledge of shares of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;
(if)y  personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li and Ms. Yang Xuging (spouse of
Mr. Li), Mr. Rong Hua and Ms. Kong Ailan, non-controlling shareholders of
the sponsor of Henan School, and Ms. Rong Yu (vice-president of Henan
School);

(iv)  corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
Group, which are controlled by Mr. Li;

(v)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB343,000,000 at as 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB40,000,000);

a letter of guarantee issued by certain bank;
Guizhou School’s charging right of tuition and boarding fees; and

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School’s charging right
of tuition and boarding fees.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had 7,147 employees (4,610 as of 31
December 2018). As required by the PRC laws and regulations, the Group
participates in various employee social security plans for our employees that
are administered by local governments, including housing, pension, medical
insurance, maternity insurance and unemployment insurance. The Group
maintains a good working relationship with employees, and the Group has not
experienced any material labor disputes during the year ended 31 December
2019.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this annual report, the Group had not entered into any
off-balance sheet transactions.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.032 per Share for the year ended 31 December 2019. The final dividend
will be declared in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate
adopted for conversion was the average middle exchange rate published by the
People’s Bank of China of the five business days prior to the declaration of the
final dividend (i.e. 16 March 2020 to 20 March 2020) (HK$1.0 to RMB0.90676).
Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend payable in Hong Kong dollars will
be HK$0.0353 per Share.

The final dividend will be paid on or about Friday, 5 June 2020 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on or about Wednesday, 27 May 2020.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19 May 2020, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 14 May 2020 to Tuesday, 19 May 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
be qualified for attending and voting at the annual general meeting, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 13 May 2020.

The register of members of the Company will be closed by the Group from
Monday, 25 May 2020 to Wednesday, 27 May 2020, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
be qualified for the final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong Share
Register, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 22 May 2020.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
POSITIONING

1. Collectivized School Operation Practitioner

Established in 2005 and relocating its headquarters to Beijing in 2012, the
Group has now formed a replicable collectivized school operation model
that empowers the growth value of the Group and its Group members.

2. Propeller of Application-oriented universities

The Group is the initiator and Vice Chairman Unit of the Association of
Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science of the MOE.

3. Leader of High-quality Employment

The schools of the Group have won the title of the Top 50 National
Employment of the MOE (£ & Z8 2 Bl 7 % T 4E5058 ) , with average
employment rate remaining at above 97%. Its high-quality employment
has been recognized by students and the society.

4. Pioneer of Cross-regional Layout

Since entering different provinces to operate schools in 2009, the Group
has built up its business in seven provinces in China, including: Yunnan,
Guizhou, Hubei, Heilongjiang, Henan, Guangxi and Gansu.

5. Forerunner of Organic Growth

The total student enrollment and tuitions fees in the seven schools which
were self-founded and invested by the Group, keeping continued increase.

GROUP STRENGTH

As a leading private higher education group in China, it is the mission of the
Group to “Help Students Become The Best They Can Be”. The Group has 15
years of experience in private universities and has 5 successful acquisition
cases. For 2019/2020 academic year, the total student enrollment in the 7
self-founded and invested schools exceeds 113,500. The Group has over 300
undergraduate and junior college majors, providing more than 3,200 online
and offline quality courses. As the leader of high-quality employment, there are
more than 1,000 on-campus and off-campus experimental training bases and
over 10,000 premium employment cooperation companies in the schools of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HIGHLIGHTS IN 2019

For 2019/20 academic year, total student enroliment exceeded 113,500.

The Group successfully completed integration of the invested schools.
Consolidation of financial results of Guangxi School and Central China
School were completed in 2019. A new campus with an area of about 500
mu was built for Henan School which has a current enrollment of over
27,000 students, and it took only one year to complete the construction
and relocation of Gansu College.

As of 31 December 2019, the average employment rate of graduates of
the Group was 97.35%, and the high-quality employment* rate reached
38.48%.

In 2019, the Group newly added 164 internal and external experimental
training bases, including 40 internal experimental training rooms and 124
external practice bases.

Around 1,700 students have won close to 500 awards in subject
competitions. The awards include special prize in the national finals
of the 9th China National College Student “Innovation, Originality and
Entrepreneurship” Challenge national finals grand prize.

“High-quality employment” represents students working for the world’s top 500 companies,
Chinese top 500 companies, listed companies (including overseas main boards, domestic
main boards, small and medium-sized boards, GEM and NEEQ) companies, central SOES and
provincial state-owned enterprises, also includes students pursue further education, work as
civil servants.

TWO-WHEEL DRIVEN GROWTH STRATEGY

The Group maintains an “Organic Growth + Value Investment” two-wheel driven
growth strategy to build internal and external growth engines, and continues
to drive high-speed growth. The emphasis will be put on organic growth,
supplemented by external investment extension.
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ORGANIC GROWTH

The Group promotes organic growth by implementing the “Quality, Grow and
Light” strategy of “Quality improvement, revenue growth and light assets”.

“Quality improvement” represents that the Group will continue to improve the
quality in teaching, employment, management and services.

The Group diversifies revenue to achieve the sustainable performance growth of
“Revenue growth”.

1. Increase revenue in principal businesses: raise the revenue from tuition
fees and boarding fees by focusing on raising tuition fees of outstanding
majors and boarding fees.

2. Increase revenue in non-principal businesses: expand value-added
services to targeted students or specified groups, give priority to exploit
potential resources in campuses to expand revenue from logistics
commerce, training, and integration of industry and teaching.

The Group is also carrying out “Light assets” mode aiming for asset inventories
and scientific classification, to perfect management of demand, use, input and
income of each type of assets through exploring innovative business models,
reducing required investment and improving return on assets.

The Group will carry out the strategy of “Quality, Grow and Light” through “Six
Excellences”, including excellent teaching quality, excellent students’ experience,
excellent social reputation, excellent schooling benefit, excellent technological
support and excellent management.

VALUE INVESTMENT

As a practitioner in cross-region operation, the Group commenced running
schools in various provinces in 2009 and the network of school has covered
seven provinces with over 15 years of experience in self-operation and
acquisitions of schools.

PRECISION

° Find premium schools located in areas with low gross enrollment rate,
scarce educational resources but huge growth potential in the future

° Focus on higher education

STABILITY

° Improve post-investment management capabilities
° Strengthen financial foundation

° Planned self establishment or acquisition of universities

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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COLLECTIVIZATION OPERATION

° Resource sharing in the Group
° Collaborative innovation in multiple fields

° Supported by digitalized platform

IMPROVE TEACHING QUALITY

Holding as its mission “Help Students Become The Best They Can Be”, the
Group provides high-quality teaching resources to promote the comprehensive
development of students, improve their ability to study and work, thus secure
them satisfactory jobs after graduation.

° New-added popular majors

To answer the calling of MOE, the Group focused on the establishment of
new arts, new engineering and new medicines, and added 24 new majors
in the 2019/2020 academic year.

° Focused on education quality

Based on the education mode for Outcomes-Based Education, the Group
pays attention to curriculum research and formulation and builds the
teachers team with “double qualifications”, organized more than 100
training sessions for teachers, and won the two first-prize awards and
seven second-prize awards in the provincial teaching competition.

° Innovation talents training

Gradually promote the talent training mode of high-paying pilot
classes (Talent Class, College of Excellence, etc.), the employment
rate of graduates is nearly 100%, and the annual salary is more than
RMB75,000, which is much higher than the industry average level.

° Deepened the integration of production and education

The school members under the Group cooperate with more than 10,000
employment cooperation units including Huawei, Alibaba Group, State Grid
and China State Construction, etc.

° Expanded international cooperation

The Group has signed cooperation agreements with 17 overseas schools
or institutions in countries such as the United States, United Kingdom,
Germany, and Canada, with international students from 34 countries
studying and exchanging at the schools.
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Won more awards

In 2019, around 1,700 students have won close to 500 awards in
subject competitions. The awards include: the special prize and the Best
Innovation prize (Yunnan School) in 9th China National College Student
“Innovation, Originality and Entrepreneurship” Challenge national finals
grand prize and the first prize in National 3D Digital Innovation Design
Competition (Elite League), etc.

Significant improvement in employment quality

As a promoter of universities of applied science, the Group takes high-
quality employment as guidelines and uses graduate employment rate
as an important criterion to measure the teaching results. Over the past
few years, the employment track record of our industry-leading graduates
and the continuous improvement of the starting salary of graduates are
sufficient evidence of the Group’s teaching quality and the effectiveness
of the education model. The average employment rate of graduates is
97.35%, and the high-quality employment rate reaches 38.48% (meaning
entering famous enterprises, involving in further education, or being civil
servants).

BELRHER
B =12A31R
Graduate Employment Rate
As of 31 December

20194 20184
BR Schools 2019 2018
EMER Yunnan School 98.2% 98.2%
RIBER Northeast School 93.3% 93.5%
EHER Central China School 95.1% -
HEZER" Gansu School” 95.0% -
EMNER (B8) Guizhou School (higher vocational school) 97.5% 97.3%
TFEER (B8) Henan School (higher vocational school) 96.3% 97.2%
EFEER (S8) Guangxi School (higher vocational school) 96.1% -
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Graduate employment rate is defined as a rate calculated by dividing the number of
students who are being employed within six months after their graduation (including
students who are being employed in business entities, start their own businesses or

HEERNWEBNESSHR
HERERE -

B EERHRER

pursue further studies) by the total number of students graduated from school for the
relevant academic year.

The acquisition of Gansu College is still pending approval for change of school sponsor
of Gansu College by the MOE.
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IMPROVE DIGITALIZATION

Teaching digitalization

Combining cloud technology, the Group developed the TronClass,
an integrated online teaching platform combined teaching, learning,
management, and evaluation, which played an important role during the
outbreak of Novel Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19), met online teaching
needs, and had more than 40 million visits.

Management digitalization

The platform relies on Aliyun to establish a computing center, a data
center, and a security center, and applied the products of a renowned
management software provider, Yonyou to upgrade the ERP management
system.

Service digitalization

The Group uses micro-front end, big data, and cloud computing to
independently develop a comprehensive digital service platform for
teacher and student. In 2019, it had provided teachers and students
with comprehensive services including academic record, registration
for examinations, payment of fees, evaluation of teaching, apartment
maintenance and suggestions more than 15 million times.

Security digitalization

The Group cooperates with Hikvision to apply emerging technologies
such as face recognition, big data, and behavior recognition to implement
comprehensive safety management on campus personnel safety, fire
safety, food safety, and intra-school traffic safety to achieve zero major
safety accidents. Yunnan schools and Gansu School are highly recognized
by the government and the technology was approved to promote in
schools across the two provinces.

MANAGEMENT IMPROVEMENT

The Group has continuously been improving its management in the establishment
of the Group, risk control, internal control and compliance, financial control and
assets management.

ORGANIZATIONAL UPGRADING

Set up operating analysis department and assets management department
to improve the operational capabilities of the Group

Create the corporate culture of “Student-oriented, Contribution first”

Conduct appraisal transformation to activate the vigor in the Group
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RISK CONTROL, INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE

° Set up compliance team;
° Optimize compliance system and approval procedures;
° Regularly preview legal risks and monitor compliance;

° Organize training on the knowledge of risk control and compliance

FINANCIAL CONTROL

° Identify the best practices and strengthen input-output
° Optimize financial analysis and strengthen budget management

° Upgrade the financial system and strengthen the quality of accounting

ASSETS MANAGEMENT

° Standardized assets management through informatization and digitalization

° Introduced more than RMB40 million social funds in logistics support,
student services, etc., to reduce capital investment and create lighter
assets

° Improved the efficiency of assets management and the assets turnover

ratio increased by 16.7%, a significant improvement over the same period

NUMBER OF ENROLLED STUDENTS

For the academic year of 2019/2020, school members under the Group
had reached new record high in terms of the number of students enrolled,
representing the strength and reputation of each school which is highly
competitive in the local region.

The Group owns Yunnan School and Guizhou School, and acquired Northeast
School, Henan School, Guangxi Schools and Central China School (the “Schools”),
all of which have been completed as at the end of 2019. The Group newly
invested in Gansu College which is pending closing. (For the purpose of this
paragraph, together with the “Schools”, the “All Schools”). (Since Gansu College
completed the campus construction and relocation of students in September
2019, the student enroliment number was not included in the cardinal number of
2018/19 academic year).

The total number of enrolled students of the All Schools increased to 113,507 in
the 2019/2020 academic year, representing an increase of approximately 21%
as compared to 93,548 in the 2018/2019 academic year.
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The total number of enrolled students of the Schools increased to 105,269 in
the 2019/2020 academic year, representing an increase of approximately 13%
as compared to 93,548 in the 2018/2019 academic year.

EREAH

8 4F M)
Number of Enrolled Students
Academic Year " @

B Schools 2019/2020 2018/2019
EMER Yunnan School 30,658 27,755
EMER Guizhou School 17,308 16,828
RIER Northeast School 9,258 9,261
ST ER Henan School 27,008 21,167
ZEh B R Central China School "t () 10,764 8,584
[& 75 2 R e Guangxi Schools Yo 2 10,273 9,953
=t Total 105,269 93,548
HEREBpRE Gansu College " 8,238 8,218
st Total 113,507 101,766
Mt Notes:

O] R2019F8 A6 A A EBME KBS MEL B EL TR KE
EHERo

2 R201I9F1ANBASEEECESHELEMEL TR KE
BEER-

Q) HBEERN2019FIADERREEZRRBERB - WEH
BERNAEFHEBMBELEHRERNERERE -

@) BF-RASEFIATHBEB FBFANIAER

1) The Group has obtained all necessary approvals and completed the acquisition of the Central
China School on 26 August 2019.

2) The Group has obtained all necessary approvals and completed the acquisition of the Guangxi
Schools on 11 January 2019.

(3) Gansu College completed the campus construction and relocation of students in September
2019. The acquisition of Gansu College is still pending approval for change of school sponsor

of Gansu College by the MOE.

(4) An academic year generally starts from September 1 of each calendar year to August 31 of the
following year.
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PROSPECTS

The Company will continue to give full play to the advantages of collectivized
operation of schools and continue to implement the two-wheels driven
development strategy. In terms of Organic Growth, the Group will further
improve the quality of teaching, employment, management and services, as
well as expand income. To make assets lighter, the Group will study demand
more scientifically, use more efficiently, input more reasonably and generate
income more efficiently. In terms of Value Investment, the Group will adhere
to the principle of “Precision, Stability and Collectivized Operation”, continue
to focus on higher education, and identify premium targets in areas with low
gross enrollment rates, huge amount of students, and great potential for future
development. Newly acquired schools will take advantage of collectivized
resource sharing, collaborative innovation in various fields through digitalized
platform and other supports, to further consolidate the financial foundation, and
to significantly improve the integration effect of post-investment.

The Group proactively invested in 5 colleges and universities before and after the
listing, the acquisition cost is far lower than the current market price, and the
first-mover advantage is obvious. Through efficient collectivized management,
the Group gained prominent integration effect after the acquisition of schools.
Currently, the Group has more than 113,500 students, ranking third among
the PRC higher education sector in the Hong Kong stock market. Significant
improvements have taken place in teaching and employment quality of invested
schools, and the net profit of acquired schools has grown significantly after
investment. The Group’s development strategy with organic growth as the
mainstay and investment as the supplement has been verified. Benefiting from
the recent continuation of favorable policies for higher education, the Group’s
schools located in areas with low gross enroliment rates, underdeveloped
educational resources are of huge growth potential in the future. Future growth
can be expected and sustained with strong local government support. The future
performance will continue to improve with high quality, and there is huge room
for valuation improvement.

THE GROUP’S JOINT EFFORTS TO FIGHT THE
OUTBREAK OF NOVEL CORONAVIRUS DISEASE
(COVID-19) AND THE GROUP’S MEASURES IN
RESPONSE TO THE EPIDEMIC

Due to the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) in the early
of 2020, the nation/regions carried out and continue to carry out a series of
prevention and control measures. To ensure teachers’ and students’ safety
and health, the Group organized online teaching and learning on the online
education platform, which has always being applied by the Group, for teachers
and students according to the principle of “Delay backing to school, no delay
in teaching and learning” for spring academic year, to realize the migration of
teaching from offline to online and the integration of both. The Group orderly
organized online teaching and learning for teachers and students to minimize the
impact of the epidemic on teaching.
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Meanwhile, representatives of medical graduates went to the anti-epidemic
front line in Wuhan, and five outstanding nursing graduates from the Guizhou
School joined the Aid-Hubei medical team to go to the anti-epidemic front line in
Wuhan. Teachers and students from several schools have taken the initiative to
participate in epidemic prevention and control work, raised and donated medical
and living supplies. The faculty and students of the Group also voluntarily
donated to support the prevention and control work on COVID-19 epidemic.
At present, we have received donations of about RMB1.40 million and a large
amount of supplies.

The management has assessed and preliminarily concluded that there was no
significant impact on the financial position of the Group from the outbreak of
COVID-19 for the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this
annual report. The Group will keep continuous attention on the situation of
the COVID-19 and react actively to any possible impacts on the operation and
financial position of the Group, and in the event that if there is any significant
financial impacts, the Company will announce in a timely manner and reflect it in
the Group’s 2020 interim and annual financial statements.

EDUCATION POLICY TREND

In the first half of 2019, the PRC government promulgated the “National
Vocational Education Reform Implementation Plan” ((B REEEH B h &
Bt %)), which places vocational education on the equal position as
general education on the top-level design. It also clarifies the direction of
social diversified school establishment, and once again strengthens the policy
of encouraging private education. The plan has opened up more development
potential for private vocational education, especially for those higher education
groups (such as the Group) which have both undergraduate colleges focusing on
applied sciences as well as vocational colleges. The plan not only demonstrates
the correctness of the strategic choice of applied education, it also provides
guidance for future development of school establishment.

The promulgation of a series of policies and documents such as “China
Education Modernization 2035” (K Bl % & 3 1% 1£2035)) and “Accelerating
the Implementation Plan of Education Modernization (2018-2022)" ({0 1%
WEHBRARER A E (2018-20224F ) ») shows that private higher
vocational education has become an important part of the national education
strategy. Relying on encouragement, guidance and standardized supervision of
the PRC government, more development opportunities will emerge in the private
education sector. In addition, in the government work report, it is mentioned
that it will further reform and improve the examination and enrollment methods
for higher vocational colleges and expand enrollment by recruiting additional
one million students in 2019, which reflected the determination of the State to
promote the development of vocational education. All higher vocational colleges
will directly benefit therefrom, in particular schools with brand and competitive
advantages will have greater development opportunities.
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In July 2019, the MOE announced an increase in the quota of national
scholarships for higher vocational colleges and the expansion of national
scholarships coverage to facilitate a more healthy development of the higher
education industry in the PRC. The Group will continue to shoulder its social
responsibility to relieve poverty through education.

In December 2019, the Ministry of Education of the PRC released the Draft
Amendment on the Vocational Education Law of the People’s Republic of China
(Draft for Comments) to solicit public opinion. Such draft clarifies the equal
status between vocational education and general education, defines a clear
development direction for the vocational education in various aspects namely,
the mechanism of running a school, management system, systematic framework,
system support, teacher and education system, quality evaluation mechanism,
autonomy to run a school and investment mechanism of operating funds,
specifically demonstrates the Implementation Plan for the National Vocational
Education Reform from the perspective of legislation, and will provide a strong
guarantee for China to accelerate the vocational education reform.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY
FRAMEWORK

()] Classified Registration

According to the Several Opinions of the State Council on Encouraging
Social Power to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of
Private Education (29 December 2016), a classification registration and
management system shall be applicable to private schools, and private
school sponsors can choose to run non-profit or for-profit private schools.
The revised Laws for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (implemented
on 1 September 2017) also promulgated the same provisions.

According to the Implemental Rules on Private School Registration (30
December 2016), if an existing private school chooses to register as
a non-profit private school, it should modify its article of association,
continue to run the school and complete new registration procedures in
accordance with relevant laws. If it chooses to register as a for-profit
private school, it should conduct financial settlement, clarify the ownership
of school land, school premises, school accumulation, and pay related
taxes and fees, obtain a new permit in running a school, re-register and
continue the operations for education.
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In order to further implement the above requirements, government and
relevant competent departments in region where the Group runs schools
have successively issued supporting measures, including (1) Notice
of the Five Departments including Education Department of Yunnan
Province on Steady and Orderly Promotion of Classified Registration and
Management of Private Schools (12 June 2019); (2) Implementation
Opinions issued by the People’s Government of Guizhou Province
on Supporting and Regulating Social Forces to Set up Education to
Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (3 August 2018),
Measures for the Implementation of Classified Examination and Approval
of Registration and Supervision and Management of Private Schools in
Guizhou Province (Trial) (11 June 2019); (3) Implementation Opinions
issued by Heilongjiang Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set
up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education,
Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration of Private
Schools in Heilongjiang Province, and Measures for the Supervision and
Administration of for-profit Private Schools in Heilongjiang Province (26
February 2019); (4) Implementation Opinions of the People’s Government
of Gansu Province on Further Promoting the Healthy Development of
Private Education (8 November 2017), Measures for the Implementation of
Classified Registration of Private Schools in Gansu Province (15 November
2018); (5) Implementation Opinions issued by the People’s Government of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region on Encouraging Social Powers to Set
up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education
(2 July 2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration
of Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (10 October
2018), Measures for the Implementation of Supervision and Administration
of for-profit Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
(16 October 2018); (6) Implementation Opinions issued by the People’s
Government of Hubei Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up
Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (20
December 2017); (7) Implementation Opinions issued by the People’s
Government of Henan Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up
Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (2
February 2018).

The above local regulations provide a framework procedure for the
classification and registration of existing private schools in relevant
provinces as for-profit private schools or non-profit private schools, but
do not further specify the process of classification and registration, for
example, (1) the specific procedures for a school to be registered as a
for-profit or non-profit school, and (2) the various preferential taxes and
land use policies that can be enjoyed by for-profit and non-profit schools.
As of the date of this annual report, the Company has not commenced
the process of classification and registration for schools under the Group.
Since there are certain uncertainties in the interpretation and application
of the above requirements, the uncertainties are in respect of when the
private schools under the Group can complete the classified registration,
whether the relevant taxes and fees will need to be paid in accordance
with local supporting rules in the process of classified registration in the
future, and what supporting policies provided by government regarding tax
and land use they will enjoy.
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The MOJ Draft for Comments

On 10 August 2018, the Ministry of Justice issued the Regulations for the
Implementation of the Law on the Promotion of Private Education of the
People’s Republic of China (Revised Draft) (the Draft for Examination and
Approval) (the “M0J Draft for Comments”), to solicit public opinions.

If the MOJ Draft for Comments is approved in the current manner
and takes effect, and if our mode of running a school is identified as
centralized school management mode and our Structured Contracts is
identified as “contractual agreements” according to Article 12 of the MOJ
Draft for Comments, we may need to register the subordinate private
colleges and universities as for-profit private schools. In addition, as we
can no longer acquire or control non-profit private schools by means
of franchising or contractual agreements, our acquisition scope may be
limited, this provision may have an impact on our expansion strategy.
In addition, our Structured Contracts may be treated as connected
transactions.

However, there are still uncertainties as to whether the MOJ Draft
for Comments will be adopted in its current form and how it will be
interpreted and implemented. We cannot predict with confidence the
impact of the laws or regulations related to the implementation of the
Private Education Promotion Law of the PRC on our business, financial
condition and results of operations (if any) in the future at this stage.

As confirmed by our PRC legal advisors, the Company hereby informs
shareholders and investors that the MOJ Draft for Comments is still in the
negotiation stage and has not been issued or implemented in China. The
Company will continue to follow up the development of the MOJ Draft for
Comments and relevant laws and regulations.

Foreign Investment Law

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (“Foreign Investment Law”)
approved by the National People’s Congress on 15 March 2019 has
been implemented since 1 January 2020, and has become the basic
law for foreign investment in China. According to this law, existing
foreign-invested enterprises may maintain their existing organization
structure within five years from the effective date of the Foreign
Investment Law. On 26 December 2019, the State Council issued the
Implementation Regulations of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC
(“Implementation Regulations”), which also came into effect on 1 January
2020, aiming to implement the legislative principles and purposes of the
Foreign Investment Law.
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The Foreign Investment Law clearly specifies three forms of foreign
investment, but neither the Foreign Investment Law nor the Implementing
Regulations explicitly stipulate contractual agreements as a form of
foreign investment. As confirmed by our PRC legal advisors, as the Foreign
Investment Law and Implementation Regulations do not define contractual
agreements as a form of foreign investment, if future laws, administrative
regulations, and regulations of the State Council do not include contractual
agreements as a form of foreign investment, the Structured Contracts as
a whole and the agreements constituting the Structured Contracts will
not be affected, and will continue to be legally valid, effective and binding
on the parties. However, if future laws, administrative regulations, and
regulations of the State Council stipulate contractual agreements as one
of the ways of foreign investment, the Group may need to take relevant
measures in accordance with the requirements of the laws, regulations
and regulations of the State Council at that time. There will be uncertainty
as to whether we can complete these measures in a timely manner or at
all. Failure to take appropriate measures in a timely manner to address
any of the compliance requirements in the above provisions may have a
significant effect on our current group structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company’s operations have not
been affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

The Board will continue to monitor any updates regarding the foreign

investment and seek guidance from our PRC legal advisors to ensure that
the Company meets all relevant laws and regulations in China.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z &), aged 46, the founder of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director of the Company on 8 July 2016. He is the chairman
of the Board. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in education and is
responsible for the overall management and strategic development of the Group.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Li:

HE AL B %
Period Company Position
19994 Z£2004%F £ 3 1k =)
1999 to 2004 Training Station Director
2005 ERS EXEHE e
2005 to present Yun Ai Group Chairman

ER1999F Z2004F BB UMNES - FTHERE
BIMHAEELENEE BN EREEMNE
BERE URBEREEMITHEBNREK

ERER0FIARATERBIBEHEE TR E
B -R012F8AATBESESHEESEEES
SEE ROBFIAATBEARBAGESEE
HMEET—REZESEBZEEEZE R2010F8
BAYEXESFHEEFE T —REZEERZE U
ER2018F2AERPEARELNBEET+=E2H
ARRKAERR-BRAEERAEMAE (EK)
BHAEBEER THEALRIKESRER - F
EENHEHERER URPERERMNHES
EEKES-

ZEREENR008FATRTEARBHEREZZER
FITHEBEARRER HER2009F108BNEEHR
BEMER ZHEEEBN2010F68 EFErEHE
REERIMEEBE LS

HEED S A 405% 0 200448 A KRER IR
2016F8 AR EZEEARATANEFEATERY
TEE - HELBEARAGENHBELRIESHE
FEEEHERHEER

As a director of the Training Station from 1999 to 2004, Mr. Li was in charge of
the daily operation and management of the Training Station, overall management
and strategic development of the Training Station, as well as decision-making on
significant operational and administrative matters.

Mr. Li became the first vice president of the China Private Education Association*
in March 2010, a council member of the 6th China Higher Education Association*
in August 2012, a member of the standing committee of the 11th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Yunnan Province* in January 2013,
a member of the 11th Committee of the All-China Youth Federation* in August
2010 and a member of the Thirteenth National People’s Congress of People’s
Republic of China in February 2018. He is currently the vice chairman of the
Association of Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science, the vice chairman of
the China Education Development Strategy Association, the vice chairman of the
Chinese Association for Non-Government Education and the managing director of
China Vocational Education Society.

Mr. Li completed his undergraduate studies in administrative management at
the Army Officer Academy of PLA (FFE] A RE M E B EFR) |, the PRC,
in June 2008, and subsequently obtained the qualification as senior economist
in October 2009. Mr. Li was subsequently awarded a master degree in business
administration from Nankai University (= B8 X&) , the PRC, in June 2010.

Mr. Zhao Shuai (#4Eb) , aged 40, joined the Group in April 2004, and was
appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive Director of the
Company on 19 August 2016. Mr. Zhao has more than 15 years of experience
in education and is responsible for setting annual operational targets and
day-to-day management.
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The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Zhao:

B AT B AEREMR
Period Company Position Roles and responsibilities
200454 B Z2008F8 A ERHER BEEMT BERE

April 2004 to August 2008

20085F9H 2014534

September 2008 to March 2014

201454 A £20155%4A

April 2014 to April 2015

201555 £20165%3A4

May 2015 to March 2016

Yunnan School

ZHER

Yunnan School

EEKE

Y

Yun Ai Group

BEMER

Guizhou School

Student recruitment director

L=

Associate dean

1T AR AR AR 1R

General manager of
administration department

HITR &

Executive dean

In charge of student
recruitment

BERE -THNEHS

%

In charge of student
recruitment, administrative
and logistics matters

EERB RHNERS
it}

In charge of procurement,
logistics and infrastructures

EEEEMEMKER.
THERHEMT IBZ%?T%
In charge of management and
strategic development,
staff recruitment and other
administrative matters

20163 &S EBKEH SEEES EEEENEKE
BR
March 2016 to present Yun Ai Group Senior president In charge of management and
strategic development
HAEERIBFI2EMESREEMEL - M Mr. Zhao obtained the qualification as senior economist in December 2013. He

04F7RERGTEERAEIREKUMIEEFL
BBy RR017TFRESETMAREHRHF IR

BEEE{e

was awarded a bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering Automation from
Kunming University of Science and Technology ( E2B3¥E T K£) | the PRC, in
July 2004, and in June 2017 awarded a master degree in software engineering
at Jilin University (MR K E) |
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (BB {E15) , aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 20 March 2017.
Mr. Kwong has more than 10 years of experience in corporate finance and
equity capital markets in Asia. Mr. Kwong is an executive Director of China Metal
Resources Utilization Limited (stock code: 1636), in charge of its corporate and
strategic development. Mr. Kwong was the president of Gushan Environmental
Energy Limited, a company whose American depositary shares were listed on
the New York Stock Exchange from December 2007 to October 2012. He is
also an independent non executive director of Shunfeng International Clean
Energy Limited (stock code: 1165) since 16 July 2014, C.banner International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1028) since 26 August 2011, China Outfitters
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1146) since 8 June 2011 and Koolearn Technology
Holding Limited (stock code: 1797) since 15 March 2019, all of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 13 July 2011, 23 September
2011, 9 December 2011 and 28 March 2019, respectively. Prior to joining
Gushan Environmental Energy Limited in 2006, he was the managing director
of investment banking and he held the position as the head of Hong Kong and
China equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital Markets Limited from March
2004 to July 2006. Mr. Kwong was a director from 2002 to 2003, and the
general manager of the corporate finance department from 1997 to 2003 for
Cazenove Asia Limited. After graduating from University of Cambridge, England
with a bachelor’s degree in Arts in 1987, he qualified as a chartered accountant
in the United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently an associate member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Hu Jianbo (## #% ) , aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 December 2017. Mr. Hu has
over 20 years of experience in the education industry. He received his bachelor
degree in engineering from Northwest Institute of Architecture and Engineering*
(FAEBETEEPT), now known as Chang’an University* (R & K
) in July 1984, and his executive master degree in business administration
from China Europe International Business School* ( &t Bl F® T 5 &8k )
in September 2007. From July 1984 to July 1992, Mr. Hu worked at Xi’an
University* (7822 K28 ) | now known as Xi'an University of Art and Science*
(FZXIEEPRR) , as a teacher. From July 1992 to July 1996, Mr. Hu served
as the vice chairman of the board of Xi’an International University* ( 78 % 4b
EEPR) . From June 2014 to June 2017, Mr. Hu served as an independent
director of Ginwa Enterprise (Group) Inc.* (£ ¥ (£E)RMHERD
Al) , a listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600080).
Since July 1997, Mr. Hu has been the dean and chairman of the board of Xi’an
Eurasia University* (78 Z @32 228Fx ) . He is currently the vice chairman of
Chinese Association for Non-Government Education* (‘hEERHHEH =)
and the vice chairman of 21st Century Education Research Institute* (21142
HEMWRER) .
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Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (BR&38) , aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-exective Director on 26 August 2019. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Jinan University. He is currently the chairman of the board of
directors of Soar Industries Limited (BREBEER LT EER) and the
chairman of the board of directors of BC International Investment Ltd. ( & JII
BRIREBR AT EZER) . He served in the Yunnan Provincial Committee
of CPPCC(ERM A BB ZE) during 2013 to 2018, served as the Vice
Chairman of the Yunnan Province Youth United Association (Z & & & B
&€ BIEFE) from 2010 to 2019 as well as the chairman founder of the
Hongkong-Yunnan-Macau-Taiwan Youth Exchange Association (Z8B & & &£
TFRAREE) in 2010. He is currently the chairman of The Y. Elites Association
(FEBEBHRSEIEE), the Vice President of the Yunnan Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association (ZEF &/ B EE BIE K ), a CPPCC of the Yunnan
Province (ZEF & Bl ¥ Z ) and the Supervisor of the Association of Hong
Kong Of Macau Members of CPPCC In Yunnan Province Ltd. ( 275 & B 738
BREEMES EER) .

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (% F£§) , aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-exective Director on 26 August 2019. He received his master degree
in business administration from University of Western Sydney in 1999. He
also obtained a doctorate degree in business administration from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in 2010 as well as a postdoctoral degree
from University of Oxford in 2015. He is a member of CPA Australia and fellow
member of the Australian Institute of Banking and Finance, and a member of
the expert committee of the research group in the Institute of Finance of the
Development Research Center of the State Council ( Bl #$B% 2 BAFE
SRMMEFERZEZESES) . He is the founder and currently the director of
Huiyue Development Strategy Co., Ltd. (EEiZRE M AR A ) and has
been a member of the Guangdong Council for Investment and Development
(Foshan, Guangdong) (ERERERRIEEE (ER #1L)) since
2017. Dr. Pang has over twenty years of experience in banking, financial and
consulting industry and has served in senior management positions in various
renowned financial institutions. From 1993 to 1998, he was the head of the
settlement department of Dresdner Bank (Hong Kong). From 1998 to 2003,
he worked in Northeast Asia Capital Operation Business Management unit of
the Standard Chartered Bank. From 2003 to 2005, he served as the senior
manager in BearingPoint Management Consulting (formerly KPMG Management
Consulting) (Beijing). He was the head of operation design and development of
Dah Sing Financial Group (Hong Kong) from 2005 to 2006. From 2006 to 2014,
he served as the consulting partner of global financial market in China in Deloitte
Management Consulting (Beijing). He then served as leading partner of financial
business in China for Roland Berger Strategic Consulting (Beijing) from 2014
to 2016. He was the external senior advisor to Zhangjiakou Financial Holding
Group (Zhangjiakou, Beijing) from 2016 to 2018 and an independent director at
Metropolitan Bank (China) from 2017 to 2018. During late 2018, he also headed
the group risk management department of Citic Bank (International).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Libin, aged 51, joined the Group as secretary of the party committee
in January 2018. He has over 20 years of experience in management in the
education industry.

Prior to joining the Group, from March 2014 to December 2017, Mr. Liu served
as deputy secretary of the Education Work Committee of Beijing Chaoyang
District Committee of the Committee Party of China. From December 2009
to February 2012, he served as deputy director of Beijing Chaoyang District
Education Committee.

Mr. Liu graduated from Southwest Normal University in June 1992 with a
bachelor’'s degree in mathematics education, and he obtained a master’s degree
in business administration from Hope International University in June 2003.
He received his PhD in education economics and management from Peking
University in January 2017.

Ms. Sun Lu, aged 49, joined the Group as the chief financial officer in April
2019. She has over twenty years of experience in banking, commercial and
financing industry and had served in various senior management positions in a
renowned financial institution.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked in Huaxia Bank, being a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 2003 (stock code: 600015). She
was the general manager at the trade and financing department head office
from May 2018 to March 2019. From December 2014 to May 2018, she was
the deputy general manager of the international business department head
office, and the general manager and chief representative of the Hong Kong
representative office. From May 2009 to December 2014, she was the director
of the internationalization office and deputy general manager of the development
and research department head office. She was also the chief financial officer
and deputy chief executive officer of the credit card centre head office, and a
member of the management committee from June 2006 to May 2009.

Ms. Sun graduated from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in June
1993, with a Bachelor Degree in International Finance, and obtained a Master
Degree in Money and Banking from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics
in June 1998.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



B 3E mT S 40 308% 0 A2018FE8A N A &£ EEE
HEREE REABBI0VENE FRE TELER-

MAREBEA - B2011FE1 8 E2018F8H B A &£
ErFERFERESPIRZEEPLAERERER
WEH2004E88 E2010FE 2B EHFER ER#E
ehREEEWEEERH-

BEERWVUFSAEXENRTREEKRE EHE
MRAZEELE 5 2+ B4y I JA2008FE8H E201048
PRETREEIEZEMRENNSK —BEERT
REM-BA O BEEEREEREENLESE
Bt ERERRE

WHEERLE 365 R2007F48 MMARER TR

TRHEJEEENTETHELSR:

EEREREEE
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Teng Jingnan, aged 39, joined the Group as the chief investment officer
in August 2018. He has more than 10 years of extensive experience in the
institutions.

Prior to joining the Group, from January 2011 to August 2018, Mr. Teng served
as secretary of the Secretariat of the General Office of the Central Committee of
the China Association for Promoting Democracy. From August 2004 to December
2010, he held his position at the Research Office of the Central Committee of
the China Association for Promoting Democracy.

Mr. Teng graduated from Nanjing Agricultural University in August 2004 with
a bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade. He attended the
Postgraduate Course on the United Front Theory organized by the Central
Institute of Socialism from August 2008 to August 2010. Currently, he is studying
for a master’s degree in agricultural and forestry economics and management at
Nanjing Agricultural University.

Mr. Ji Qizuo, aged 36, joined the Group in April 2007 and was appointed as a
senior vice president of the Company in November 2019.

The following table sets out the main work experience of Mr. Ji:

B NG B 7%
Period Company Position
200743 £20155108 EMER B HES BAEHNENR BENR LREZEIER AL

From April 2007 to Yunnan School

October 2015

BEAT
Enchang Company

2015 11BES
Since November 2015

20165983 £2018%7H ERER
From September 2016 to Central China School
July 2018

BEFEER
Guangxi Schools

201858 H £2019%3 A
From August 2018
to March 2019

FEFSHEBLS
Headquarters of China New

201858 8 £2019%F108
From August 2018 to
October 2019

2019E11BES
Since November 2019

FEFSHEER
China New Higher Education
Group Limited

BREEER LZER REZEX -EEPOLEME FE
RLER - BEER - REPE -BERE
Successively served as: counselor, deputy head of student service sector,
head of dormitory management office, deputy head of the discipline
inspection office, director of the discipline supervision office, secretary
of the discipline inspection commission, secretary of school’s youth
league committee, director of examination and training center, director
of employment center, director of student department, assistant principal
and vice principal.

EER

Chairman

EER

Chairman

EER

Chairman

EECE
Vice president

Higher Education Group Limited

SRERE

Senior vice president
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Mr. Ji graduated from the Information Engineering University of the People’s
Liberation Army in December 2007 and obtained a degree in information
technology application and management.

Mr. Qin Hongkang (&= % EE) , aged 44, joined the Group in December 2004,
and was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Qin:

& A F] B 7%

Period Company Position

199957 A 2004512 A B R R HEHECLE BEEFEK

B EEE

July 1999 to December 2004 Dianchi Mornin News Agency* Reporter of social news, director of
CEMERL) important news and economic news

2004512 8 £2009F11 A EHER &l &

December 2004 to November 2009 Yunnan School Associate dean

2009512 8 £2013F12 7 EMER TR R

December 2009 to December 2013 Guizhou School Executive dean

2013 F 12 B HS EELEE EEE ,iczﬁfrﬂ% BEHER
ERERS

December 2013 to present Yun Ai Group Vlce president in charge of mergers and

acquisitions, online education and
students career advice

EEER008FIARBHERPRBBITIEZE
SESHEMER - BMIFTEREFRBEZERmAE
ERERLCEELE (.

BREAEE 47 + 0 49m% 0 MR2014ES A MARER R
2016$8H19E|5%§15E?%$’&75J BoBEEEA

PN A A £ B AT 8 2+ R2003E48 E20145FE418

ERAZBHEEERERAT BEAAEEHR L
MRIBo B014F5 A BT HAEEEEBRE

*B“ﬂﬁ@ﬁ&ﬁ@#géii FEHE-

ML LT A0I0F1BEFEREIEEEZREBR
IEHEEELE[-
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Mr. Qin obtained the qualification as lecturer from Intermediate Title Evaluation
Committee* (AR EEFBEFZEZ 2 ) of Software College in September 2008.
He was awarded a bachelor degree in applied chemistry from Yunnan University
(ZERAZ), the PRC, in July 1999.

Ms. Zheng Yanli (EBE8 B8 )  aged 49, joined the Group in May 2014, and was
appointed as a vice president of the Company in 19 August 2016. She was
subsequently promoted as a senior vice president of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zheng worked at Ambow Education Group Limited
(RBHEEBAERAT) from April 2003 to April 2014, where she left
as the general manager of the operations centre. Since May 2014, Ms. Zheng
serves as the vice president and general manager of the investment department
at Yun Ai Group, where she is in charge of mergers and acquisitions.

Ms. Zheng was awarded a master degree in business administration from
University of International Business and Economics (¥f4MEBEE 5 AE) |
the PRC, in January 2010.

Ms. Luo Yuanyuan (ZEEE#E) , aged 39, joined the Group in June 2013 and
held various positions including the head of the finance division of Yunnan
School and the head of the budget division and the head of the finance division
of the Company. She was appointed as the joint financial officer and the general
manager of the finance department of the Company on 20 December 2017.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Luo worked at the Finance Department of
Chuzhou Branch, Anhui Electric Power Co. (REHEBE N D TBRMNE

A]) in 2003. She worked at the Finance Department of Wuhan Aier Eye Hosp|ta|
in 2005 and re-designated to Kunming Aier Eye Hospital for participating in
preparation of construction in 2010. Ms. Luo graduated with a bachelor’s degree
in Sichuan University in 2003, and was awarded a master degree in Software
Engineering from Shandong University in June 2019.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Group is Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling (E£%) , aged 40, was appointed as a joint company
secretary on 19 August 2016. She has over 10 years of experience in providing
company secretarial services in Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and is responsible for
assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial work. Prior to
joining SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, she worked in
a corporate service provider and the company secretarial department of an
international accounting firm. Ms. Wong has been awarded a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Marketing and Public Relations from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Master of Corporate Governance degree from The Open University
of Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom).
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

As at the date of this annual report, the Group (i) operated Yunnan School and
Guizhou School; (i) completed the acquisitions of Central China School, Henan
School, Northeast School and Guangxi Schools; and (iii) invested in higher
education institution in the PRC, namely Gansu College. Analysis of the principal
activities of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out in
the note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2019
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 121 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.032 per Share for the year ended 31 December 2019. The final dividend
will be declared in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate
adopted for conversion was the average middle exchange rate published by the
People’s Bank of China of the five business days prior to the declaration of the
final dividend (i.e. 16 March 2020 to 20 March 2020) (HK$1.0 to RMB0.90676).
Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend payable in Hong Kong dollars will
be HK$0.0353 per Share.

The final dividend will be paid on or about Friday, 5 June 2020 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on or about Wednesday, 27 May 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Business Review” of this annual report.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
ORGANIC GROWTH + VALUE INVESTMENT

The Group maintains an “Organic Growth + Value Investment” two-wheel driven
growth strategy to build internal and external growth engines, and continues
to drive high-speed growth. The emphasis will be put on organic growth,
supplemented by external investment extension. In terms of Organic Growth, the
Group will further improve the quality of teaching, employment, management
and services, as well as expand income. To make assets lighter, the Group will
study demand more scientifically, use more efficiently, input more reasonably
and generate income more efficiently. In terms of Value Investment, the Group
will adhere to the principle of “Precision, Stability and Collectivized Operation”,
continue to focus on higher education, and identify premium targets in areas
with low gross enrollment rates, huge amount of students, and great potential for
future development. Newly acquired schools will take advantage of collectivized
resource sharing, collaborative innovation in various fields through digitalized
platform and other supports, to further consolidate the financial foundation, and
to significantly improve the integration effect of post-investment.

CONTINUE TO STRENGTHEN OUR MARKET POSITION
AND ENHANCE OUR REPUTATION.

We believe that the reputation of a school is one of the most important criteria
students would normally consider when selecting a university. To increase our
enrollment and expand our business, we intend to continue to enhance our
market position in the higher education industry in the PRC. We believe that our
high graduate employment rates and comprehensive curriculums with diversified
offerings of practical courses distinguish us from our competitors and make us
attractive to potential applicants. We plan to design new courses and adjust our
existing courses to continue to best reflect evolving market trends and meet the
demands of employers. We intend to continue and expand our market research
to better understand employer preferences and student needs. Specifically, we
plan to collaborate with well-established online recruitment platforms to conduct
data analysis in order to further our understanding of market demand and
employment statistics, and with third-party organizations to analyze nationwide
employment data relating to students in those majors that we offer. We also plan
to obtain relevant data from social security agencies to understand employer
hiring needs and from local government education departments to understand
employment rates of university graduates to gain a comprehensive and objective
understanding of the market demand and supply of university graduates. In
addition, we plan to gather human resources plans from corporations and
career plans from our students, and provide career planning and job placement
counselling services to our students in order for them to find the most suitable
position. We plan to further enhance our reputation among well-known
companies and other potential employers, establish long-term collaborative
relationships with them, and create employment opportunities for our students.

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

23



54

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

ERFAEBRAREBARTREEEERMANE
REREB-BEEMS RMABRBREP®RS XL
ZERERAEBLEERMNEIENREES - KMET
HEBEEERR TESRERRMANER - R
FREEEEDEEANBEDRARAERRFTH
FERERRMEBEPHNER-

AR S| - R R A BT B E A E R
BB ERRERNE-

HERBESBERAREE LBURR KA - RFIHE A
BRs - BN EEEEHRE  TE - RNMEK
heBlt HMAIARBFATNRMER KRS
ENEBREREUREMSHEATERMAZR
PRIARBEIR - RMSLETRNBES LRSS

E-SHNBERBERE UL E Y
RHEE -

EMFATEHEARRSZACEMARENRER
BOUERHTEBERTHSER BREREM SR
BRI ER-

REFSNENTLE—SHES
B 6 -

RARH EMNEALBFEFER EREMAB
BERMKERREARENARWED - ZMA
EAEBEEREXRMELETEPEGERYD

E-—SELERMANKEREMKA
REREARMOBREED -

EARBNEEREIEERRERNEINEER
AZE-ZFAECFHEERMANREMNBEBEN &M
NEEINEBERERMANBERFLEBENE
RIESEE- - RARARSEZREHAE
B ERMNEREANEZZSERAEQMARBEF
R EEFAETHERERTIMAECERARE-
BE ZASEERFERMAIBERFNHKE
LRSI B84 WEEMEBMBEABRTISHEE-
HREMEASZLERERHEERAEAMB L TRER
2. EZMEE BRMEANTELEEMITEEER
MO EERRSIMEEBEEED - bLo - RFIE
BREAE MU SR E MR A R -

We plan to promote the Schools and programs through both online and offline
media. Specifically, we intend to arrange for periodic reports on our major school
activities through traditional media. We plan to continue to promote the Schools
online where appropriate. We believe that these promotional activities may help
raise our profile among the general population and enhance our reputation
among parents and students.

CONTINUE TO ATTRACT, INCENTIVIZE AND RETAIN
TALENTED TEACHERS AND SUPPORT THEIR
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT.

The quality of our education services largely depends on our teachers. We
intend to continue to attract, incentivize and retain talented teachers and build a
first-rate faculty team. To this end, we plan to recruit well-recognized technical
experts, experienced business administrators and other highly skilled persons to
teach in the Schools on either a full time or a part time basis. We will continue
to apply stringent standards in our recruitment of teachers.

FURTHER EXPAND OUR EDUCATIONAL SERVICE
OFFERINGS TO CAPTURE GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES.

We plan to continue to expand and diversify our course offerings in response to
industry trends and market demand, including establishing new major offerings
based on market developments.

CONSTRUCT ADDITIONAL WORKPLACE SIMULATION
TRAINING STUDIOS AND FURTHER IMPROVE THE
SCHOOL FACILITIES.

We believe that we can distinguish ourselves from our competitors by our ability
to offer our students opportunities to develop practical skills and knowledge,
which we believe help them to secure employment upon graduation and succeed
in their careers.

ENHANCE OUR PROFITABILITY BY OPTIMIZING OUR
SOURCES OF REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME.

The tuition fees and boarding fees we charge are a significant factor affecting
our profitability. We believe that we are able to maintain the current tuition
rates and raise the tuition rates charged by the Schools where appropriate as
our brand awareness and market recognition have grown. In addition, we retain
discretion to adjust the tuition rates charged by the Schools, and the Schools are
only required to make a filing with relevant authorities regarding proposed tuition
fee adjustments but are not subject to approval requirements or any pre-set
fee limits. Historically, we have kept our tuition rates at levels we believe are
competitive in order to attract more students and thereby increase our student
enrollment and market share. As we have established a strong reputation for
providing quality education to our students, we believe we are in a position
to optimize our pricing without compromising our reputation and our ability
to attract and retain students. In addition, we plan to diversify our sources of
revenue and other income.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties for the Company include the followings:

(1) OUR BUSINESS IS HEAVILY DEPENDENT ON THE
MARKET RECOGNITION OF THE BRAND AND
REPUTATION OF EACH OF THE SCHOOLS.

We were among the first movers in China to provide private formal higher
undergraduate education focused on applied sciences. We believe that
each of the Schools has gained wide recognition in the region where it is
located and continues to attract students and qualified teaching staff. We
believe that our success is heavily dependent on the market recognition of

the brand and the reputation of each of the Schools.

However, we cannot assure you that our marketing efforts will be
successful or sufficient in further promoting the Schools’ brands or in
helping us to remain competitive. If any of the Schools is unable to further
enhance its reputation and increase market awareness of its programs and
services, or if it is required to incur additional promotional expenses in
order to remain competitive, our business, financial condition and results
of operations may be materially and adversely affected. If the Schools are
unable to maintain or sustain their brand reputation and recognition, they
may also be unable to maintain or increase student enrollment, which may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and

results of operations.

(2) OUR BUSINESS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
DEPEND ON THE LEVEL OF TUITION FEES AND
BOARDING FEES WE ARE ABLE TO CHARGE AND
OUR ABILITY TO MAINTAIN AND RAISE TUITION
AND BOARDING FEES.

One of the most significant factors affecting our profitability is the tuition
fees we charge at the Schools. For the years ended 31 December 2017,
2018 and 2019, tuition fees constituted 91.9%, 91.3% and 90.4% of our
total revenue from continuing operations, respectively, while boarding fees
accounted for the remainder. However, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to maintain or raise the tuition and/or boarding fee levels we
charge at the Schools in the future at the same levels as historically, or
at all, or even if we are able to maintain or raise tuition fees or boarding
fees, we cannot assure you that we will be able to attract prospective
students to apply for the Schools at such increased fee rates at the same

levels as historically, or at all.
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OUR BUSINESS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
DEPEND ON THE NUMBER OF STUDENTS WE
MAY ADMIT, WHICH IN TURN IS SUBJECT TO THE
ADMISSION QUOTAS APPROVED BY RELEVANT
EDUCATION AUTHORITIES AND LIMITED BY THE
CAPACITY OF THE SCHOOL FACILITIES.

Each year the education authorities specify a quota for the number of new
students each of the Schools may admit, which is subject to adjustment
by the education authorities. The number of students we may admit at
each of the Schools is therefore subject to the quota set by the local
education authorities on a year by year basis, as adjusted by the education
authorities. The maximum number of new students each of the Schools
may admit each year is therefore beyond our control. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, to determine the admission quota to be granted
to each school, the local education authorities take into account factors
including the number of students enrolled and number of applications
received by the school, quality of education, social recognition and
reputation of the school and the overall regional economic and educational
conditions and policies. In addition, the number of students we are able to
admit at each of the Schools is also constrained by the education facilities
and number of beds for students of the Schools, which are limited in
space and size.

ADVERSE CHANGES IN THE PRC ECONOMIC,
POLITICAL AND SOCIAL CONDITIONS AS WELL
AS LAWS AND GOVERNMENT POLICIES, MAY
MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR
BUSINESS, FINANCIAL CONDITION, RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND GROWTH PROSPECTS.

The economic, political and social conditions in the PRC differ from
those in more developed countries in many respects, including structure,
government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of
foreign exchange, capital reinvestment, allocation of resources, rate of
inflation and trade balance position. Before the adoption of its reform and
opening up policies in 1978, the PRC was primarily a planned economy.

In recent years, the PRC government has been reforming the PRC
economic system and government structure. For example, the PRC
government has implemented economic reform and measures emphasizing
the utilization of market forces in the development of the PRC economy
in the past three decades. These reforms have resulted in significant
economic growth and social prospects. Economic reform measures,
however, may be adjusted, modified or applied inconsistently from industry
to industry or across different regions of the country.
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We cannot predict whether the resulting changes will have any adverse
effect on our current or future business, financial condition or results
of operations. Despite these economic reforms and measures, the PRC
government continues to play a significant role in regulating industrial
development, allocation of natural and other resources, production, pricing
and management of currency, and there can be no assurance that the
PRC government will continue to pursue a policy of economic reform or
that the direction of reform will continue to be market friendly.

RECENT DEVELOPMENT TO LEGAL FRAMEWORK

For details, please refer to section headed “Recent Developments of
Regulatory Framework” in Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The business of the Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC Environmental
laws and regulations in any material aspects.

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of the students. The
Group has on-site medical staff or health care personnel at each of the schools
the Group operates to handle routine medical situations involving students. In
certain serious and emergency medical situations, the Group promptly sends the
students to local hospitals for treatment. With respect to school safety, the Group
engaged a qualified property management company to provide property security
services at the Group’s school premises.

As far as the Board and management of the Company are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last four financial
years are set out on pages 229 to 230 “Financial Summary” of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s customers primarily consist
of the Group’s students. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and the
Group did not have any single customer who accounted for more than 5% of the
Group’s revenue.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 37.24% of the Group’s total purchases and the Group’s single
largest supplier accounted for 9.74% of the Group’s total purchases.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with
its employees, suppliers and customers to meet its immediate and long-term
goals. The Group maintains a good relationship with employees, suppliers and
customers. During the Reporting Period, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its employees, suppliers and/or customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 125 and page 126 of this annual report and note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserve available for distribution was
RMB49,546,000 (as at 31 December 2018: RMB30,212,000).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai
Mr. Ding Yu (resigned on 30 April 2019)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Mr. Chen Shuo (resigned on 6 December 2019)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis (resigned on 6 December 2019)
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Hu Jianbo

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (appointed on 26 August 2019)

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (appointed on 26 August 2019)

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Zhao Shuai and Mr. Kwong
Wai Sun Wilson shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the proposed annual general meeting (“AGM”).

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Chan Tung Hoi
and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit, Peter shall hold office until the AGM of the Company and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM will be set out in the circular
to the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
set out on pages 44 to 51 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company considers such Directors to be independent since
their appointment and remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no Director or
its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” in this annual report, none of the Controlling Shareholder or any
of its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31
December 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

The Directors and senior management may also receive options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme. For further details of the Share Option Scheme,
please refer to page V-33 of the Prospectus “Share Option Scheme”.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2019.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company are set
out in note 3 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set

out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

) AREQATNEFE: () LONG POSITION IN THE COMPANY:

RS RNNEY ¢

B

®E 56 REEtE BB EE Aot

Approximate

percentage of

Capacity/Nature of shareholding in

Name interest Number of Shares the Company

ZHAEO TEHLIEERRERERA 796,487,200 51.68%
Mr. Li™ Interest in a controlled corporation

and Beneficial Owner 796,487,200 51.68%

HERD@ ERBEEA 938,600 0.06%

Zhao Shuai® Beneficial owner 938,600 0.06%

BEEC ERBEEA 183,700 0.01%

Kwong Wai Sun Wilson® Beneficial owner 183,700 0.01%

k= BEREEA 180,300 0.01%

Hu Jianbo® Beneficial owner 180,300 0.01%

PRZ 80 BEREEA 135,600 0.01%

Chan Tunghoi® Beneficial owner 135,600 0.01%

EA 3 EREEA 135,600 0.01%

Pang Tsz Kit Peter® Beneficial owner 135,600 0.01%
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35720010 K8, 7000 B A WM EBITH
180,300/ B 19 R I B A 2% o

BREBEERRAITER019F10A21IBRTHEBY
135,60017 i % #& & 7 8E [0 H % 17 #9135,6008% B% 17
AR

ErHEEHERABTER019F10B21IBRTFHN
135,60017 i A% #& 1% T B¢ [@ H 2% 17 #9135,6008% A% 12
AR

THEEERETER2018F10A26BRTHEN
503,40017 i % #E & 1] BE 18 H 2% 17 #9240,2508% B% 12
REE R HARA263,1500% IR R E E20195F48
HBRERAM - BXREEWRBITHER20185F
10826 B FEN114,4007 BB RER TEER H 21T
K957,2008% B 10 P B R 25 - HAREY57,200/% IR 19 R
HAE20190F 1286 AR ER AN - HREB X EWIR BT
720185108268 ~ 201954818 K 20195108 21
B % B F HA9114,40019 + 57,2002 K. 12,10012 8 IR
FEBTTAE B H B 1TH126 500 IR D hE B R - &
ZEREAEE2019F 12368 BHEHE 2L M-

Note:

(1)

Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management and he is therefore deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Management. Mr. Li holds 53.35% shares
in Aspire Education Technology and he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Aspire Education Technology. Mr. Li holds 79.20% shares in Aspire Education Consulting
and he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Consulting.
Aspire Education International is owned by (i) all partners of Chengxin Investment and Huihuang
Investment, being Mr. Li, Mr. Zhao Shuai, 30 employees of the Group, the Principal of the
Northeast School and 9 other individuals who are Independent Third Parties; and (i) Mr. Chan
Tung Hoi (BR& &) an independent non-executive Director of the Company who invested in
the Company directly through Aspire Education International. Each of the shareholders of Aspire
Education International has authorized Mr. Li to exercise his or her voting rights in Aspire
Education International. Mr. Li is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire
Education International under the SFO.

Mr. Zhao Shuai is deemed to be interested in 867,600 Shares which may be issued to him
upon exercise of the 680,500, 114,400 and 72,700 share options granted to him on 26
October 2018, 1 April 2019 and 21 October 2019 respectively.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is deemed to be interested in 183,700 Shares which may be issued
to him upon exercise of the 114,400, 57,200 and 12,100 share options granted to him on 26
October 2018, 1 April 2019 and 21 October 2019 respectively.

Mr. Hu Jianbo is deemed to be interested in 180,300 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 114,400, 57,200 and 8,700 share options granted to him on 26 October 2018,
1 April 2019 and 21 October 2019 respectively.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi is deemed to be interested in 135,600 Shares which may be issued to him
upon exercise of the 135,600 share options granted to him on 21 October 2019.

Mr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter is deemed to be interested in 135,600 Shares which may be issued to
him upon exercise of the 135,600 share options granted to him on 21 October 2019.

Mr. Ding Yu was deemed to be interested in 240,250 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 503,400 share options granted to him on 26 October 2018, with remaining
263,150 shares were lapsed following his resignation on 30 April 2019. Mr. Wong Man Chung
Francis was deemed to be interested in 57,200 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 114,400 share options granted to him on 26 October 2018, with remaining
57,200 shares were lapsed following his resignation on 6 December 2019. Mr. Chen Shuo
was deemed to be interested in 126,500 Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of
the 114,400, 57,200 and 12,100 share options granted to him on 26 October 2018, 1 April
2019 and 21 October 2019 respectively, which were all lapsed following his resignation on 6
December 2019.
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(I) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION:

EEKH Yun Ai Group
i S NN
o B A B RE B4
%" & BB EEMHE WEE Aokt
Approximate
Amount of percentage of
Capacity/ registered share shareholding
Name Nature of interest capital in the Company
TREN TEAEEER AR T 70.8305%
24,720,523
Mr. Li Interest in a controlled corporation RMB 70.8305%
24,720,523
MIEET - Note 1:

BREREEZ (HERE AZEE BERE
REXAEZREEZIENEEEENRE A5 Y
55.3041% ; R (N LB A ERBEEEEEMMETME
Ao BEREEEE55260% R IEEETFSHE

o

BEXFr#EZEIN R2019F12831H  BMEES
RAQXTBRETHRAERAD T EEA 48 A
(EEREFRBPEMRAEXVI) N M 88
BHOREEEY BEEIHEGAEERERSRE
ERPIEXNVBEIR B BEANEGERADTARER
FHEZIRE (EEREESRBEKRHNEE
BRYXEESERBBEENRERLR) HEER
RIBEESF R ERA EBUREFRFHE LM
ANEZRRE SRBEEEFHAENERATR
XTI RS -

EEWBEROIEEZNER

BRAFHRAMBOAPESE N RBEHE K2
AREEAMNBARABET LENZH SESET
BBWBAARAREMNAMEXERIRONE
BREUESND ESEEENEEMEBRI8R
ATz F 2B RAEARBRLAFEMEMEZE
BERCESNES2BANRNSTEEMEERER -

Pursuant to the Equity Transfers, (i) each of the Chengxin Investment, Daai Partnership,
Huihuang Investment and Mr. Li transferred their equity interest in Yun Ai Group, totaling
approximately 55.3041%; and (ii) Shanghai Taifu transferred 15.5265% of its equity interest
in Yun Ai Group, to Songming Dexue with reference to the registered capital of Yun Ai Group
contributed.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or
the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ) that
was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO), or required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were
granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company
or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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TERRABOREEBRGNESR
KB

M2019F12B31B BREEMAA ERAQAGE
BIEES RS KM EI6EREZZCMATTHE
LTAT(EHFEZESHAQAARSITHRAE)RE
BHEERDTPEEREE SR EGRHIEXVEL
FORFEIDEHHEX BEEAALNBIFEENEERI AR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFQ as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO:

(h 15’3‘Z|§ NEIRGOKREBERKRGFARIE () INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN OUR
mERKRE: SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY:
RAERTNEFR Long position in the Company
S NN
% RE #8149
wE LB B REEME BHOHEE Aot
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares the Company
Aspire Education Management @ ERZEEA 506,213,000 32.85%
Aspire Education Management @ Beneficial owner 506,213,000 32.85%
Aspire Education Technology @ EZEEA 196,000,000 12.72%
Aspire Education Technology @ Beneficial owner 196,000,000 12.72%
THEED SZESEEERZR 796,487,200 51.68%
ERERA
Mr. Li @ Interest in a controlled corporation 796,487,200 51.68%
and Beneficial owner
HiREE RRGZIERER 84,005,726 5.45%
FEFEEES
UBS Group AG Security interest in Shares/Interest 84,005,726 5.45%

BT

Jiang Jinzhi @

Unique Element Corp @
Unique Element Corp @

Greenwoods Asset Management Limited @
Greenwoods Asset Management Limited @

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED

in a controlled corporation

ZESEEESR 71,529,000 4.64%
Interest in a controlled corporation 71,529,000 4.64%
ZESEEESR 71,529,000 4.64%
Interest in a controlled corporation 71,529,000 4.64%
ZESEEESR 71,529,000 4.64%
Interest in a controlled corporation 71,529,000 4.64%
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7S NN

Iz BB A

wEEB 56 EEtE BB EE Aot

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares the Company

Greenwoods Asset Management SEREBEER 71,529,000 4.64%
Holdings Limited @

Greenwoods Asset Management Interest in a controlled corporation 71,529,000 4.64%
Holdings Limited @

Golden China Master Fund @ STEEEEER 71,529,000 4.64%

Golden China Master Fund @ Interest in a controlled corporation 71,529,000 4.64%

Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund @ ZEHEEESR 71,529,000 4.64%

Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund @ Interest in a controlled corporation 71,529,000 4.64%

Kiat - Notes:

(1) Z= %4 2Aspire Education Managementhy ME
— IR 3 B Ik 1% %5 17 & % B Aspire Education
Managementffr 355 iR 17 #Y £ &5 o

Z 4t 4 4% A Aspire Education Technology#953.35%
B 43 0 E L4 338 B % B Aspire Education
Technology T 35 B% {2 B9 #E 25 ©

Z % 4 $5 B Aspire Education Consulting#979.20%
B% 5 0 B I 1 #5713 & ¥ B Aspire Education
Consulting T 35 B% 12 B9 fE 2% ©

Aspire Education InternationalfB ()FRfE R E K &
BRENFTEABA (L4 A EE -
AEENEBEE RALERRERIZBEM
BBILE=FWEA)  K(ij— & FEBAspire
Education International B £ 2 & A A< A &) A H Ath
BARLB(RKQARAN—BEILIEHNTES)
A& o Aspire Education International B9 & {3 IR 3R 15
EREZEENRBITEKZE M Aspire Education
International (VIR ERE - M= A ERBEFSH KB
& & 5] #18 £ ¥ 8 Aspire Education International
RO HIER -

(2) Greenwoods Asset Management Holdings Limited *
Golden China Master Fund -~ Greenwoods China
Alpha Master Fund ~ Greenwoods Asset Management
Limited ~Unique Element CorpR 8 & & B R
£ A Greenwoods Asset Management Limited fr i
WRBHEERER

(1)

Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Management.

Mr. Li holds 53.35% shares in Aspire Education Technology and he is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Technology.

Mr. Li holds 79.20% shares in Aspire Education Consulting and he is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Consulting.

Aspire Education International is owned by (i) all partners of Chengxin Investment and
Huihuang Investment, being Mr. Li, Mr. Zhao Shuai, 30 employees of the Group, the
Principal of the Northeast School and 9 other individuals who are Independent Third
Parties; and (ii) one other individual, Chan Tung Hoi ( R &-3) , an in dependent non-
executive Director of the Company, who invested in the Company directly through Aspire
Education International. Each of the shareholders of Aspire Education International has
authorized Mr. Li to exercise his or her voting rights in Aspire Education International.
Mr. Li is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education
International under the SFO.

Each of Greenwoods Asset Management Holdings Limited, Golden China Master Fund,
Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund, Greenwoods Asset Management Limited,
Unique Element Corp and Jiang Jinzhi is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Greenwoods Asset Management Limited.
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(I RAEBEENEFR: (1) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS:

REEEENTRE Long position in Yun Ai Group
BEES
o B A SERRE
maE/ LB BB EEMHE W& BB
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
SHERO BERBERA ARE 70.8305%
24,720,5237T
Songming Dexue Beneficial owner RMB24.720523 70.8305%
million
B ERBEEA AR 20.0568%
7,000,0007T
Pai Dui Pai Beneficial owner RMB7 million 20.0568%
Mat - Note:
(1) RIEREEE (i)%ﬁi%’?ﬁiﬁ CAEEE -BE (1) Pursuant to the Equity Transfers, (i) each of the Chengxin Investment, Daai Partnership,

RERSTAESHERENESEENRE
MBI 4955.3041% s RV EBAESRBESE
EffEEMER BEREE £ ME155265%

Huihuang Investment and Mr. Li transferred their equity interest in Yun Ai Group,
totaling approximately 55.3041%; and (ii) Shanghai Taifu transferred 15.5265% of its
equity interest in Yun Ai Group, to Songming Dexue with reference to the registered

66

WREEZTERERE.

capital of Yun Ai Group contributed.

RERHATANER Long position in Haxuan Company
FRiEmRE
= it B AR AR RAE
wEEB B HEME WEE BB SE
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital Haxuan Company
BENT BEREEA AR 26.09%
31,308,0007T
Ningde Company Beneficial owner RMB31.308 26.09%
million

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED
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B EXFr#EE N R2019F12831H  EEX £
MBEEMAL (UHFESESIAQAHRSITHAL)
REAIAAFHEROGTHEEREESRHE
RBIEXVERE2 R FEIDP D BEFIRBENERS AR
RIBEHE SR EKG F336K BB T REZKATIE
HETSMANERS AR -

fBRERTE

AATER2017FE38208 (MRMBH D RMBR
BB EERNAEBRALTRERAQITEEEA
BRENKS WEBFESREABERYAEERER
WER R/ IR EEBENERATER LR
SIRBERUEM A RN EEEFTEEREERNE
B EEIRIMSNBEER SHEEEEANR
REERREAEBNESE BRI D ZEEKA
THEEBER BIRTHRAE(EZETX)M
B NEAEERIIFBELRLEE BEE AR
AR SR ESBENSEGATER-

FERATBEQFASEEMKRE R RN EMAH
TESE K8 FEETHR B EEREMUBL
WEMEE (TTHRAR] EFAREREAE EF
ERARBES APATLAEEITAXERARE
EEBIARBIENAL (EE]D  0)AEEE
ARERANESHREES (BEEBYFATE
) OFREBEARELCANEEIBEERR ()
AAEEEARELRAHESRBMBHHERD
AEEEMKEQARANEF BB XBHEE
B -mEE- AR REINR (BAKEE
ARERAREERT AR - FABRIAEMERE
Uz BH EXHIEMBRBENEAREE (0
EX@QEORAAETAIHBEA ROEFA2
HEANRXBEEMESSEETESC2RBRE
SEMALT (ERALTRIEERALL)

HITEREERETERAEEEAMEMTEHN
FRENFEEREMUEZRTHNESRAOEE
EHTEBBBHE LTSN EHTRMA10% (A
143,110,000 B 12 T B & E 24 A 7 Ari% & 8 38 Bt
REETEMITEEFHRITHNRNG) - HERFERAE
HIE BT 19 #9.29% ©

RAREHE > A Q B JEHF13,068,1501 14 K 17 £
BRE(CEREBHARTE) HERSBRTRG
20.85% ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors were not aware
of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 March 2017
(“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of giving the eligible persons an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimize
their future contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships
with such eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group, and
additionally in the case of executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to
attract and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward them
for their past contributions.

Eligible persons include (a) any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in
any member of the Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any full-time or
part-time employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or
part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”); (b) a director or proposed
director (including an independent non-executive director) of any member of
the Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (d)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; (e) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (f) a person or entity that provides
design, research, development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group; (g) an associate of
any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and (h) any person
involved in the business affairs of the Company whom our Board determines to
be appropriate to participate in the Share Option Scheme (the person referred
above are the “Eligible Persons”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the Listing Date, which is 143,110,000 Shares excluding Shares which may
fall to be issued upon the exercise of the over-allotment option granted by the
Company, representing approximately 9.29% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had 13,068,150 outstanding share
options (granted but not yet exercised), representing 0.85% of the issued shares.

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

67



68

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

MEDEM-BALTREBRE  SUEETEME
fA12EAHER TRER FTEALTHBREMR
TESTRITINROGABEBAQRTTEFE T
BRAI% i@ EMEERATERBRE 8
FETHEEEZEERBREEZR (BHEZA) L12(F
AERTRERTZEERATHREBRE (8
FRETHE CEERERTENBRE) M T
EETFRITHROEHBBERTRONI% &
EBEREACRRERRAE LETHE MZE
ERATRHEHEZBEA (MGERALTREE
AL RIEBBA)EARERR-

EZEARAERMEHETIOFRIBERAOHES
SUERNBEEENEASERALIRERHE
B LEABEIBESS (REBRES K
REENHENRD (ERBHROADEBR
FEEBRON - FHAUELZTBEHBEN) -

REZESSVEENEBRRARGH (BEEH
BRENEE TEXEMBENRRREMS) -
REBRETETENEZESBEBERENREN
R-MBRETEITEANERRATBREREME

BEZ

BERATTRENEHEH B REAREE
RENZLY AT EBRESEBRPERRE
ABREBRE-AQXAREHESERATAERE
REZNZA DA ERENHBHRBENEHR
ZAEEHARAEXNZENBREANBRER
MR RMFEIA  BERARTHWFRABT00
BLER(EARHBRENKE) R BBRE
BRRFCRERBRLARESERATERL ER-

FAREERENIBEERESENREER
BRER (RAFRSAEREBREZNNRMAT)
2EDFEE HRBEFIEERAT=ZEFNR
BE QROEE OREYBEHEBIFAEHR
BREHOROWTE ROBEEN AHAEE
XA (EER LR RORBXAERAKESR
PR HE-

No option may be granted to any one person such that the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted to that person in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of the Company’s
issued share capital from time to time. Where any further grant of options to
such an Eligible Person would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such eligible person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant shall be separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting with such eligible person and his close
associates (or his associates if such eligible person is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

The Board shall be entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date
to offer the grant of an option to any eligible person as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select to subscribe at the subscription price for such number
of Shares as the Board may (subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme)
determine (provided the same shall be a board lot for dealing in the Shares on
the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof).

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine (including
such terms and conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise),
there is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and no performance target which need to be achieved by the grantee
before the Option can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance by the
eligible person concerned for a period of 28 days from the offer date provided
that no such grant of an option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Share Option Scheme. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the eligible person and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the option duly signed
by the grantee together with a remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00
by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company on
or before the date upon which an offer of an option must be accepted by the
relevant eligible person, being a date no later than 28 days after the offer date.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be such price
as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of
the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of the
grant of the option) but the subscription price shall not be less than whichever
is the highest of: (a) the nominal value of a Share; (b) the closing price of a
Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and (c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days (as defined in the Listing Rules)
immediately preceding the offer date.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the date on which it becomes unconditional, after which no further options
will be granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in force and effect in all other respects. All options granted prior to such
expiry and not then exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject
to and in accordance with the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
share option scheme, which will expire on 19 March 2027, is approximately 7
years from the date of this annual report.

Details of the movement of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

20195
BRITHEE R2019F1818 AERW,/ 128318
(B7x) i RTE rERY AEEGE x¥ i RTE
Outstanding
SEALER Outstanding Exercised Forfeited/Lapsed at
Category of RiAH Exercise price at  Granted during during during 31 December
participants Date of grant” per share (HK$) 1 January 2019 the Year the Year the Year 2019
4
Directors
TEH 2018598 3R 5.92 709,300 - - - 709,300
Li Xiaoxuan September 3, 2018 5.92 709,300 - - - 709,300
A 2018510826 4202 680,500 - - - 680,500
Zhao Shuai QOctober 26, 2018 4.202 680,500 - - 680,500
T 20185108268 4.202 503,400 - 263,150 240,250
Ding Yu* QOctober 26, 2018 4.202 503,400 - 263,150 240,250
TR 4+ 20185108268 4.202 114,400 - 114,400 -
Chen Shuo*™* QOctober 26, 2018 4.202 114,400 - 114,400 -
BIR™ 20185108268 4202 114,400 - 57,200 57,200
Wong Man Chung Francis™ October 26, 2018 4.202 114,400 - 57,200 57,200
BEE 20185105268 4.202 114,400 - - 114,400
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson October 26, 2018 4.202 114,400 - - 114,400
HER 20185108268 4.202 114,400 - - 114,400
Hu Jianbo October 26, 2018 4.202 114,400 - - 114,400
==l 20185108268 4202 5,725,700 - 523,300 5,202,400
Employees (October 26, 2018 4.202 5,725,700 - 523,300 5,202,400
EE 201811828 4320 118,700 - 31,000 87,700
Employees November 2, 2018 4.320 118,700 - 31,000 87,700
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20195
BRTEE W2019F1818 RERY/ 128318
(Bx) T RTE RrERY  AFET XX i RATE
QOutstanding
SEALER Outstanding Exercised Forfeited/Lapsed at
Category of REAH Exercise price at  Granted during during during 31 December
participants Date of grant” per share (HK$) 1 January 2019 the Year the Year the Year 2019
A 201954818 3.64 - 114,400 - - 114,400
Zhao Shuai 1 April 2019 3.64 - 114,400 - - 114,400
R 20194818 3.64 - 57,200 - 57,200 -
Chen Shuo** 1 April 2019 3.64 - 57,200 - 57,200 -
BEXR™ 20194818 3.64 - 57,200 - 57,200 -
Wong Man Chung Francis* 1 April 2019 3.64 - 57,200 - 57,200 -
BEE 20194811 3.64 - 57,200 - - 57,200
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 1 April 2019 3.64 - 57,200 - - 57,200
HER 201948181 3.64 - 57,200 - - 57,200
Hu Jianbo 1 April 2019 3.64 - 57,200 - - 57,200
EE 20194818 3.64 - 3,136,800 - 276,800 2,860,000
Employees 1 April 2019 3.64 - 3,136,800 - 276,800 2,860,000
T2 20195108218 311 - 122,900 - - 122,900
Li Xiaoxuan 21 October 2019 3.1 - 122,900 - - 122,900
A 2019108218 3.11 - 72,700 - - 72,700
Zhao Shuai 21 October 2019 3.1 - 72,700 - - 72,700
5 20198108218 311 - 12,100 - 12,100 -
Chen Shuo™ 21 October 2019 311 - 12,100 - 12,100 -
BEE 2019108218 311 - 12,100 - - 12,100
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 21 October 2019 3.11 - 12,100 - - 12,100
HER 2019108218 311 - 8,700 - - 8,700
Hu Jian Bo 21 October 2019 3.1 - 8,700 - - 8,700
AR 2019108218 311 - 135,600 - - 135,600
Pang Tsz Kit Peter 21 October 2019 3.1 - 135,600 - - 135,600
BRLE 2019108218 311 - 135,600 - - 135,600
Chan Tung Hoi 21 October 2019 3.1 - 135,600 - - 135,600
E8 20198104217 311 - 2,310,700 - 25,100 2,285,600
Employees 21 October 2019 3.1 - 2,310,700 - 25,100 2,285,600
@z 8,195,200 6,290,400 - 1,417,450 13,068,150
Total 8,195,200 6,290,400 - 1,417,450 13,068,150
* FA2019F 430 BB ES * Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019
= JA2019F12B6REBREIES **  (Ceased to be a director on 6 December 2019

BREASRAEBITESHRERE TREBEZR >  xercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of certain
F AT performance targets during the relevant exercise period.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report, during the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had entered into (i) any agreement that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares; or (ii) any agreement requiring the Company to
enter into any agreement specified in (i).

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES FOR THE PAST 12 MONTHS

On 9 April 2019, the Company, Aspire Education Technology, as the vendor,
Mr. Li and CLSA Limited, as the placing agent entered into a placing and
subscription agreement, pursuant to which, the placing agent agreed to place a
total of 110,000,000 placing shares at a price of HK$3.57 per Share owned by
Aspire Education Technology to not less than six independent placees and Aspire
Education Technology agreed to subscribe for, and the Company agreed to issue,
the 110,000,000 subscription shares at HK$3.57 per Share (representing a
discount of approximately 9.2% to the closing price of HK$3.93 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the subscription agreement) to the
vendor under the general mandate. (The net subscription price, after deducting
such fees, costs and expenses, was therefore approximately HK$3.539 per
subscription share). The placing shares represented approximately 7.69% of
the then issued share capital of the Company and approximately 7.14% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the subscription.

The net proceeds from the subscription were HK$389.3 million. The Company
intended to use the estimated net proceeds of the subscription primarily for debt
repayment and general corporate purposes. Such top-up placing was completed
and accordingly 110,000,000 subscription shares were issued by the Company
to Aspire Education Technology on 17 April 2019.

A detailed breakdown and description of the proceeds and the purposes for
which the proceeds are used are as follow:

hFEHERE FERERE EBALE FBALE
BENAEAEAL  AR®(FER) (R2019F128318) (R201912831A8)
Intended percentage Utilized amount Unutilized amount
to total amount Net proceeds (at 31 December (at 31 December
Ri Purpose of net proceeds RMB (million) 2019) 2019)
() RERDTABELEREBARLT () improve the financing structure of the Company and to repay certain
ETHREREN outstanding loans of the Company 25.71% 100.1 100.1 -
i) EEESR-ROERR (i) working capital and general corporate purposes 74.29% 289.2 2733 15.9
() AREERE (a) formation of a smart campus 150.3 150.3 -
0 RIEINE (b) formation of training rooms 80.2 80.2 -
() REHEEINRAIEEZRESRLD (o) provision of trainings for teachers and formation of professional
development centers 301 142 15.9
0 Bt-REERR (d) other general corporate purposes 286 286 -
389.3 3734 15.9

AN ARKISE A A E A KBTS
IF o

The Company expects to utilise the unutilised proceeds in the next 18 months.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities save as disclosed above.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION
BEIJING LIANHE

Please refer to the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus for the business scope of Beijing Lianhe and
the reason to exclude Beijing Lianhe out of the Group. In order to safeguard
the interests of our Company in respect of the future business opportunities in
Beijing Lianhe and against potential competition, we have adopted measures
including options to acquire Beijing Lianhe, right of first refusal and right of
selling request.

As at the date of this annual report, Beijing Lianhe has obtained the business
license for the expanded business scope, the internet culture operation license,
the value-added telecommunications business operating license and radio and
TV program production and business operating license. Considering that Beijing
Lianhe is gradually carrying out online education business after obtaining the
licenses, the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
consider it plans to acquire Beijing Lianhe when and as appropriate in the future.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In addition, the Controlling Shareholders have entered into the Deed of
Non-competition on 20 March 2017 in favour of the Company, pursuant to
which our Controlling Shareholders have jointly and severally and irrevocably
undertaken with the Company (for itself and for the benefit of its subsidiaries)
that it or he would not, and would procure that its or his associates (except any
members of the Group) would not, during the restricted period set out below,
directly or indirectly, either on its or his own account or in conjunction with or on
behalf of any person, firm or company, among other things, carry on, participate
or be interested or engaged in or hold (in each case whether as a shareholder,
partner, agent, employee or otherwise) any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of any member of the Group from time to time.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that they have reviewed
the declarations made by the Controlling Shareholders and noted that (a) the
Controlling Shareholders declared that they had fully complied with the Deed
of Non-competition throughout the Reporting Period; and (b) no new competing
business was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the Reporting
Period. The independent non-executive Directors were satisfied that the terms
of the Deed of Non-Competition had been duly complied with and enforced
throughout the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period and till the date of this annual report, the following
transactions carried out by the Group and the connected persons of the Company
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule:

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

A. Background and overview

We currently conduct our private higher education business through the
PRC Operating Schools in the PRC as PRC laws and regulations generally
restrict foreign ownership in the private education industry in the PRC.
PRC laws and regulations currently restrict the operation of higher
education institutions to Sino-foreign cooperation ownership, in addition
to imposing qualification requirements on the foreign owners. We do not
hold any sponsor’s interest in the PRC Operating Schools. The Structured
Contracts, through which we obtain control over and derive the economic
benefits from the PRC Operating Schools, have been narrowly tailored
to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential conflict with
relevant PRC laws and regulations. We had entered into the Structured
Contracts for the existing PRC Operating Schools and expect to enter into
structured contracts for the schools to be newly established or invested
in, the terms and conditions of which shall be the same as the Structured
Contracts in all material aspects.
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In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations while availing
ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control
over all of our operations, on 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10
December 2018, 11 January 2019 and 26 August 2019, respectively,
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huihuang Company, entered into various
agreements that constitute the Existing Structured Contracts with, among
others, the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors, under which
all economic benefits arising from the business of the PRC Operating
Schools and the School Sponsors held directly or indirectly by Yun Ai
Group are transferred to Huihuang Company to the extent permitted under
the PRC laws and regulations by means of service fees payable by the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to Huihuang Company.
Although the Registered Shareholders are not consolidated as part of
the Group, they are parties to certain agreements which constitute the
Structured Contracts to ensure that the shareholders’ rights of Yun Ai
Group are actually controlled by Huihuang Company.

The Structured Contracts were amended due to equity transfers between
certain then Registered Shareholders which took place on 26 August 2019
and 6 December 2019. The Existing Structured Contracts were terminated
and a series of agreements comprising of the New Structured Contracts
were entered into between New Registered Shareholders, the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, Huihuang Company and Yun Ai Group. The
terms and conditions of the New Structured Contracts are substantially the
same as those under the Existing Structured Contracts.

Please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the
Prospectus, as well as the announcements of the Company dated 8
October 2018, 10 December 2018, 11 January 2019, 26 August 2019
and 6 December 2019 for details.
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DEVELOPMENT DURING THE YEAR
GUANGXI SCHOOLS STRUCTURED CONTRACT

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed the acquisitions of Guangxi
Schools on 11 January 2019. The Guangxi Schools entered into the structured
contracts, with Huihuang Company, the framework of which is a reproduction
of the arrangements of the Existing Structured Contracts as disclosed in the
Prospectus. As such, the Guangxi Schools and their school sponsors became
consolidated affiliated entities of the Company.

CENTRAL CHINA SCHOOL STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

The Company has also received the approval from the MOE for Enchang
Company to become the joint school sponsor of Central China School on 3 April
2019 and all approval and registration requirements regarding the change of the
school sponsorship of Central China School have been completed on 20 August
2019. Subsequently, the Central China School has entered into the structured
contracts, with Huihuang Company on 26 August 2019, the terms and conditions
of which were the same as Existing Structured Contracts as disclosed in the
Prospectus in all material aspects. Thereafter each of Enchang Company and
Central China School were treated as a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company.

EQUITY TRANSFERS AND NEW STRUCTURED
CONTRACTS

On 26 August 2019, equity transfer agreements were entered into between
certain then Registered Shareholders and Songming Dexue, and accordingly,
the Existing Structured Contracts have been terminated and the New Structured
Contracts have been entered into. Immediately upon completion of such transfer,
the New Registered Shareholders, the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
Huihuang Company and Yun Ai Group have entered into a series of agreements
to establish the New Structured Contracts. The terms and conditions of the New
Structured Contracts are substantially the same as those under the Existing
Structured Contracts. Details of the principal terms of the New Structured
Contracts are set out in the section headed “The New Structured Contracts” in
the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019.

On 6 December 2019, pursuant to equity transfer agreement entered between
Shanghai Taifu and Songming Dexue, a supplemental agreement to the New
Structured Contracts was entered into between Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming
Dexue, Zhongyi Company, Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company, pursuant to
which, among other things, all the rights and obligations attached to Shanghai
Taifu’s equity interests in Yun Ai Group would be transferred to Songming Dexue.
Save as the principal terms disclosed in the announcement of the company
dated 6 December 2019, the clauses of the New Structured Contracts remained
unchanged.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from the PRC Operating Schools and/or the School Sponsors to the Group

=R stipulated under the New Structured Contracts:
IN/NS|
The Company
100% N i
v 4 |
BN 3O | SERE !
n N 1
Huihuang Company Registered shareholders 1 (4)0)
A ! B |
nt iee 100% | ¥ :
HEIGESHEER
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
EERENEESERESERE
denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
----- EBHEBMEY
denotes Structured Contracts
Hrat - Notes:
1. TRRBEE - 1. Payment of service fees.
2. RUBREMEEREEBERE - 2. Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services.
3. WERTHEEERNE DRI ERENR 3. Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the School sponsors’ interest in the PRC
EREGRERERENZTRNLOREZS Operating Schools and all or part equity interest in the School Sponsors.
R
4, ERENEZARTHEPHEESRNE 4. Entrustment of school sponsors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by the School
REPWERER Sponsors.
5. FEHEEEREESZARTFTHEPEZEER 5. Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by directors of the PRC
RONESERN BREERESE- Operating Schools including directors’ powers of attorney.
6. ZABRTFTREANER BERRREESE- 6. Entrust of Shareholders’ right including Shareholders’ power of attorney.
7. CERREHFENREEEENRE- 7. Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholders of their equity interest in Yun
Ai Group.
8. BEAFRDNEESERMEN- 8. Provision of loans by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group.
9. REFEEZELZR AXRNERNERER 9. According to PRC laws and regulations, entities and individuals who establish private
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schools are commonly referred to as “school sponsors” instead of “owners” or
“shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, we have not encountered any
interference or encumbrance from any governing bodies in our plan to
adopt the New Structured Contracts and the consolidated financial results
of the PRC Operating Schools which engage in higher education service,
are consolidated to those of the Group.
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Summary of the Material Terms of the New Structured Contracts

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the New
Structured Contracts is set out below.

(7)

Business Cooperation Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019), Huihuang
Company shall provide technical services, management support and
consulting services necessary for the private education business,
and in return, the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall make
payments accordingly.

To ensure the due performance of the New Structured Contracts,
each of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to comply,
and procure any of its subsidiaries to comply with, and the New
Registered Shareholders agreed to procure the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to comply with the obligations as prescribed under
the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019) set forth as follows:

(@)  to carry out its private education operations in a prudent
and efficient manner in accordance with good financial and
business standards while maintaining the asset value of
the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the quality and
standard of private education;

(b)  to prepare school development plans and annual working
plans in accordance with the instructions of Huihuang
Company;

(c)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant
business under the assistance of Huihuang Company;

(d)  to carry out and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations,
advice, principles and other instructions of Huihuang
Company;

(e)  to execute and act upon the recommendations of Huihuang
Company in terms of employment and removal of senior
management and staff;

() to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Huihuang
Company in relation to their respective strategic development;

and

()  to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain
its respective necessary licenses.
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In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019),

(@)

Mr. Li undertakes to Huihuang Company that, in the event
of death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other
circumstances which may affect the exercise of his direct or
indirect equity interest in the New Registered Shareholders,
he shall have made all necessary arrangement and sign
all necessary documents such that his/their respective
successor, guardian, spouse, and any other person which may
as a result of the above events obtain the equity interest or
relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement
of the New Structured Contracts;

the New Registered Shareholders undertake to Huihuang
Company that, in the event of a merger and subdivision of
the New Registered Shareholders, presentation by the New
Registered Shareholders or the New Registered Shareholders
being presented any application for winding up, liquidation,
winding up restructuring or reconciliation, dissolution and
liquidation of the New Registered Shareholders pursuant
to an order, application for involuntary dissolution of the
New Registered Shareholders or other reasons, or other
circumstances which may affect the New Registered
Shareholders in exercising its direct or indirect interest in Yun
Ai Group, they shall have made all necessary arrangement
and sign all necessary documents such that the successor,
administrator, liquidation committee and any other person
which may as a result of the above events obtain the direct
or indirect interest or relevant rights in Yun Ai Group shall not
prejudice or hinder the enforcement of the New Structured
Contracts;
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the New Registered Shareholders undertake that, in the event
of the dissolution or liquidation of the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, (i) Huihuang Company shall have the right
to exercise all school sponsor’s right on behalf of the School
Sponsors/shareholders’ rights on the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities (except for the PRC Operating Schools); (ii)
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and/or School Sponsors
and/or the shareholders or sponsors of the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities shall transfer all assets received or
receivable in its capacity as school sponsor of each of the
PRC Operating Schools/as shareholders of each of the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the PRC Operating
Schools) as a result of the dissolution or liquidation of the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities to Huihuang Company
or other persons designated by us at nil consideration, and
instruct all of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
transfer such assets directly to Huihuang Company before
such dissolution or liquidation; (iii) if consideration is required
for such transfer under the then applicable PRC laws, PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and/or the shareholders
or sponsors of PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall
compensate Huihuang Company or the person as designated
by us the amount and guarantee that Huihuang Company or
other persons as designated by us does not suffer any loss;
and

PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed that, without
the prior written consent of Huihuang Company, the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall not declare or pay to the
New Registered Shareholders any school-running balances
(¥¥EB4EER) or other interest or benefit. In the event that
the New Registered Shareholders receive any school-running
balances ( ##E2 4582 ) or other interest or benefit, the New
Registered Shareholders shall unconditionally and without
compensation transfer such amount to Huihuang Company.
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Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company agreed to
provide exclusive technical services to the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, including but not limited to, (a) design,
development, update and maintenance of software for computer and
mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and maintenance of
webpages and websites necessary for the education activities of the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (c) design, development, update
and maintenance of management information systems necessary for
the education activities of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities;
(d) provision of other technical support necessary for the education
activities of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (e) provision of
technical consulting services; (f) provision of technical training; (g)
engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical support; and (h)
providing other technical services reasonably requested by the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Furthermore, Huihuang Company agreed to provide exclusive
management consultancy services to the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, including but not limited to, (a) design of
curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or recommendation of
course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment and
training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment
support and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f)
preparation of long term strategic development plans and annual
working plans; (g) development of financial management systems
and recommendation and optimization on annual budget; (h)
advising on design of internal structures and internal management;
(i) provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct
of market research; (k) preparation of market development plan; (1)
building of marketing network; and (m) providing other management
technical services reasonably requested by the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy
services provided by Huihuang Company, each of the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to pay Huihuang Company
a service fee equal to an agreed percentage of their respective
amount of surplus from operations (after deducting all costs,
expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if required by the
law) and the legally compulsory development fund of the respective
school (if required by the law)). The compulsory development fund
is included as statutory surplus reserve at the Group’s level and
retained at schools’ level. Huihuang Company has the right (but
not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by
reference to the actual services provided and the actual business
operations and needs of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
provided that any adjusted amount shall not exceed the amount
mentioned above. The PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities do not
have any right to make any such adjustment.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019)

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019), the New
Registered Shareholders have irrevocably granted Huihuang
Company or its designated purchaser the right to purchase all or
part of the school sponsor’s interest of the School Sponsors in the
PRC Operating Schools and equity interest in the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities (except for the PRC Operating Schools) (“Equity
Call Option”). The purchase price payable by Huihuang Company
in respect of the transfer of such school sponsor’s interest or
equity interest upon exercise of the Equity Call Option shall be
the lowest price permitted under the PRC laws and regulations.
Huihuang Company or its designated purchaser shall have the
right to purchase such proportion of the school sponsor’s interest
of the PRC Operating Schools and/or equity interest in the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the PRC Operating
Schools) as it decides at any time.

School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019), School Sponsors have irrevocably authorized
and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all its rights as
school sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Schools to the extent
permitted by PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited to:
(a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors or council members
of the schools; (b) the right to appoint and/or elect supervisors of
the schools; (c) the right to understand the operation and financial
situation of the schools; (d) the right to review the resolutions
and records of the board of directors and financial statements
and reports of the schools; (e) the right to obtain school-running
balances as school sponsor of the schools in accordance with the
laws and the articles of association of each school; (f) the right to
acquire residue assets upon liquidation of the schools in accordance
with the laws and the articles of association of each school; (g) the
right to transfer school sponsors’ interest in accordance with the
laws; and (h) other school sponsor’s rights pursuant to applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of each
school as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, each of the directors of each school (the “Appointees”)
has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to
exercise all his/her rights as directors of the PRC Operating Schools
as appointed by the School Sponsors and to the extent permitted by
PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right
to attend meetings of the board of directors as representative of the
directors appointed by the School Sponsors; (b) the right to exercise
voting rights in respect of all matters discussed and resolved at the
board meeting of each of the PRC Operating Schools; (c) the right
to propose to convene interim board meetings of each of the PRC
Operating Schools; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board
resolutions and other legal documents which the directors appointed
by the School Sponsors have authority to sign in his/her capacity
as directors of the PRC Operating Schools; (e) the right to instruct
the legal representative and financial and business responsible
persons of the PRC Operating Schools to act in accordance with
the instruction of Huihuang Company; (f) the right to exercise all
other rights and voting rights of directors as prescribed under the
articles of association of the PRC Operating Schools; (g) the right to
handle the legal procedures of registration, approval and licensing
of the PRC Operating Schools, as the case may be at the education
department, the department of civil affairs or other government
regulatory departments; and (h) other directors’ rights pursuant to
applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association
of the PRC Operating Schools as amended from time to time.

School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
executed by School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang Company, the
School Sponsors authorized and appointed Huihuang Company
(none of whom is a director of any of the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and therefore does not give rise to any conflicts
of interest), as its agent to act on its behalf to exercise or delegate
the exercise of all its rights as school sponsor of each of the PRC
Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. The School Sponsors irrevocably agreed that
the authorization appointment in the School Sponsor’'s Powers of
Attorney shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of the School Sponsors’ subdivision, merger,
winding up, consolidation, liquidation or other similar events. The
School Sponsors’ Power of Attorney (2019) shall constitute a part
and incorporate terms of the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement (2019).
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Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed by
each of the Appointees in favor of Huihuang Company, each of the
Appointees authorized and appointed Huihuang Company (none of
whom is a director of any of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and therefore does not give rise to any conflicts of interest), as
his/her agent to act on his/her behalf to exercise or delegate the
exercise of all of his/her rights as directors of the PRC Operating
Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. Each of the Appointees irrevocably agreed that
the authorization appointment in the Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity,
death or other similar events. The Directors’ Power of Attorney
(2019) shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School
Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019), each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has
irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise
all of his/their respective rights as shareholders of the School
Sponsors (together, “the Relevant Subsidiaries”) to the extent
permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited
to: (a) the right to attend shareholders’ meetings of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (b) the right to exercise voting
rights in respect of all matters discussed and resolved at the
shareholders’ meeting of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (c) the right to appoint directors or legal representative
of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (d) the right
to propose to convene interim shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (e) the right to sign all
shareholders’ resolutions and other legal documents which the New
Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai Group have authority to sign in
his or their capacity as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be; (f) the right to instruct the directors and legal
representative of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be to
act in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (g) the
right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of shareholders
as prescribed under the articles of association of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (h) the right to handle the legal
procedures of registration, approval and licensing of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be at the education department,
the department of civil affairs or other government regulatory
departments; and (i) other shareholders’ rights pursuant to
applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association
of the Relevant Subsidiaries as amended from time to time.
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In addition, each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai
Group, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue
has irrevocably agreed that (i) Huihuang Company may delegate
its rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019) to the directors of Huihuang Company or its designated
person, without prior notice to or approval by the New Registered
Shareholders and Yun Ai Group; and (ii) any person as successor
of civil rights of Huihuang Company or liquidator by reason of
subdivision, merger, liquidation of Huihuang Company or other
circumstances shall have authority to replace Huihuang Company
to exercise all rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed
by each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue in favor
of Huihuang Company, each of them authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company, as his or their agent to act on his or their
behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all his or their rights
as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to its directors or other designated person. Each
of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue irrevocably agreed that the
authorization appointment in the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity, death
or other similar events. The Shareholders’ Power of Attorney (2019)
shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Spouse Undertakings (2019)

Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings (2019), the spouse of Mr. Li
has irrevocably undertaken that:

(@)  the spouse has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the New Structured Contracts by Mr. Li,
and in particular, the arrangement as set out in the New
Structured Contracts in relation to the restrictions imposed on
the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, pledge
or transfer the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group, or the disposal of the direct or indirect equity interest
in Yun Ai Group in any other forms;

(b)  the spouse has not participated, is not participating and shall
not in the future participate in the operation, management,
liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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(c)  the spouse authorizes Mr. Li or his authorized person to
execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the
spouse in relation to the spouse’s equity interest in Yun Ai
Group (direct or indirect) in order to safeguard the interest
of Huihuang Company under the New Structured Contracts
and give effect to the fundamental purposes thereunder, and
confirms and agrees to all such documents and procedures;

(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar events
relating to the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group;

(e) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the spouse, divorce
or other similar events;

() all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall continue to be
valid and binding until otherwise terminated by both Huihuang
Company and the spouse of Mr. Li in writing; and

(@  The Spouse Undertakings shall have the same term as and
incorporate the terms of the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019).

Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), each of the New
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged
and granted first priority security interests over all of its equity
interest in Yun Ai Group together with all related rights thereto
to Huihuang Company as security for performance of the New
Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect or consequential
damages and foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Huihuang
Company as a result of any event of default on the part of the
New Registered Shareholders, or each of the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and all expenses incurred by Huihuang Company
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of the New Registered
Shareholders and/or each of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
under the New Structured Contracts (the “Secured Indebtedness”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), without the
prior written consent of Huihuang Company, the New Registered
Shareholders shall not transfer the equity interest or create further
pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest. Any
unauthorized transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any
transfer of the equity interest shall be first used in the payment
of the Secured Indebtedness or deposited to such third party as
agreed to by Huihuang Company. The New Registered Shareholders
also waived any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed
to any transfer of the pledged equity pursuant to the equity pledge
agreement.

The pledges under the Equity Pledge Agreement were registered
with the relevant Administration for Market Regulation of the PRC
on 1 September 2019 and became effective on the same date of
the registration of the pledge.

Loan Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company agreed
to provide interest-free loans to Yun Ai Group in accordance with
the PRC laws and regulations and Yun Ai Group agreed to utilize the
proceeds of such loans to contribute as capital of the PRC Operating
Schools in its capacity as school sponsor or the shareholder of the
school sponsors of the Schools in accordance with our instructions.
Both parties agree that all such capital contribution will be directly
settled by Huihuang Company on behalf of Yun Ai Group.

The terms of the Loan Agreement (2019) shall continue until all
interest of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities are transferred to
Huihuang Company or its designee and/or the Company or designee
of the Company and the registration process required thereafter has
been completed with the relevant local authorities.

Each loan to be granted under the Loan Agreement (2019) will be for
an infinite term until termination at the sole discretion of Huihuang
Company. The loan will become due and payable upon Huihuang
Company’s demand under any of the following circumstances: (i)
a bankruptcy application, bankruptcy reorganization or bankruptcy
settlement has been filed by or against Yun Ai Group, (ii) a
winding-up or liquidation application has been filed by or against
Yun Ai Group, (iii) Yun Ai Group becoming insolvent or incurring
any other significant personal debt which may affect its ability to
repay the loan under the Loan Agreement, (iv) Huihuang Company
or its designee exercising in full its option to purchase all PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities interests to the extent permitted
by PRC laws and regulations, or (v) any of the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities commits any breach of any obligations under the
New Structured Contracts, or any warranties provided by any of
the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the New Structured
Contracts is proved incorrect or inaccurate. As advised by the PRC
Legal Advisors, interest-free loans granted by Huihuang Company
to Yun Ai Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC laws and
regulations.
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THEEERREREBRENERTE C.  Business Activities of the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors
AEENHEGEAHEERAEHER B The PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the Group are, namely, Yunnan
MER THER REER BEARER E School, Guizhou School, Henan School, Northeast School, Guangxi
FER ZEREREUREMBELEBY Schools, Central China School and the respective School Sponsors and
BN (BIEBEIT)HAXEENKREERA other investment holding companies which were consolidated to the Group
Ao HETERETSEHERBENERTE - by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to time. Their
FMEEREREYAREZERAT - business activities are primarily engaged in higher education services. All
of the School Sponsors are investment holding companies.
FEGEHEEERUASENEEMRUK D.  Significance and financial contributions of PRC Consolidated Affiliated
=1 ) Entities to the Group
REFEBEEGN AEENE+TEEES Pursuant to the New Structured Contracts, the Group obtains control over
REERBRENZIE TRPESLKRE and derives the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools and
iz - TREISPEHEELERRERERA School Sponsors. The table below sets out the financial contribution of the
HAEENTIEE R PRC Operating Schools and the School Spansors to the Group:
HAEENEEERMBEE M
Significances and financial contribution to the Group
L'ON #iF EEHE
Revenue Net profit Total Assets
B ZE2019%F BZE2019F 20195
12A31ALFEE 12A31ALEFE 128318
For the year ended For the year ended As of
31 December 2019 31 December 2019 31 December 2019
HAEEMEZEMR  Significances and financial
B % & Bt contribution to the Group 100% 128% 84%
FEBEASNBRAREE E.  Revenue and assets involved in New Structured Contracts

TREINAREEZ2019F12831BEEEHRE
EEERMEREREMSROOBA K
EEHAB BFBRAREESREFEEBMN
EHHAREENBTEERE:

The table below sets out (i) revenue; and (ii) total assets involved in the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors for the year ended 31
December 2019, they would be consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements pursuant to the New Structural Contracts:

TREESERERERERSE

PRC Operating Schools and School Sponsors

' ON EE
Revenue Assets
AR AR¥ T
RMB RMB

1,089,220,957 6,001,365,126
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F.

Regulatory Framework

1.

Higher Education

Pursuant to Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2019 Edition) (the “Negative List”), the
provision of higher education in the PRC falls within the “restricted”
category. In particular, the Negative List explicitly restricts higher
education to Sino-foreign cooperation, which means the foreign
investor shall be an educational institution and shall operate higher
education in the PRC through cooperation with a PRC educational
institution in compliance with the Sino-Foreign Regulation. In
addition, the Negative List also provides that the domestic party
shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or other chief executive officer of the schools
shall be a PRC national; and (b) the representatives of the domestic
party shall account for no less than half of the total members of the
board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration
committee of the Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution
(the “Foreign Control Restriction”). We had fully complied with the
Foreign Control Restriction in respect of the PRC Operating Schools
on the basis that (a) the principals and the chief executive officers
of the aforementioned schools are all PRC nationals; and (b) all the
members of the board of directors are PRC nationals.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation,
pursuant to the Sino-Foreign Regulation and its Implementation
Regulations, if we were to apply for any of the Schools to be
reorganized as a Sino-foreign joint venture private school for PRC
students (a “Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School”), the foreign
investor in the Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School must be a
foreign educational institution with relevant qualification and high
quality education (the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore,
pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign portion of
the total investment in a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School
should be below 50% (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”) and the
establishment of these schools is subject to approval of education
authorities at the provincial or national level.

Our PRC legal advisors have advised that as of the date of this
annual report, there are no implementing measures or specific
guidance on the Qualification Requirement in accordance with
the existing PRC laws and regulations and therefore it is currently
uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign
investor (such as length of experience and form and extent of
ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to
the relevant educational authority that it meets the Qualification
Requirement. Accordingly, as a matter of policy, due to the lack of
implementing measures or specific guidance on the Sino-Foreign
Regulation and its Implementation Regulations, including the
Qualification Requirement, the relevant education authorities will not
accept an application to convert the PRC Operating Schools or the
schools to be newly established or invested by us into Sino-Foreign
Joint Venture Private Schools.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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Plan to Comply with the Qualification Requirement

The foreign investor in a Sino-foreign joint venture private school
must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification
and high quality of education (the “Qualification Requirement”).
Foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% and the establishment
of these schools is subject to approval of education authorities
at the provincial or national level. We are committed to working
towards meeting the Qualification Requirement. We have adopted
a specific plan and had taken concrete steps which the Company
believes are meaningful endeavors to demonstrate compliance with
the Qualification Requirement.

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisors, there have
been no updates to the implementation rules in relation to the
Qualification Requirement since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.

Please also refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts”
in the Prospectus and the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2018 for the Group's efforts and actions undertaken to
comply with the Qualification Requirement. As of the date of this
report, we are still waiting for approval from the BPPE to establish
the new school in the State of California.

Recent Development

For details, please refer to section headed “Recent Developments of
Regulatory Framework” in Management Discussion and Analysis of
this annual report.
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Risks associated with the arrangements and the actions taken to
mitigate the risks

We entered into a series of agreements in which our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huihuang Company receives economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Schools pursuant to relevant clauses under the agreements.

Foreign investment in the education industry in China is extensively
regulated and subject to numerous restrictions. We have been and are
expected to continue to be dependent on the New Structured Contracts to
operate our education business.

If the New Structured Contracts that establish the structure for operating
our China business are found to be in violation of any PRC laws or
regulations in the future or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required
permits or approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the
MOE, which regulates the education industry, would have broad discretion
in dealing with such violations, including:

o revoking the business and operating licenses of our PRC
subsidiaries;

o discontinuing or restricting the operations of any related-party
transactions among our PRC subsidiaries;

o imposing fines or other requirements with which we or our PRC
subsidiaries may not be able to comply;

o requiring us to restructure our operations in such a way as to
compel us to establish new entities, re-apply for the necessary
licenses or relocate our businesses, staff and assets;

° imposing additional conditions or requirements with which we may
not be able to comply; or

o restricting the use of proceeds from our additional public offering or
financing to finance our business and operations in China.

If any of the above penalties are imposed on us, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the New Structured
Contracts and our compliance with the New Structured Contracts:

@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with
the New Structured Contracts or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance
with the New Structured Contracts at least once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance
with the New Structured Contracts in its annual reports and interim
reports to update the Shareholders and potential investors;

the Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review
the implementation of the New Structured Contracts, review the
legal compliance of Huihuang Company and the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the New Structured Contracts.

In addition, notwithstanding that our executive Director, Mr. Li is also the
sole shareholder of Songming Dexue, we believe that our Directors are
able to perform their roles in the Group independently and the Group is
capable of managing its business independently after the Listing under
the following measures:

(@)

the decision-making mechanism of the Board as set out in the
Articles includes provisions to avoid conflict of interest by providing,
amongst other things, that in the event of conflict of interest in such
contract or arrangement which is material, a Director shall declare
the nature of his or her interest at the earliest meeting of the Board
at which it is practicable for him or her to do so, and if he or she
is to be regarded as having material interest in any contracts or
arrangements, such Director shall abstain from voting and not be
counted in the quorum;

each of our Directors is aware of his fiduciary duties as a Director

which requires, amongst other things, that he acts for the benefits
and in the best interests of the Group;
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(c) we have appointed four independent non-executive Directors,
comprising over one-third of our Board, to provide a balance of
the number of interested and independent Directors with a view to
promoting the interests of the Company and our Shareholders as a
whole; and

(d)  we will disclose in our announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
regarding decisions on matters reviewed by our Board (including
independent non-executive Directors) relating to any business or
interest of each Director and his associates that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

Material changes

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and till the date of this annual
report, the Group completed the acquisitions of Guangxi Schools and
Central China School respectively on 11 January 2019 and 26 August
2019. All of them entered into the structured contracts, with Huihuang
Company, the framework of which is a reproduction of the existing
arrangements of the Structured Contracts as disclosed in the Prospectus.
As such, each of these schools became a consolidated affiliated entity of
the Company. Furthermore, on 26 August 2019, pursuant to termination
of the Existing Structured Contracts, a series of agreements comprising
of the New Structured Contracts were entered into between New
Registered Shareholders, the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
Huihuang Company. On 6 December 2019, a supplemental agreement
(“Supplemental Agreement”) to the New Structured Contracts was entered
into between Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming Dexue, Zhongyi Company,
Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company, pursuant to which, among other
things, all the rights and obligations attached to Shanghai Taifu’s equity
interests in Yun Ai Group will be transferred to Songming Dexue. Save
as the principal terms of the Supplemental Agreement disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 6 December 2019, the clauses of
the New Structured Contracts remained unchanged.

Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding
of any Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind
any Structured Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Structured Contracts are removed. For more details, please refer to
the section headed “Structured Contracts — Operation of the Structured
Contracts — Termination of the Structured Contracts” of the Prospectus
and the section headed “Unwinding of the New Structured Contracts” of
the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019. In the event
that the PRC regulatory environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Foreign Control
Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other changes in the
relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huihuang Company will exercise the
Equity Call Option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that
the Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using the
New Structured Contracts, as permitted by the applicable PRC laws and
regulations at the relevant time.
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Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
Structured Contract and confirmed that, during the relevant financial year:

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts are on normal commercial terms; and

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in accordance with
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has performed certain pre-determined audit
procedures regarding the Structured Contracts and confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December
2019 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Structured Contracts, and have been operated so
that the profit generated by the PRC Operating Schools and the
School Sponsors have been substantially retained by the Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group, and

(iiiy  the Structured Contracts and if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating
Entities and the School Sponsors during the relevant financial period
are fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Group is
concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of the date of this annual
report, the Company had no connected transactions which fell to be
disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed, except for those
described above in the paragraphs headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

On 29 November 2018, the Company, as borrower, entered into a secured term
loan facility agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with CMBC Capital Finance
Limited (“CMBC Finance”), as lender, in relation to a term loan facility in an
aggregate amount equal to HK$150,000,000. In order to secure the Company’s
obligations under the Facility Agreement, Aspire Education Management charged
230,000,000 ordinary Shares in favour of CMBC Finance. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 29 November 2018.
Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company dated 30 May
2019 in relation to release of share charge and guarantee provided by the
controlling shareholders, in relation to the Facility Agreement for a term loan
facility (the “Facility”) in an aggregate amount equal to HK$150,000,000 entered
between CMBC Finance (the “Lender”) and the Company.

On 29 May 2019, Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd., as the chargor
and the Lender, as the chargee, entered into a deed of release, pursuant to
which Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd. was released and discharged
from the secured liabilities under the share charge executed on 29 November
2018, according to which Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd. charged
230,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company in favour of the Lender.

Accordingly, the guarantee under (i) corporate guarantee executed on 29
November 2018 by Aspire Education Management and (ii) the deed of guarantee
executed on 29 November 2018 by Mr. Li in favour of the Lender (being finance
documents entered into in favour of the Lender as condition precedents to the
Facility) were also discharged.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB10,954,918.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company was not engaged in
any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening
against the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to article 164(1) of the Articles of Association, the Directors, secretary
and other officers and every Auditor for the time being of the Company and
the liquidator or trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation to any
of the affairs of the Company and every one of them, and every one of their
heirs, executors and administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them,
their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts; and none of them shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or
defaults of the other or others of them or for joining in any receipts for the sake
of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or
effects belonging to the Company shall or may be lodged or deposited for safe
custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any moneys
of or belonging to the Company shall be placed out on or invested, or for any
other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in the execution of their
respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto; PROVIDED THAT this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END

The important events occurred since the year ended 31 December 2019 are
disclosed in note 39 of the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee,
together with the Board and external auditor, has reviewed the Group’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
97 to 113 of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued shares,
the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all
times during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor for the year ended 31 December
2019. The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer itself for
re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as auditor
will be proposed at the AGM.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

If the Shareholders of the Company are not sure about the tax effect on the
purchase, holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant
shares of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent experts
for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Li Xiaoxuan
Chairman

China, 23 March 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance
practices and procedures with a view to being a transparent and responsible
organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board
strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and commercial
standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability
of all operations of the Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its Shareholders. The
Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of
the Group from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for Shareholders.

During year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has complied with the
Corporate Governance Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested to the Board.

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Group,
including the formulation and approval of all policy matters, overall strategic
development of the Group, monitoring and controlling the Group’s operation
and financial performance, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitoring of the performance of the senior management. The Directors have to
make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the chief executive officer (Mr. Zhao Shuai) and the senior
management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed by the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six Directors, consisting
of two executive Directors, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (the chairman of the Board), Mr. Zhao
Shuai (the chief executive officer) and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hu Jianbo, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter. During the year ended 31 December 2019, all Directors
have given sufficient time and attention to affairs of the Group. Each executive
Director is suitably qualified for his position, and has sufficient experience
to hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.
Biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographic Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial, business or
family relationship among the members of the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules to appoint at least three independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, at least one independent non-executive Director possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications or financial management
expertise in accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules and the Company
has appointed four independent non-executive Directors representing more than
one-third of the Board and is in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

1.

Purpose

1.1

The purpose of this policy is to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board.

Policy statement

2.1

2.2

With a view of achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and shall be taken full account of the benefits of
diversity on the Board when considering candidates.

Measurable objectives

3.1

The selection of candidates will be based on the Group’s
Nomination Policy and will take into account the Board Diversity
Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and the needs of
the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect.

Review and Monitor

41

4.2

The Nomination Committee will review this policy in due course to
ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any required amendments to this policy and propose amendments
for approval by the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
this policy, including reviewing the composition of the board of
directors at least once a year, taking into account the benefits of all
relevant levels of diversity, and following this policy when making
recommendations for director appointments. The Nomination
Committee will also ensure that board diversity is part of evaluating
the effectiveness of the board.

Disclosure of this policy

5.1

5.2

This policy is published on the Group’s website (www.xingaojiao.
com).

A summary of this policy, together with any measurable objectives/
specific diversification objectives (if any) and progress made
to implement this policy, will be disclosed in the “Corporate
Governance Report” in the annual report of the Group.
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NOMINATION POLICY

1.

Purpose

1.1 The Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board
and advise the Board on the appointment of directors and the
succession plan of directors.

1.2 This policy sets out the main selection criteria and principles used
by the Committee in making any relevant recommendations.

Selection criteria

2.1 The Committee considers, include (but are not limited to)
the following factors when assessing candidates, and makes
recommendations on the appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board or re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the

Board:

(@)
(b)

@)

Integrity;

Achievements, experience and reputation in China’s private
education industry and other related industries;

Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interests and
attention to the business of the Company;

Diversification of the Board in all aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
Service;

the ability to assist and support management and to make a
significant contribution to the success of the Company; and

any other relevant factors as determined by the Committee or
the Board from time to time.

2.2 The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
reappointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be
made in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and
other applicable rules and regulations.
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Nomination process

3.1 Board members are invited to nominate candidates, if any, for
consideration by the Committee. The Committee may also nominate
candidates for their consideration, and the Secretary of the
Committee will then meet.

3.2 For the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board, the
Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due diligence
in respect of such candidate and make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval.

3.3 For the re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board,
the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the
Board for its consideration and recommendation, for the proposed
candidates to stand for re-election at a general meeting.

3.4 For the procedures for shareholders to nominate any candidate
for election as a director, please refer to the “PROCEDURES FOR
SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETING” published in the annual report of the Company.

3.5 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting.

Approval and review of this policy

Any future amendments to this policy must be reviewed and approved by
the Nomination Committee and submitted to the Board for approval.
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MODEL CODE

The Company has also adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors in March 2017. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors of
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’ securities transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since their appointments, independent non-executive Directors have played a
significant role in the Board by bringing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinizing the Group’s performance. Their views carry significant
weight in the Board’s decision, in particular, they bring an impartial view to bear
on issues of the Group’s strategy, performance and control. All independent
non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry
expertise and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors provide
independent advice on the Group’s business strategy, results and management
so that all interests of Shareholders can be taken into account, and the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders can be protected.

The Board has four independent non-executive Directors with two of them,
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, possessing appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise in
compliance with the requirements set out in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from each of the
existing independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The changes in information of Directors are set out below pursuant to Rule
13.51(2) and Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

- The directors’ fee of Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company, has been increased to
HK$360,000 per annum with effect from 6 December 2019.
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EERIRXE

FEEEETHEECHRET TAHEZEN
EEBRE—HARBER ARRELAEENEE -
2 BERBERLTLAAESNEATEEEZER
ER-EECEBLESRTREALLEST AKX
DRIFESHXBRENRTE REAQXATEFEENTH
ARELETATHARSESERRENTRE
BEZEEREE2019F12ABLFEEZUTE
ERFALTLAAESNAG BERSEWIZI:

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Any newly
appointed Director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
operations, businesses, governance policies and the statutory regulatory
obligations and responsibilities of a director of a listed company. The Directors
have been informed of the requirement under code provision A.6.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code regarding continuous professional development.
According to the records maintained by the Company, the current Directors
received the following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the new requirement
of the Corporate Governance Code on continuous professional development for
the year ended 31 December 2019:

EERBREG gt /0% EER
BAIR LR E R HitERE#

Corporate Governance/Updates on
Laws, Rules and Regulations

Accounting/Financial/Management or
Other Professional Skills

HERE/ HEEE,
R S AR HRE B B A R SE§=
Attend Attend
Read Seminars/ Read Seminars/
EENF Name of Directors materials Briefings materials Briefings
BITES Executive Directors
EZHELE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan y Y Y y
HAD K4 Mr. Zhao Shuai y Y Y y
THEEE (R20195F Mr. Ding Yu (resigned on 30 April 2019) y Y Y y
430 BHE)
FHTES Non-executive Director
PR 5 & (7420195 Mr. Chen Shuo (resigned on y Y Y y
12868 BHE) 6 December 2019)
BUYFHTES Independent non-executive
Directors
BEXREE (20195 Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis y y Y y
12H6H BHE) (resigned on 6 December 2019)
BREELEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson y y Y y
HEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo Y Y Y y
RLFEE (R2019F Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (appointed on Y Y y y
8A26REZE) 26 August 2019)
YA BEL (R2019F Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (appointed on Y Y Y Y
8A26REZT) 26 August 2019)
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.

MEETINGS

The Board meets to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and
financial performance of the Group from time to time. Directors may participate
either in person or through electronic means of communications.

The Board will convene the board meetings at least four times a year.

The Board commits that once any Board meeting is held, it will ensure that all
Directors will be provided with relevant materials relating to the matters brought
before the meetings. They will have separate and independent access to the
senior management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and
may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Where
queries are raised by Directors, steps would be taken to respond as promptly
and fully as possible. All Directors will have the opportunity to include matters in
the agenda for Board meetings. Notices of at least 14 days of Board meetings
will be given to the Directors and Board procedures comply with the Articles, as
well as relevant rules and regulations.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are/will be
recorded in sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board and
the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the directors.

Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting are/will be

sent to the directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held.
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HZE2019F12A31ALFEE SEENEEEEE
FREASHNENEFCHIINOT :

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board
and the general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out
below:

HE EEg HEBRE
BERH RERE
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
EEHR Name of Directors Board Meeting(s)  General Meeting(s)
HTES Executive Directors
T AL Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 5/5 11
RN & Mr. Zhao Shuai 5/5 1/1
T4 (1R20195F Mr. Ding Yu (resigned on 30 April 2019) 3/3 -
48308 B 1)
FHITES Non-executive Director
R {8 55 A (20194 Mr. Chen Shuo* (resigned on 6 December 2019) 5/5 0/
12H6 B BE)
BUFEHITEE Independent non-executive Directors
FENREE (R2019F Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis (resigned on 3/4 1/1
12360 BHE) 6 December 2019)
BMEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 4/5 1/1
HEF L4 Mr. Hu Jianbo* 5/5 0/1
BR&G A4 (20195 Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (appointed on 26 August 2019) 11 -
8H26HEZE)
EFEE L (R20195F Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (appointed on 26 August 2019) 11 -
8H26BHEZEE)

: PR TERBEETEREMERRBEREHER
RRE

ZE EERBRESE
THEAECRERTAQAAHTES EFEVEE
PEERERZ—EFUHE BEWEREERR
Z— B2019F 48308 BEK -

EZHAEETEAQPTAREREXTZ— B2019F
AF30H BERM -

BENFREECREFIBEIFATES  B2019F
12B6B BEM -

BREBLEEREFHBIEHEEZEEAAQATNG
MIEHITES H2019F8H26F AW o

Mr. Chen Shuo and Mr. Hu Jianbo were unable to attend the general meeting due to other
business commitment

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Mr. Ding Yu has resigned as an executive Director, the chief financial officer, and
one of the authorized representatives with effect on 30 April 2019.

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan was appointed as one of the authorized representatives of the
Company, with effect from 30 April 2019.

Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 6 December 2019.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter were each appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 26 August
2019.
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Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2019, there is no
change in information of directors and chief executives of the Company.

Each of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Zhao Shuai, being the executive Directors of the
Company has entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific
term of three years. The service contract of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Zhao Shuai
commencing from the Listing Date, will automatically continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

Each of Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, Mr. Hu Jianbo Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, being the independent non-executive Director of the
Company, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an
initial fixed term of one year commencing from the Listing Date, 22 December
2017, 26 August 2019 and 26 August 2019 respectively and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
by served by the independent non-executive Director to our Company or with
immediate effect following the notice in writing served by our Company to the
independent non-executive Director.

The above service contracts are subject to the retirement of directors by rotation
and re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three years in
accordance with the Articles.

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on pages 44 to 51
of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2019.

FEE (AR®T)

Remuneration band (RMB)

AE

Number of individual

0-500,000 4
500,001-1,500,000 5
>1,500,000 4
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The Board has established (i) audit committee, (i) remuneration committee;
and (iii) nomination committee, with defined terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the board committees which explain their respective role and
the authority delegated to them by the Board are available on the website of
the Company at www.xingaojiao.com and the website of the Stock Exchange
at www.hkexnews.hk. The board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice and other assistance in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 20 March 2017. The primary duties of the audit committee
are to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors, review the financial statements and material advice in respect
of financial reporting, and oversee the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company. Their composition and written terms of reference are
in line with the Corporate Governance Code. As of the date of this annual report,
the audit committee comprises of three members, namely, three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Hu Jianbo, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Dr. Pang
Tsz Kit Peter, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the chairman of the audit committee.

The Group’s unaudited financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2019
and the audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been
reviewed by the audit committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of the relevant financial statements complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. The
audit committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and selection and appointment of the external auditors.
In addition, the audit committee reviewed the internal control of the Group and
oversaw the risk management and internal control systems of the Group during
the year of 2019.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, three meetings were held by the
audit committee. The individual record of each member of the audit committee
at the meetings of the audit committee is set out below:

HERE

£ZE®

BRI

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Director Meeting(s)

BXRTE (R2019F12 86 B BHT) Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis (resigned on 6 December 2019) 3/3

BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 3/3

HEKEEE Mr. Hu Jianbo 3/3

¥ FRIE L Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter* -
* EIPBRELR019FI2EHEZTBEREZESE Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter was appointed as a member of the audit committee on 6 December

B 2019
FMZEES REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
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The Company established a remuneration committee on 20 March 2017 with
written terms of reference. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments (including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment), and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Their composition and
written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. As of
the date of this annual report, the remuneration committee comprises of three
members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Hu Jianbo and Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson.
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the chairman of the remuneration committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration Committee

reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior
management.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, three meetings were held by
the remuneration committee. The individual record of each member of the
remuneration committee at the meeting of the remuneration committee is set out
below:

HEXE,

ZEg

EERE

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Director Meeting(s)

BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 3/3

ZEEEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 3/3

R EE Mr. Hu Jianbo 3/3
REZES NOMINATION COMMITTEE
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BRYXHWRE- BEXAFERA - EREZEEH=ZBK
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R2019F R REZESCRTESENEE R
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The Company established a nomination committee on 30 March 2017 with
written terms of reference. The primary duties of the nomination committee are
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis
and to recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for directors after
consideration of the nominees’ independence and quality in order to ensure
the fairness and transparency of all nominations. In identifying suitable director
candidates and making such recommendations to the Board, the nomination
committee would also take into account various aspects of a candidate, including
but not limited to his/her education background, professional experience,
experience with the relevant industry and past directorships. Their composition
and written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code.
As of the date of this annual report, the nomination committee comprises
of three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and Mr. Kwong Wai Sun
Wilson. Mr. Li Xiaoxuan is the chairman of the nomination committee.

The nomination committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, during the year of 2019.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, two meetings were held by the
nomination committee. The individual record of each member of the nomination
committee at the meetings of the nomination committee is set out below:

HERE

£Eg

R

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Directors Meeting(s)

FEHELE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 2/2

BEBXRTE (R2019F12 86 B BHT) Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis (resigned on 6 December 2019) 2/2

BHMEE & Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2

REFRE" Mr. Chan Tung Hoi* -
* g KRB ER0IIFEI2FCHEZFBIZREEZESE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi was appointed as a member of the nomination committee on 6 December

= 2019
RAWE COMPANY SECRETARY

¥N/NEST: SN _JTV/U;?%ﬂ” z+  HBEBEFBERN  The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Wong Wai Ling, whose biography
AERIEERGREEEBWEREFIE] —HF details are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
i’fl*“iz:ti’JE%]*J: MR REE320FZRME-BRF  and Senior Management” in this annual report. Ms. Wong Wai Ling has been
ELEMBRREIRZHEE EEKLLLTEBAZA  informed of the requirement of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Ms. Wong Wai
AEER RBEHE E',ﬁ‘dimi ERREFTEESE  Ling has informed the Company that she has taken at least 15 hours of training
FHEBFESTOMNEE- covering corporate governance and accounting matters per annum during the

Bt % B R

EEEHERVBERVBRMNXETESER
RARARAEEBAMRFENNBRER  ZF
BHEBERLOFRAEBRRARBREKE L F
REZBENTBERR RERRERE-EZEY
THAEZEBRIREAKEERTBEECENREIBRE

AREFANEHRBERNENERTAPEE -

ARABIBRBEZ KETHEBREEYER
TNEFHRAFR(BULBMKRE] -6

Reporting Period to comply with the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the finance department,
is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company
and the Group for each financial year which shall give a true and fair view
of the financial position, performance and cash flow of the Company and its
subsidiaries for that period. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external auditor, on the

financial statements are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” in this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee of the Board is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the authorized
external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the
external auditors. The Company engages Ernst & Young as its external auditor.
Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during the year ended 31
December 2019 are as follows.

AREBT T

RMB’000

% E AR Audit services 4,500
I E R Non-audit services 0
4,500
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as
are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before them for approval. The management
provides all members of the board with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are featured with a
defined management structure with limits of authority and well-rounded policies
and procedures, and are designed to facilitate effective and efficient operations,
to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard assets
of the Group. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
also recognises its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
In addition, the Audit Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. From the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Company has adopted the
following policies and procedures and taken the following measures to improve
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



ARREREERABEFNRGNERE A2 F
ERUZEEEREZEHERF ((AREERRIE
FREFDURERN FEREEEEERXBER
FEHNEREAR ADQAKEBNEDHTRFMET
REBEERAMBEEET  UBBEERR B
ERBREERABEHEF AKESREEEE
e RFABENREr EREARAREE
YOESEEREIMNRAELERIRAEEFTEEZR
MewARARAEDNNER EAAASREERE
MBPT EFETETEREESERRSHE
Ut R ER A EEEREERMBERTEN
R

FEALABRBERARZTEBERERESR AQH
EEERSHEFENRAREH TR UHRREE
EReE EERBEAENER ADATFER
AEEFEEIREBETETANAREER A
EHER AANAEE-—ERRTE EERE
MEERR WM ARFTCHEBARETE
BEEVWHRRERRERF 2 TEH URREAKERE
EABEENBEME - BB EENC ZTME R
FEREE  FENMHAUEINTARRRASE
VEABKRETESERELZESHENEE It
HREFEHEFLHRR -

B BEREZESEEXEREMOBE T AL
AN BRI MEEEHETES E-FalkT
REEENBEE BRAREERABENREN
BERERRADANEHEENRERRE -AFS
TEERTAHLAREBREER K IEFHEE
BER AQFERIAIEFSAF SEELAQT
REHEGCXERTAENES  THREARQIFR
e R A BRI A R

AARBERALAEERSREEERHAIHE
ERIRE UBRRIUEHLAARBEELEEATE
NFEEBEEERBRGE NG TRERSE
EEM-—ERZESRAEREZNEFNERER
VERKHE AR (WBE)RBEESEL
LNEERETEFEHIE-

TEEBRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management and internal
control system, the Company has established various management and
control procedures a (“Risk Management and Internal Control Procedures”) for
identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant risks associated with the
achievement of its operational objectives. The Company will conduct complete
the Risk Management and Internal Control Procedures with scientific analysis and
assessment, to recognize potential risk points. By virtue of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Procedures, the senior management of the Group reviews
and evaluates the internal control process, monitors any risk factors on a regular
basis, and reports to the Board on any findings and measures taken to address
such variances and identified risks. The Board, with the assistance of the senior
management of the Company, also conducts regular management meetings and
on-site inspections to check and monitor the potential risks associated with the
business operation and financial management of the Group.

With the integration of the real situation of the Company and various applicable
laws and regulations, the management of the Company can act in concert with
such to develop solutions towards the risks, to organize the business operation
systematically, and to monitor and mitigate possible risks. The Company also
requires all staff of the Group to comply with certain internal risk management
and internal control standards, and together build a regulatory environment
of risk control and standardized operation. In addition, the Company has also
established policies and procedures with clear segregation of duties applicable
to certain operating units to ensure the effectiveness of risk management
and internal controls. The day-to-day operation is also entrusted to the
individual department or school, which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance, and is required to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board
or the Audit Committee. This process is subject to continuous improvement.

Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor, the Audit Committee
will supervise the Company’s revenue and expenditure for the financial and
economic activities, to further strengthen the functions of risk management, to
ensure the effective implementation of risk management and internal control
system and the Company’s standardized operation and healthy development. In
order to comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance
Code in relation to the corporate risk management and internal controls, the
Company has established an internal audit department for the purposes of
simultaneous updates between the corporate governance and the Code on
Corporate Governance and continuously improving the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal controls.

The Company has provided inside information training courses to the Directors
and senior management of the Company to ensure that all relevant facts and
circumstances that may have material effect on the share price of the Company
is assessed in a timely manner and that any material information which
comes to the knowledge of any one or more officers of the Group be promptly
identified, assessed and, if appropriate, escalated for the attention of the Board
to determine whether a disclosure is required.
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The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound and effective
internal control systems are maintained so as to safeguard the Group’s assets
and the interest of Shareholders. The Board has developed its systems of
internal control and risk management and is also responsible for reviewing and
maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of the risk management and internal control
and considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are adequate and being implemented effectively. Such review covered
all material controls, financial, compliance and operational controls as well as
risk management mechanisms.

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, has also reviewed
and was satisfied with the adequacy of the Company’s resources, the staff's
qualifications and experience, the training courses and the related budgets in
accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more member(s) of the
Company (“Shareholder(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board of the Company by mail at 25/F, Tower A, Global
Trade Center, No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng District, Beijing, the
PRC, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the Board of Directors of the Company (Board of Directors) by mail at
25/F, Tower A, Global Trade Center, No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng
District, Beijing, the PRC or by email ir@xingaojiao.com. The company secretary
of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications relating to matters
within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions and inquiries, to the
chief executive officer of the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the Memorandum and the Articles on 20 March 2017,
which has been effective since 20 March 2017 and the Listing Date, respectively.
There has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with Shareholders of the Company and investors. Therefore,
the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
the investors and the shareholders of the Company receiving accurate, clear,
comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the publication of annual
reports, announcements and circular. The Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on the Company’s website at www.xingaojiao.com. The Board
and senior management of the Company maintain regular dialogues with
institutional investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed
of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. Members of the
Board and the Board committees will attend the annual general meeting of the
Company and answer questions raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions
would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting poll before putting a resolution to vote. The results of
the voting by poll will be declared at the meeting and published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 29 March 2019.
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account, among others, the financial results
of the Group, the general financial conditions of the Group, cash flow, capital
requirements and surplus of the Group and the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The Dividend Policy adopted by the Board is intended for the
Company to maintain adequate cash reserves to meet its capital requirements,
fund its future growth and enhance shareholder value when dividends are
recommended.
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To the shareholders of
China New Higher Education Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New Higher
Education Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 121 to 228, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

Key audit matter
BEENSE

Business Combinations

EHEH

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group completed acquisitions
of Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College, Guangxi Yinghua
International Occupation Middle School and Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua
International Occupation and Technology School (collectively referred to as
“Guangxi Schools”) and Science and Technology College of Hubei Minzu
University (“Central China School”) at total consideration of approximately
RMB258.9 million and RMB603.8 million, respectively. The accounting for
these acquisitions involved significant judgement of the management for the
purchase price allocation mainly in relation to the valuation of property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, land use rights, and the remaining
goodwill balance. The Group engaged an external independent appraiser to
perform the valuation.
BZE2019F12A31HLFE BERED I UBAREN ARYE258.9
BETRARBCIEEL TR NEERRERBRBEZR -
EEREFEEFBESRMERER EMmRMNREFFBERM
BR(ABAIBEEERDURBERKEREBRFER ([FEH
BR]) ZEWENSTEESREEEHBREERIENE
RHAE FTEZEENE - BRERZE REYE- T HERER
BRTRHEESRNEE EREZRNNB L AEMETHE

Information about the acquisitions were disclosed in Note 3 Summary of
significant accounting policies — Business combinations and goodwill and
Note 31 Business combination to the financial statements.
EEZEWBENEREBER U B RRMAIEA ST H R E -
EBEHREERWENEHE SO -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENETNNEERRETSE

Our audit procedures, among others, included an assessment
of the valuation methodologies adopted by the appraiser and
the assumptions used in valuation of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. We involved our internal valuation expert
to assist us with assessing the competency, capabilities
and objectivity of the external appraiser, reviewing the
methodologies and the assumptions by reference to the
historical experience and the available market information.
We checked the accounting for preliminary allocation of the
purchase consideration.

EZENBREFER (EHhEE) TAEEMERN
HEFEIRFRBEERMAEEEGREMANR
R BENRARBEESERG Y EEMHIMNEGER
MEBE BOIREEM USZBARLBETATS
EXNERNEELT EARBR -EEREBERENDS
PEMETERE -
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Key audit matter
BREHEE

Income Tax

Vi xA

As set out in note 11 to the financial statements, according to the
Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private Education, private
schools for which the school sponsors do not require reasonable returns
are eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatments as public schools.
The preferential tax treatment polices applicable to private schools
requiring reasonable returns are to be separately formulated by the relevant
authorities under the State Council.

M BERERMINAME RE(PEARATBRBHERE
EEREA)  BREPETFERGENBNRP|EREGERE
THAREBRERBNHRREERSFE -BEBR T EBHEBIMES
THEEARERCENRRPIERNBKERSFERE -

No corporate income tax was provided on the income from the provision
of formal education services by Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Northeast
School, Guangxi Schools and Central China School (the “PRC Private
Schools”). In accordance with the historical tax returns filed to the relevant
tax authorities and the tax compliance confirmations obtained therefrom,
the PRC Private Schools did not pay corporate income tax for the income
from formal educational services and has enjoyed the preferential tax
treatment since their establishment. As a result, no income tax expense was
recognised for the income from the provision of formal educational services
by the PRC Private Schools during the year.
EEBUTENREHER EMNER RILER BERERRES
ER(THERMER RHEEREREAESHBWATRES
iR - BEBENEENRBEHRBERERINBIMRARRAER
BEREHERSHREERER TERWHERLRBEER
ERBIABSWABMNERMEHR BEBERYIUR-—EZEHRNK
BEESFE A RERLEFRFERNERREMEBENE REK
ISR ARREHMAEZ-

There were significant judgements involved in management’s analysis and
assessment, such as the assessment on the possible outcome of the tax
provision based on historical experiences and interpretation of the relevant
tax laws and regulations in respect of the preferential tax treatment enjoyed
by the PRC Private Schools.

EEEBNOMRTIGIRERHE  HIMRERELLERTHH
BEEENITRER UREBTERBREREZEENHINEERHE
BRHEBTRERERNERE

Information about the income tax was disclosed in Note 3 Summary of
significant accounting policies — Income tax and Note 11 /ncome tax to the
financial statements.
FEFAEBHMNERNBEEN M BRRMIIEAS T HEME -
FEHRMWENAEH -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENENNMEEBRESSER

The audit procedures included the following:
BT RFERUATRE:

Discussed with management to evaluate their
interpretation of the tax laws and their assessment of the
tax obligations of the schools operated by the Group for
the current year;

HEBEEN R FEREEREINBERAEES
EEAFEKEERNMAB BHEHTME

Evaluated management’s assessment on the application
of preferential tax or applicable tax rate to the respective
schools;
T EEEYSEREAGERELERBE
B FEA4

Examined the historical tax filing returns filed to the
relevant tax authorities and checked confirmations from
the local tax bureaus, where appropriate;

BTN EEREHEARTINBTABRER IWEH
BOELHEEAERR (HER)

Discussed with the Group’s external PRC legal advisors
to understand their view with respect to the interpretation
of the existing applicable laws which would have impact
on the applicable tax on the respective schools; and
HEEENTENMCEEBERN® THREEY
ROTEREENBENEREY 25 L2ESHRE
RHNBRATEEESE R

Assessed the eligibility of the preferential tax treatment of
schools with the assistance of our internal tax specialist
by reviewing the applicable tax laws and regulations,
any new policies or rules, and historical tax returns
filed to assess if the management’s understanding and
interpretation could be supported.
EEMOARNBHEBERNGY T BREEEA
B BCE R AR ARG R B AR FHE
MESERHRLHE FHERNBKEESFBER
UG REAHAEEENIEMR MR-
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Key audit matter

HMRETEE

Revenue Recognition

VONTd

Revenue mainly comprised the tuition fees and boarding fees from students,
and these fees are collected through the official payment channels at
the beginning of each academic year. Students’ identity and applicable
program are registered with the relevant education authorities. Tuition and
boarding fees are calculated by reference to number of students and the
annual fee of applicable program for the academic year, and is recognized
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. For the
portion of tuition and boarding fees received from students but not earned
is recorded as deferred revenue. Given the significant amount and volume
of transactions and the risk of overstatement of revenue, we considered it a
key audit matter.

BRAFEREBLEERAIBEAN ZZERARSEFHEB W
EREAXARERDN -BLENEHREAREBRECREBRHE
ERBT -BERAIBENZSRZEFNELYERERARE
NWEEFE YREAREHBERRBIZRLEHIEIAR B WRE
RAENBEBERSEEBOTFTAELERA - ZREZZH
SHEREEEARBTARANEAR EEREAERETSE.

Information about the revenue recognition was disclosed in Note 3 Summary
of significant accounting policies — Revenue recognition and Note 6
Revenue, other income and gains to the financial statements.
FERABINERRBERV B RRWIIEA ST HRE -
WAEZRMTOMA - Eftt 722 R 1Z 75 o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENENNMEEBRESSER

Our audit procedures included understanding the basis of
revenue recognition and the overall transaction process and
procedures adopted by the management; and we tested
management’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
receipts process made through the official payment channels.
On a sampling basis, we reviewed and checked the relevant
supporting documentation including the student payment
records, official student records registered with the relevant
education authorities, and the payment remittance receipts
of tuition and boarding fees. In addition, we recalculated the
amount of deferred revenue and the revenue recognized in the
period. We also checked the related disclosures.
EENETEFER THREEERMANBABRIELE
REARXZEBEREF -BETHREANEBESR
BXNMEENRANBERANEZETRI-FE
MEEEREIREEX G (BREEEHETH NEH
HEAKBEMHNEANBLETHRRITEERTRESE
MWEMWE) ETERARBE - WIN ELEEHFEE
HEBRASERRBABRINBA - EETREEER
BEEIE
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OTHER
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Qur report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

o report is Lawrence K.W. Lau.
ZXKERI S KA Ernst & Young
B EEZ A Certified Public Accountants
BB Hong Kong
202053 A 23H 23 March 2020
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HEE R RABS0F2ANAILEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

20194 20184
2019 2018
Bz AR¥T T ARBET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
PN REVENUE 6 1,089,221 561,450
FE AR Cost of sales (546,582) (275,029)
EF Gross profit 542,639 286,421
Htt B R IE S Other income and gains 6 163,090 166,044
HERDHEHAX Selling and distribution expenses (13,957) (5,434)
THEAX Administrative expenses (84,891) (53,701)
Hhp Other expenses (27,208) (38,567)
=N Finance costs 7 (93,806) (77,970)
R Bt A& R PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 485,867 276,793
FriefHimEx Income tax expense 11 (55,513) (22,525)
F R F PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 430,354 254,268
MTALTHERN: Attributable to:
BRAREEA Owners of the parent 386,446 242,530
JFERER Non-controlling interests 43,908 11,738
430,354 254,268
BAREBERKREEWN EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EREF ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT 13
EX(ARY) Basic (RMB)
- FEREF — For profit for the year 0.26 0.17
BE (ARY) Diluted (RMB)
- FRHEF — For profit for the year 0.26 0.17
2019 ANNUAL REPORT %R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

FREF

Ht2EER
REZHMBBTEENRIBEE
BEENHM2EER

BEMBRRNER EH

REEZBMBEITEEHNIEE
BENHEM2EERFH

BREAFARMEZEER

FAZEWRSAE

LT AL HEAE:
BATERAA
RS

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS THAT WILL NOT
BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS
IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS

Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements

Net other comprehensive loss that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

20195 20185
2019 2018
AR¥ET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
430,354 254,268
(12,403) (41,745)
(12,403) (41,745)
(12,403) (41,745)
417,951 212,523
374,043 200,785
43,908 11,738
417,951 212,523
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4 & B IS AR R R 2019128318
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 DECEMBER 2019

HRBEE

ME - BERRE
BREYE
EREEE
AN EERIR
kS
HitELEE
HiERBEE

FRBEERE

RBEE

BARE HtERFIER

Hib&EE
X SRR N
EHRFER
RERRTEEY
HitRBEE

RBEERE

RBAEE

IEEW A
HitE N FIARETER
s ERITR ALK

I FIE W 31
FE A+ %i 18

RBEERE

RBEEFE

EERERRBER

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets

Prepaid land lease payments
Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Pledged deposits

Time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current assets

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Deferred income

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

BraE

Notes

14
15
16(b)
16(a)
17
18
19

20
21
21
21

22
23

24
25

20195 20184
2019 2018
ARET T AREETF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
3,089,932 2,116,119
210,292 161,426
477,036 -
= 203,930
225,379 196,114
21,223 18,531
825,766 1,407,690
4,849,628 4,103,810
104,004 131,470
380,832 63,534
107,500 55,000
559,007 294,630
394 5,065
1,151,737 549,699
725,363 472,928
645,379 488,762
698,877 625,324
10,622 9,775
44,259 35,566
2,124,500 1,632,355
(972,763) (1,082,656)
3,876,865 3,021,154
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R & B & AR OR & 20195128318
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 DECEMBER 2019

20195 20184
2019 2018
et AR¥ET T AR¥ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEBITREMMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 24 787,952 661,523
IE 3 W = Deferred income 25 35,698 31,001
ELEFRIESE Deferred tax liabilities 27 101,559 49,419
IRBEERETE Total non-current liabilities 925,209 741,943
EEFE Net assets 2,951,656 2,279,211
= EQUITY
BRAEEAELESR Equity attributable to owners of the parent
i Share capital 28 1,056 983
18 Reserves 30 2,484,475 1,856,011
2,485,531 1,856,994
FERER Non-controlling interests 466,125 422 217
M RE 2 Total equity 2,951,656 2,279,211
Li Xiao Xuan Zhao Shuai
=2 #H Bh
Director Director
EE EE
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Other interest income from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties
Depreciation of right-of-use assets/
recognition of land lease payments
Amortisation of government grants
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Impairment of prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Provision for prepayment for investment
for Xinjiang School
Equity-settled share option expense

Decrease in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets
Decrease in other current assets
Decrease in other payables and accruals
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Prepaid land lease payments

Receipt of government grants for property,
plant and equipment

Additions to other intangible assets

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Proceeds from disposal of wealth
management products

Prepayment on investments

Increase in time deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

BreE

Notes

14
15

16

25
18

31

20194 20184
2019 2018
AR¥T T ARBET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
485,867 276,793
93,806 77,970
(10,169) (8,187)
(1,582) -
581 27
111,991 44,804
4,365 1,435
13,957 2,824
(18,467) (12,515)
6,892 4,349
2,171 1,023

- 30,975

4,450 5,772
693,862 425,270
126,167 305,299
4,671 882
(152,808) (272,118)
147,911 (5,096)
819,803 454,237
13,523 3,949
(2,417) (1,450)
830,909 456,736
(338,471) (314,506)
1,324 1,045
(43,877) (27,083)
10,442 -
(8,867) (8,759)
82,584 (190,698)
52,761 -
(252,020) (507,144)
(107,500) (33,534)
(603,624) (1,080,679)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

20194 20184
2019 2018
Bz AR¥T T AR®ET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEE (FTA) it CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM
BHERE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BITRHOBRIE Proceeds from issues of shares 335,594 -
IR0 2 ATRA X Share issue expenses (2,879) -
BRI REEMER TA New bank and other borrowings 852,841 1,704,396
& {%fﬁ TREMER Repayment of bank and other borrowings (724,460) (816,253)
HERENEERS Principal portion of lease payments (7,297) -
2FAE Interest paid (71,845) (78,239)
2NRE Dividends paid (82,671) (74,418)
2K 17 RGN Increase in pledged deposits (317,298) -
2 YR B R 7 B Receipt of government grants -~ 6,808
CUW— R EB AT FEIERRAEZ  Cash receipts from capital contributions from
HEMEBRS non-controlling interest of a subsidiary = 112,199
BEEE (FFA) P88 £ Net cash flows (used in)/from
MEFH financing activities (18,015) 854,493
ReRReEEYEMER NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 209,270 230,550
FURERBREEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 349,630 118,648
NEEEEBENEE, FHE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 107 432
FREEREASEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 559,007 349,630
RERBSEBYHERKRIM ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
RERWITLEE Cash and bank balances 559,007 294,630
REEERIBEA= ﬂﬁl B Non-pledged time deposits with original
DARNEKHAEHER maturity of less than three months
when acquired 21 - 55,000
FREBBEMRRNRARAE LK Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
REZEEY the consolidated statement of
financial position 21 559,007 349,630
BEBRERERFTMNE LR Cashand cash equivalents as stated
REEEY in the consolidated statement
of cash flows 21 559,007 349,630
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

ARIER

AT R2016F7ASHRIBEBHEFHES AR E
HMEZBEREERA AR KA E &M
& b 1t B Cricket Square * Hutchins Drive » P.O.
Box 2681 » Grand Cayman KY1-1111 > Cayman
Islands e 2R X A R2017F4B19R E B BB S
RBAMAERAR (THRA]) ER LM

RABAB—FRREEZRRAT - FR KAFR

EHMBAR (GBI AEE)EREHEA
RANE ([HEREREHRBHBERS -

BARHEQRANER
ADNAEEHBADHENT

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 8 July 2016.
The registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 19 April 2017.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally engaged in rendering private education services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

A

&R WERAMARERNE

Place and date of

incorporation/registration

Name and operation

AAASBECERREERAT 201658 B5H

(MEERA]) " HE/ RE R
Tibet Daai Huihuang Information 5 August 2016,
and Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China

(“Huihuang Company”) *
ERAEBEEERNRERLH

ZHMERAKEREEEBRAE" 2005F58198

R/ R E R
Yunnan Einsun Education 19 May 2005,
Investment Group Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China

EHERRHEREGEERLT

ERIfER ([EMER]) " 2005894298
hE HE R
Yunnan Technology and 29 September 2005,
Business University (“Yunnan School”) * PRC/Mainland China
EFIBER

EMIBREZR ([ENER]) " 201257838
REL ER
Guizhou Technology and 3 July 2012,
Business Institute (“Guizhou School”) * PRC/Mainland China
ENIBRXER

BROTER/ N
R AEE EiERERS L TEEH
Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
ordinary/ registered interest attributable
share capital to the Company Principal activities
;3 LiE:
Direct Indirect
1,000,000 7T - 100% REERMREDER RS
(T£xl)
United States dollar - 100% Rendering of technical and
(“USD") 1,000,000 management consultancy
services
ARB(TARY]) - 100% BREZER
34,900,959t
Renminbi - 100% Investment holding
(“RMB") 34,900,959
AR #16,000,0007 - 100% REHBERH
RMB16,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
services
AR #64,240,0007 - 100% REHERS
RMB64,240,000 - 100% Rendering of education
SEervices
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1. ARER (&) 1.
ERBATMER (&)
ADNTEESWBATEBOT : (F)

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

ML R BRTER/ NG
£ BERARREELH ZMRAEE EEREBDL TEED
Place and date of Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/registration ordinary/ registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
¢ L
Direct Indirect
TREREREREBREME LR 2012610A168 - AR #300,000,0007C - 100% REZRK
HE/ RE R
Beijing Aiyinsheng Education Investment 16 October 2012, RMB300,000,000 - 100% Investment holding

Co., Ltd. *
TREREREREBREELA

PRC/Mainland China

RREBEEEER ([RELER]) - 2003F58228 AR#21,372,0007 - 7391% REHFRSB
REL/ HElR
Harbin Huade University 22 May 2003, RMB21,372,000 - 73.91%™ Rendering of education
(“Northeast School”) * PRC/Mainland China services
RREEEZR
BHEREBELR (DTEER]) T 2013578190 AE#10,000,0007 - 5% RIEHARHE
HE/ HER
Luoyang Science and Technology 19 July 2013, RMB10,000,000 - 55%** Rendering of education
Vocational College (*Henan School”) * PRC/Mainland China services
REREBEZR
ERREARBXZR 2006518208 AR #33,000,0007 - 01%™ REHFRSB
(TERER]) HE/ RE R
Guangxi Yinghua International 20 January 2006 RMB33,000,000 - 51%** Rendering of education
Occupation College PRC/Mainland China Services
(“Guangxi Schools”) *
ERAZEARBESR
BRAZEERBESRMETE 20065458108 A K #5,000,0007 - 51% REHARE
(TERZR]) " HE/ RE R
Guangxi Yinghua International 10 April 2006 RMB5,000,000 - 51%** Rendering of education

Occupation Middle School
(“Guangxi Schools”) *
ERAZERBEZRNEHE

PRC/Mainland China

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

EMAL R
% BWERANREELY
Place and date of
incorporation/registration
Name and operation

BEAGMNEEFABRERMNER 2009%10H268

(TERZR]) HE R ER
Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International 26 October 2009
Occupation and Technology School PRC/Mainland China

(“Guangxi Schools”) *

BERNRZERBERMER

WERBREREER 20101818
(TERER]) " HE/ RERL
Science and Technology College of 1 January 2010
Hubei Minzu University PRC/Mainland China
(“Central China School”) *
HERKAEREER
TRREHEZEARRDL A 2017878268
R R E R
Beijing Daai Education Consulting Co., Ltd. * 26 July 2017,
TRAREHEZEABRDA PRC/Mainland China
HEBBHENEERAR" 20178E8A11R
hE/ HE R
Gansu Lanbo Education Technology 11 August 2017,
Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China

HERBEANEEBRAT

BRTER/ N
AR AEE EERETD L TEED
Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
ordinary/ registered interest attributable
share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# E:3
Direct Indirect
AR #5,000,0007T - 51%" REBERE
RMB5,000,000 - 51%** Rendering of education
Services
AR #3,000,0007T - 100% REHBERH
RMB3,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
services
AR #147,992,4327C - 100% REEZER
RMB147,992,432 - 100% Investment holding
AR #300,000,0007¢ - 100% REZR
RMB300,000,000 - 100% Investment holding

* HRZELARALESTEMESRERE  BAitZ
ERNANEXEWMHADDEEERARTER
HEEEWA -

RUAEBR - THERREASRA/RQARAFEZEN
BRANMBART ARADTAHREETRHE
Bt ERMBAR AR

RAFEXN AEBBEBYE=ZTWEERA
EREEFER - WBNE-SHFBERY
IR R M LS

ERIPESARIBZZEFEXEIABK
RAREEFEETRZMBIZARTNWE R
A-EERA/ARHUHEMAMBRAANFESE
HRBEBBRITR-

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by management
of the Company to directly translate the Chinese names as the companies do not
register any official English names.

Northeast School, Henan School and Guangxi Schools are subsidiaries of non-wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries
by virtue of the Company’s control over them.

During the year, the Group acquired Guangxi Schools and Central China
School from independent third parties. Further details of the acquisitions
are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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21 RBEEE

132

MBBRRDBBEEBSHMOAS([EBES
Mo EMNEBYBREER ([EEY
BHREER ] BEAEESBYBREER
BREEFEA([ERSFEADRZB)R
BEEARETRAUREB QARG NIKE
RERR REMERZQFETEN UK
BERDBRBEELERNEPREH - ZE B ®R
RUARBEY BERZHBEBEN FEE
BENBREREBEONTUH-

KEBFR2019F12A3BHZEREBE G T
EARMI72 763,0007T (20184 : AR #&
1,082,656,0007T ) °

ENFRBEERRN RIAGFEEREH
ERETHESEN R EYBRERK &S
EEEZEAEENARRABDESTRRER
HUAMERE-

REBRALENRERAN ESEMEE
EREIRARARYBECINHEEZEE
THEHYBREFE - AHEASETEEENE
ARBESHE AEECEARFEMBH
BREEHRTEEURNIMNMBERE-

At EERR BEECEEERRMBR
RP/EBE-MASERERSEEELE A
AEHBARUMBAEEEEZEIREESE:
URpAEHENEMHMEEFLEE-
ZERABNSETERRRTBRERA -

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for wealth management products
which has been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB972,763,000 as at
31 December 2019 (2018: RMB1,082,656,000).

In view of the net current liabilities position, the directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the cash inflow from operations, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. To mitigate any liquidity issues that
might be faced by the Group, the Group has obtained adequate banking
facilities from reputable financial institutions to meet its obligations as and
when they fall due.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the financial
statements.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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21 RHEEE (&) 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

REER
GEVEBRREEAQRAREMBAR (K
WBIAEE])BZE2019F128318 L FE W
HEBR-MBAREAQAAEEREEE
HHER (BREBLER) BEXAEEER
SHREHEINWEBRTEMAETE RN
ERSEEEEASEK - W EEENEH
HEEHRWEND (NS AEEB AT B
FTEREHERNEBTINREGERN) &
ZE RS IS EFIE

EXANAEERBEERTIRREHRI KRS
HHRRFBEURERN EFEHREHERY
REUSNWEIR AEESZRMANEER
EEMNERL B85

(@) BEREHJKEMKABFEENSNZR
B

b)) EHtSHNZHELENER R
(€ AEREHORREREERRE

MEBARNMBRREAERQAT -—BNE
ARREE-BRENERR - MEBLARANE
AHAAEEERGESES BB ASRSRE
THEFTAGEREEZEHELKLERS
ko

BERkHEMGZEAVRENSEARBOEER
AEESRAANEEARFERES BE
HEREEHFERESEBMESR -AKE
BREQARBRZSENABESEERLARBEA
EHEE EE WR BAXRREREHR
REREEHE-

MEERBERER EXAMAN=ZHEFRERE
Z—ARZEHREL AEESEHFML
HEGEFMWRRES - R-—BHNEQIRNE
EREERSY (TEXEZEHE) DEAESR
PN L

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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2.1

2.2

mEEE (/)

REEE ()

MAEBAREZHMBE AT WERE BIER
LtBRR)ZHBARNEE (BEBHEIRE
& ()VEMFEEREZVEREE S R A
EHENEHELEZSE, THRIANE WEREHN
AEE; (IMEARBEREN D FE R(i)Fr
EEUYRESBEIANTABEERLEM LA
EREMEEINEERNANE B EWGAER
BHEFP>EZEEHEFEEAN (WEAR) -
EERASEEEHENREEREENTE
FRANEEMER-

B BREREESD

AEBCRAFEECHBERREXNEMATS
KASETZE R o
ERUBREENESE AAEHEZEIENEM
A
EBMBERELRE S HE
EREHENSIEy  HENEY GHELE

IM.\

PN
BREN RSN RHELAREELTHR
CHEN HEn
BEMBRERBRE FEHEEHTEEM

S-REBESE
BBYBHEER015F
BNTEZEENE

BEMBRELEUEN B
BRBRELAEIR
BREHERERRE
BE T REAERR 2B

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,

HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19, and HKAS 28, and
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which are not relevant
to the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature and the
impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:

(A) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(FRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all
leases under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for certain
recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles
as in HKAS 17. For a sublease arrangement, the classification of
the sublease is made by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease, instead of by reference to the underlying
asset. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not have any financial impact on
leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. Under
this method, the standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits at 1 January 2019, and the
comparative information for 2018 was not restated and continued
to be reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.
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22 EFFBEEEESE (&)
(A) (#&)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(A) (CONTINUED)
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New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to
direct the use of the identified asset. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a
lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office premises
and land. As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as
either finance leases or operating leases based on the assessment
of whether the lease transferred substantially all the rewards
and risks of ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16,
the Group applies a single approach to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except for
two elective exemptions for leases of low-value assets (elected on
a lease-by-lease basis) and leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less (“short-term leases”) (elected by class of underlying asset).
Instead of recognising rental expenses under operating leases on a
straight-line basis over the lease term commencing from 1 January
2019, the Group recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any)
of the right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the outstanding
lease liabilities (as finance costs).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(A) (CONTINUED)
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As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases
(continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 and included in
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The right-of-use assets
were measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the
lease recognised in the statement of financial position immediately
before 1 January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based on HKAS
36 on that date. The Group elected to present the right-of-use
assets separately in the statement of financial position.

For the leasehold land and buildings (that were held to earn rental
income) previously included in investment properties, the Group has
continued to include them as investment properties at 1 January
2019. They continue to be measured under HKAS 40. For the lease
previously accounted for as operating lease and entered into for
earning sublease rental income, the related right-of-use asset of
the head lease amounting to RMB1,130,000 was measured at cost
at 1 January 2019, and have been accounted for and classified as
investment properties applying HKAS 40 from that date.

The Group has used the following elective practical expedients
when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

° Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with a
lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of initial
application

° Using hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend/terminate the lease
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22 B HEREESS (&) 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(A) (#&) (A) (CONTINUED)
R2019F1 1A 2B & Financial impact at 1 January 2019
R2019F 1 A1 ARMEET KRS ER The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1 January
FIREEZEZENT 2019 was as follows:
18
Increase
ARET T
RMB’000
BE Assets
EREEEEM Increase in right-of-use assets 205,750
FEN LA ERERD Decrease in prepaid land lease payment (203,930)
EEAEEM Increase in total assets 1,820
8fE Liabilities
R IT R E A S FIE Increase in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,820
R2019F1 AR 2 E B EHER20185F The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the
12A3THZREHERECHERENT operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 are as
follows:
ARBET T
RMB’000
FA2018F 1231 H 2 K& HERIE Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 27,366
R2019F 1 A1 A 2 B2 B RFAE Incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019 3.82%-4.26%
A2019F1 B1H 2 BRIR L&A EAIE  Discounted operating lease commitments as at 1 January 2019 25,723
BB AR E R FRTEH Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and
HZE2019F12831BH ZATLE/Y those leases with a remaining lease term ended on or
HEBBAIE before 31 December 2019 (1,283)
AEBEFRAENERERZHELY Leases not yet commenced to which the Group is committed (22,620)
R2019F1A1AZEESE Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 1,820
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(B) HK(FRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects
the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies
outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with
uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
(ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax
treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes
in facts and circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation,
the Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions
arising from the transfer pricing on its intergroup services. Based
on the Group’s tax compliance and transfer pricing study, the Group
determined that it is probable that its transfer pricing policy will be
accepted by the tax authorities. Accordingly, the interpretation did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business’

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material’
HKAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the
definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an integrated set
of activities and assets to be considered a business, it must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs.
Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide
guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively
from 1 January 2020. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
transactions or other events that occur on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the
date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the effects of
interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting. The amendments
provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the replacement of an existing
interest rate benchmark. In addition, the amendments require companies
to provide additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020. Early application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material.
The new definition states that information is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects to measure the non-controlling interests at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is measured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its wealth management products at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

143



144

Bt 3% 3 R Mt 5T B E2019F 12831 ILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

EXSEHHRME (&)

A¥ETE (F)

RRUBRRRCHEERINEEREM
M AEBREREPERBRUBEA
FENEMEBEANBERNHABBE
D E UEESEZMAEEHANE -

FEMEENRE

MEPSRPERARENAYEEETEE
AENR (SRMEERN)  AYZEENT
WESEETHT - AENTRESE®
ZEERBSELERNEREERL AT
BEARSERE)AEERSTE LA
HEEMBE BRECHEERBELER
AERELBYREHEEREEARINES
FAEUBRT  TRESEREEFBY
HeEEBUMBRE-

REBEECTEEREEBEATHE SR
TR - EERABER At RRAE
RERTRMRESTESHERSEBERERE
ERERRBNFENBATRERTESRE
BEBERELHEARBEETEZFTHDR
EHEEME -—HWIHER PR

REREHBARIETGREEFRERAL
FCEIANBESRETBEELRD W
R2EWER - BT W e £ 58 - LA R A
EE (MERMBESRETCRUBREEE
ARESHENGRERED  BREEN
EHETEERBRUATFELIARAHEERR
BEBENERLTNREE (NBREFMFTE
Mok HEEREMEIRIRKRIDN R
EEENBORELPBFTTABRE - EIIE
MT BREBERORBEZEGEE ZHEHE
B BEETETEE-

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person

U]
(i)
(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Buildings 1.9% t0 12.1%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 37.5%
Motor vehicles 19.4%
Furniture and fixtures 12.1%

Electronic devices 19.4% to 32.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION (CONTINUED)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset (2018: leasehold property
under an operating lease) which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and provision for any impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on
the straight-line basis to write off the cost of an investment property to
its residual value over its estimated useful life of 50 years or over the
remaining lease term.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the costs of the item can be measured reliably;
otherwise, the expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as
property, plant and equipment, and its carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If an item of
property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because
its use has changed, the transfer does not change the carrying amount of
the property transferred, nor does it change the cost of that property for
measurement or disclosure purposes.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment

property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five
years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

LEASES (APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2019)
(CONTINUED)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Office premises

50 years
3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2019)
(CONTINUED)

Group as a lessee (continued)

()

()

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
its short-term leases of staff dormitories (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2019)
(CONTINUED)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as other income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the
Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

LEASES (APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as finance
leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases,
are included in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The finance costs of such leases are charged to the statement of profit
or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease
terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are

accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2019)
(CONTINUED)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received
from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. The Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”") on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follow:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or l0ss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes wealth management products. Interest income from
wealth management products classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss is also recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primary derecognised (i.e. removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component
or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group'’s financial liabilities include other payables and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follow:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the year, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Tuition and boarding fees received from college are generally paid in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. The
portion of tuition and boarding payments received from students but not
earned is recorded as a contract liability and is reflected as a current
liability as such amount represents revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year. The academic year of the Group’s colleges is generally
from September to June of the following year.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Service income is recognised at the point in time when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recogsized when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 29 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of
the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme managed by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the purpose of
obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate ranging between 6.18%
and 14.38% has been applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB because the Group’s
principal operations are carried out in Mainland China. The functional
currency of the Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China is HKD and the functional currency of the subsidiaries
established in Mainland China is RMB, which is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which those entities operate. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (CONTINUED)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of education services,
which falls in the scope of “Catalogue of Restricted Foreign Investment
Industries”. Foreign investors are prohibited to invest in such business.

The Group exercises control over these subsidiaries and enjoys all
economic benefits of certain subsidiaries through the Structured
Contracts.

The Group considers that it controls these subsidiaries, notwithstanding
the fact that it does not hold direct equity interest in the certain
subsidiaries, as it has power over the financial and operating policies of
the certain subsidiaries and receives substantially all of the economic
benefits from the business activities of the certain subsidiaries through
the Structured Contracts. Accordingly, the certain subsidiaries have been
accounted for subsidiaries during the year.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it
retains all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
these properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with
renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether
or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is,
it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it
to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement
date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its
ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate
(e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant
customisation to the leased asset).

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Income tax

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the relevant tax rules and
regulations so as to determine whether the Group is subject to corporate
income tax in respect of income from provision of formal educational
services. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may
involve a series of judgements about future events. New information
may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement
regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities
will impact the tax expense in the period that such determination is made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2019 was
RMB225,379,000 (2018: RMB196,114,000). Further details are given in
note 17.

Provision for expected credit losses on other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for other receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the education sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of conditions may also not be representative of a student’s actual
default in the future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not
in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all
non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various factors, such
as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in the production and provision of services, or from a
change in the market demand for the product or service output of the
asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, care
and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of
the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the
experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar
way. Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are different
from previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at the end of each year based on changes in circumstances. Further
details of the property, plant and equipment are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of education services in
the PRC.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reporting about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance. The
information reported to the directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance does not contain discrete operating segment
financial information and the directors reviewed the financial results of the
Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenue was generated in the PRC and all of its
long-term assets/capital expenditures were located/incurred in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical segment information is presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group during the year.
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WA - Hibl s Rk IE R 6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
WADWT : An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20194 20185
2019 2018
AR®ET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
REFEFEHZWA Revenue from contracts with customers
BE Tuition fees 984,266 512,487
FEEE Boarding fees 104,955 48,963
1,089,221 561,450

REEFEFEHZHWA REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
iy DEKZEMNER Disaggregated revenue information
20194 20184
o Segments 2019 2018
ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REESE Type of services
HERE Education services 1,089,221 561,450
& 5 Geographical markets
FR B K B Mainland China 1,089,221 561,450
e 3R Uk 25 B9 B R Timing of revenue recognition
R — R EEN R Services transferred over time 1,089,221 561,450

TRIIFRAREPEINRAEE
ZE TR NS BAAEL WA TR
WRBEMBERWETEEDER:

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the deferred revenue
at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

20194 20184

2019 2018

ARET T ARBET T

RMB’000 RMB'000
R EHDHDEZW A SIBEA  Revenue recognised that was included
ERRBWA : in deferred revenue at the beginning

of the reporting period:
BB R Education services 472,928 249,599
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6. WA HftlhsmKkiGam (&) 6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(CONTINUED)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(CONTINUED)

iy HBEITEE (ii)
BTEEIRREBERHEEBERIEE

BERESENMEEMRARAIIFERE

B o

REFEFEHNZWA (&)

Performance obligations

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and tuition and boarding fees are generally paid in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year.

20194 20184
2019 2018
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Hin i ki 5= Other income and gains
PR % W 2= Service income 70,936 113,390
SBITRIE U A Bank interest income 10,169 8,187
BAFEFTAEZNESBMEE  Other interest income from financial assets
EEXENEMRERA at fair value through profit or loss 1,582 -
REMEREHNEEN Gross rental income from investment
WHSWA : property operating leases:
HaBEEMNF  SFEEE(FFK  Other lease payments,
including fixed payments 47,008 28,859
BT 75 B Government grants 18,467 12,515
BEWHE Canteen income 12,715 1,158
Hith Others 2,213 1,935
163,090 166,044

BZ12A31H 2EEREGETEMT (K

The amounts of transaction process allocated to the remaining

ERRIBAOER)NIRZESEOT performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31 December are as follows:
20194 20184
2019 2018
AR¥T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEHERABBAZSE: Amounts expected to be recognised
as revenue:
R—FR Within one year 725,363 472,928
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

RITERREMBERFE
HESEBEFE

I FmAFEFABRN
TREENNERXRAE
B BAER B

20194 20184

2019 2018

ARET AREET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank loans and other loans 106,313 88,352

Interest on lease liabilities 55 -
Total interest expense on financial liabilities not

at fair value through profit or loss 106,888 88,352

Less: Interest capitalised (13,082) (10,382)

93,806 77,970
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8.

174

B Bt A1 gt F

REBREBRBAERTDEMER (FFA)

T &EREY:

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BERAMX (TEREES
E&STHASHM
(Kta£©9) ) :
TERFS
DR E Y ZBRERX
RIS B

(EREMERETE)

ME BERKBRBETE

REWERE

FRAEEENE
(20185 : T EFHE
#eH)

Hithf\ &=

HE W

B BT 8 B

REMETHREBEENE

A AHEREHEZ
HEMEA

2l
RAT R S W

E 5 EFFE
AR At EYER
HitEERE
FRARMFERBDEEZ
AN FIERE
HEME BERREEE
e

Employee benefit expense (excluding
directors” and chief executive’s
remuneration (Note 9)):

Wages and salaries

Equity-settled share option expense

Pension scheme contributions
(defined contribution plan)

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(2018: Amortisation of land lease
payments)
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Rental income
Government grants released
Minimum lease payments under
operating leases
Lease payments not included in
the measurement of lease liabilities
Auditor’s remuneration
Bank interest income
Foreign exchange differences, net
Impairment of prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Impairment of a prepayment included
in other non-current assets
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

BraE

Notes

14
15

16(a), 16(b)
18
6

16(a)

19

20194 20184
2019 2018
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
326,606 179,036
2,855 5772
22,432 15,919
351,893 200,727
111,991 44,804
4,365 1,435
13,957 2,824
6,892 4,349
(47,008) (28,859)
(18,467) (12,515)
= 5,387

1,766 -
4,500 3,600
(10,169) (8,187)
2,377 791
2,171 1,023

= 30,975

581 27
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AR EERNR2016F3H19R BEEE
BEAATYITES - THIAENR2018F7H6H
BEZAEAXRDATHITESE I MR2019F4830H
BE- BEELAEREXNTEER2017EIA
WHEZEAARRABILFHTES -HE
BAEER0I7TF1I2ANAEZEAEALAE
VIEHTEE - RKBEERE FHEBELR
2019F8H26HEZEAR NI BIFEHITE
E-BNRALEMN2019F12A6E BELRLD T
BYEBITES BN &R T4 K2019
F1I2REBMEARQARFATEST 2B

RIEEMRA - FBQBRHIZEI83(1)(@) (b)(c)
ROBGURDAG (BEEEFZER) RHIE
CBPBECAFEEER R THRAEFHH
mE:

Bt & 3R R Mt 5 BZ2019F 12831 LEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Mr. Li* and Mr. Zhao Shuai were appointed as executive directors of the
Company on 19 August 2016. Mr. Ding Yu was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 6 July 2018 and resigned on 30 April 2019.
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis were
appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company
on 20 March 2017, Mr. Hu Jianbo was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 22 December 2017, and
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on 26 August 2019.
Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 6 December 2019, and Mr. Chen Shuo
resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on 6 December
2019.

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

20194 20184

2019 2018

ARET T AR¥T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ws Fees 1,004 786
H A IREN - Other emoluments:

He RUREYEARN Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,173 1,692

RIBMEBEIEA Performance related bonuses 1,120 1,322

LU RE AT 2 BB AR A B =2 Equity-settled share option expense 1,595 2,069

BIKEFHEIMERR Pension scheme contributions 112 39

5,004 5,908

REER ETESHEREOANEEREHR
BMREAQRANBRETERBRE
FRE-—SPFBHRNYBERRMF22 -ZF
BRENAFERRELBHPEE DREBR
HREBRBZRPER Mt ARSNFE B
BENESBEBEETLEANESRESITHRA
EMEmE-

FHERAFRAHTES EFELE-

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect
of their services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.

Mr. Li, who acts as an executive director of the Company, is also the chairman of the
Board.
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9. EERBEBTHRAEBEM (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

A BIFEHITES (A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
RAFEERAZINTFBEILFEATESHNR The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
EWMT: year were as follows:

BZ019E12831AILEE

Year ended 31 December 2019
§& 2ER ZEHEA NREXS  BHREsE

ik BENER 2 BRERX 3 st
Salaries,

allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension

and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
AR®TR ARET R AR®T R AR®TR AR®T AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEXREE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 302 - - - - 302
BREXE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 272 - - 101 - 373
HERLE Mr. Hu Jianbo 240 - - 101 - 34
RELEEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 95 - - 14 - 109
rHREL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 95 - - 14 - 109
1,004 - - 230 - 1,234

BZE2018F12A31LEE
Year ended 31 December 2018

e BER REHE UREZME  RAKS:HE

e ENEAF 2L BRERX (23 @t
Salaries,

allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension

and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense contributions Total
AREFR AREF TR ARBT R AREFR ARETR ARETFR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BEXREE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 305 - - 115 - 420
BEREELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 241 - - 115 - 356
HERLE Mr. Hu Jianbo 240 - - 115 - 355
786 - - 345 - 1,131

REAEER BEESBLEHNTES There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
R E A 3REN (201845 - &) o executive directors during the year (2018: Nil).
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9. EERBEBTHRAEBEM (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

B) BMITEER —SHBTES (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

HE019512831B LEE
Year ended 31 December 2019

HE RUER REEE  UAREXS  BAESHE

ik BENEA 2L BRERX it it
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
AR¥ETR ARET R ARET R AR¥ET R ARET R ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BITES Executive directors
Fh4 M. Li - 572 572 806 54 2,004
WA EE Mr. Zhao Shuai - 441 441 559 54 1,495
TRLE Mr. Ding Yu - 160 107 - 4 27
- 1,173 1,120 1,365 112 3,770
FHTES Non-executive director
B & Mr. Chen Shuo = = = = = =
- 1,173 1,120 1,365 112 3,770
BZ018FE12ANBLEEE
Year ended 31 December 2018
Fe RER *EREE MRS Rikestal
ok ENER PRI BRERY "R @t
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense contributions Total
ARBTR ARET ARETRT AR®ET AREBTR ARBT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BTES Executive directors
Th4E Mr. Li - 520 520 648 1 1,699
A £ £ Mr. Zhao Shuai - 441 360 461 11 1,273
Ta%LE Mr. Ding Yu - 382 255 506 9 1,152
RATEE Mr. Zhang Ke - 212 141 - 5 358
RARFEE Mr. Zhu Lidong - 137 46 - 3 186
- 1,692 1,322 1,615 39 4,668
FHTES Non-executive director
B ok Mr. Chen Shuo - - - 109 - 109
- 1,692 1,322 1,724 39 4,777
FRUBRZHBFEEIHESITERA There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
ENESREMETMAMNE - executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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10, B BREEFMESR 10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

REAFER AEGEaSFMNEEBERES The five highest paid employees during the year included 2 directors
(2018F :3REE)  HEBMFBEH N LM (2018: 3 directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9
FIBRT3R (2018F 1 2R)FARNBESER above. Details of the remaining 3 (2018: 2) highest paid employees who

BETBRAENGRSHFHNESFHENOT are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

20194 20184

2019 2018

ARET T ARBET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

HE RMREYEAN Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,286 961

FRIRMERIEA Performance related bonuses 2,046 641

DR EL 2 ERERX Equity-settled share option expense 1,118 735

EREFHEIHK Pension scheme contributions 116 23

7,566 2,360
FMANFUTHENFESRIRSTEHA The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
ENERSEHFMNESHBWNT employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

20194 20184

2019 2018

1,000,001 JT £1,500,0005%8 JT HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 - 2

1,500,001 JT £2,000,000578 JT HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1 -

2,500,001 7T £3,000,00058 JT HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 1 -

3,500,001 7T £4,000,0005% JT HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 1 -

3 2
MRAEAFEER0I8F CRAZBIFEERIEE During the year and in 2018, share options were granted to the
ETBHAERSFHNEEREALREEREMH non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect
BRERLEERE BEBRE—STHBENY K of their services to the Group, further details of which are included in the
BERMIFINEEETER - EEBHANE disclosures in note 29 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
EREANEBEBEREACTENEZERIRER options, which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
BHAFEEE M AXRFENERERAN the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
SHEHNLXIESRIEZTETHAER included in the financial statements for the current year is included in
BEFENEEMESNKBESER- the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’

remuneration disclosures.
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ADARE (AEFBAFE) RASHS
HMATRERREAREAL B BEA
BN RSB o

HARAEERFALBEEMEETBEIRNE
BREHNERBER RAEBREBREHR
FHREE -

RE(FEARANBERBBERELER
A (TBEREGADNERRE BRER
EREOERAELHR YT ZZHREWER
FR-BRGOARELEHREFRERSELR
BESFBIEERNERERSERER
HEAPERERNBHKERSE MEKK
TEEESMIEETEARERSEDR
RPERNBREZFTEREERK - A
BB ERALESE RS EETER K
FEARBRA - REAQRAREXFHBARSE
ERNBERBERBRSLAMEGSHER
TERRERABRERNLUREZZEER
BEBE LEIAKASRERBELHRER
BHRERABBEXERER Al PEER
ERNREFRALEREHEERBERBHATY
AERFEHAX - TERHERERESD
ERMAFEFNNER-REABENEZTED
RN E HRERQIMERBERERNM
HFEEFNMEERNAERWBR LA ME
REBEREE AERAMEHREEHRE
RBAEVABRBLANEEMEHARE
38 o

EREHRNFBEHNE R RIZ25%H B %
FRIGHLZ 8% -

12D T A2019FE R2018FEM D EFERM
ENREARBAENHEBE AR NI5%
FTE - AEEEPBRAERINEMERE
REBERMNBFTSEMNG% MM ERER -

Hit i BERFBNAB A REAEEE
EFREREAEENRITHERAR:

11.

Bt & 3R R Mt 5 BZ2019F 12831 LEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly is not subject to income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong during the
year.

According to relevant provisions of Implementation Rules for the Law for
Promoting Private Education (the “Implementation Rules”), private schools,
whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy a preferential tax
treatment. The Implementation Rules provide that the private schools for
which the sponsors do not require reasonable returns/schools are elected
as to be not-for-profit schools are eligible to enjoy the same preferential
tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under the State
Council may introduce preferential tax treatments and related policies
applicable to private schools requiring reasonable returns. To date,
however, no separate policies, regulations or rules have been introduced
by the authorities in this regard. In accordance with the historical tax
returns filed to the relevant tax authorities and the confirmation obtained
therefrom previously, the PRC Private Schools have historically enjoyed
the preferential tax treatment since their establishment. There was no
corporate income tax imposed on the income from the provision of
formal educational services of the schools of the Group. As a result, no
income tax expense was recognised for the income from the provision of
formal educational services by the PRC Private Schools during the year.
The PRC Private Schools have not yet elected to be for-profit or not-for-
profit schools. According to the relevant in-charge tax bureau, since the
relevant tax policy for schools that have not yet elected to be for-profit
or not-for-profit is not yet announced and if the school nature has not
yet been changed, the schools could follow previous corporate income
tax exemption treatment for income from provision of formal educational
services.

The non-academic education services provided by the schools are subject
to corporate income tax at a rate of 25%.

The corporate income tax rate for Huihuang Company in 2019 and 2018
is 15% based on the relevant tax regulations of Tibet Autonomous Region.
Other entities of the Group established in mainland China are subject to
corporate income tax at a rate of 25% on their respective taxable income.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
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1. FREH (&) 11. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

REBEFRGEHAINEIZEARTHOT

The major components of income tax expense of the Group are as follows:

20194 20184
2019 2018
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

B &R Current
FREH Charge for the year 44,922 23,479
IEIE (frat27) Deferred (note 27) 10,591 (954)
FABRBL HHEEE Total tax charge for the year 55,513 22,525

BERADARERBIMBARMEREZER
B9 5 E B R 5 E Y BRBE AE R B A 89 E B
XRZEERRTENFEFAIHER UR
EEBRERRERBRNHIRNOT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax

rates, and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to the effective tax

rates, are as follows:

20194 20184
2019 2018
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RR B A e A Profit before tax 485,867 276,793
RABEERE2B%TEMWFLIE  Tax at PRC statutory tax rate of 25% 121,467 69,198
FA B S A T BE A = 78 57 Effect of withholding tax on earnings
EARBMzBNHTE remitted and anticipated to be remitted
by subsidiaries 11,644 7,315
HEBMREMBKEELT Lower tax rates for specific provinces or
B = enacted by local authority (13,385) (8,331)
BARBUA Income not subject to tax (229,788) (140,363)
AERNBEBER Tax losses and deductible temporary
I E =S differences not recognised 5,150 10,534
BAEMNBIHX Expenses not deductible for tax 160,425 84,172
EAREEERIERTE Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate
BB T8 % 55,513 22,525
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13.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

FH-SRZERARE0.0365T Interim — RMB0.036 (2018: RMB0.027)

(20185 : AK#50.0277T)
EEARP-SERETER
AR #0.0327T (20184 :
AE¥0.0197T)

per ordinary share

per ordinary share

12. DIVIDENDS

20194 20184
2019 2018
AR#ET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
55,480 38,640

Proposed final — RMB0.032 (2018: RMB0.019)
49,315 27,191
104,795 65,831

FRAEBRABREENRERERRBEARE L
BARNBRRMERT AIEE-

BAREERRRELAERAEN

EREABINSEDNREFASQAAZER
REEEREF RS R1,509,016,667% (2018
£ :11,431,100,0000% ) © 3 17 & 38 IR 0 FE F 15
HEtHE-

BEREFRANSHDREFAZILOAEAER
BREREESFNGFE-FERAANEERMD
BYPO9BAFEERERBAMANFRAE
BONEBERBE URBREERMET
HERAERBEEINEBERPRERET
ERAEBREBRBFEASREL BT

13.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,509,016,667 (2018:
1,431,100,000) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

181



Bt 1% 3R R Mt 5 BZ2019F 128318 LEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

13. BAREERRREAEREN

(&)

BREFARBERANVAEDER:

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

(CONTINUED)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

20194 20184
2019 2018
AR¥T T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2F Earnings
BREREAREBEREANTTE - Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
BRATEBERKRRELER the parent used in the basic and diluted
earnings per share calculation 386,446 242,530
20194 20184
2019 2018

B 43
BEEREXBATAEZFR
CRITEBRMEFIH

mETE-ZBERME
T BRE

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares: Share options

1,509,016,667

1,431,100,000

1,608,235

1,509,016,667

1,432,608,235

* BARAK R ERITEBERENITEEBSRALDTRE
R EF R F 1G58 B UK 5t B2 8 220194
12831 HIEEEZ SR EIRE R Wz & EE1EHHE -

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amounts presented for
the year ended 31 December 2019 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices of the
Company’s outstanding share options were higher than the average market prices for
the Company’s shares during the current year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

31 DECEMBER 2019

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R2019F1ATA:
N
it E

REFE

R019§1B18
ENRZTE
HE

WERHBLAR (K1)
HE

ERETRITE

ERAREIR

ERERENF

R019512A318 »
ENBRRHAE

R019F12A318 :
N
ZitiE

REFE

At 1 January 2019:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2019,
net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Acquisition of subsidiaries (nofe 37)
Disposals
Depreciation provided during
the year
Transfers from construction
in progress
Transfer from investment properties

At 31 December 2019,
net of accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2019:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

gF BEZE RE BER%E ET%iE EEIR @t
Leasehold Furniture and Electronic Construction
Buildings improvements Motor vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,716,997 5,021 16,877 154,152 83,320 337,660 2,314,027
(100,293) (3,410) (8,244) (50,982) (34,979) - (197,908)
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,31 337,660 2,116,119
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,34 337,660 2,116,119
16,344 3,067 2,128 50,076 31,700 301,818 405,133
604,524 - 1,153 31,221 7448 3,788 654,140
(476) ) (914) (323) 97 - (1,812
(57,799) (686) (3,003) (25,042) (25,461) - (111,991)
446,970 - - 10,631 1,408 (459,009) -
28,343 - - = = = 28,343
2,654,610 3,990 7,997 175,739 63,339 184,257 3,089,932
2,812,655 5,050 18,613 251,718 123,779 184,257 3,396,072
(158,045) (1,060) (10,616) (75,979) (60,440) - (306,140)
2,654,610 3,990 7,997 175,739 63,339 184,257 3,089,932
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14 Y% -BERKE ()
20185 12A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
31 DECEMBER 2018

RBEIATA:
R
ZitiE

REFE

R018E1A1A
ENRZTE
HE
WENBAR
HE
ERGHRINE

ERAREIR

ERERENE
ERBZ

20185124318 -

BARRHNE

2018%F12A318 :

A
ZifHE

REFE

At 1 January 2018:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2018,

net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Disposals
Depreciation provided during

the year
Transfers from construction

in progress
Transfer to investment properties
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018,
net of accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2018:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

BT RELHE "E BEREE ERE EEIR #st
Leasehold Furniture and Electronic Construction
Buildings improvements Motor vehicles fixtures (evices in progress Total
ARETR ARBTTR ARBTR AR#TR ARETR ARBTTR ARBTTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RNB'000
965,484 4,868 10,634 85,418 45,724 21,112 1,139,840
(80,306) (2,951) (7,257) (40,485) (23,540) - (154,639)
885,178 1917 33717 44,933 22,184 21,112 985,301
885,178 1917 3317 44,933 22,184 21,112 985,301
26,650 153 1,455 32,709 22,209 321,880 405,056
651,259 - 4788 38,497 14,354 63,769 772,667
- - - (1,069) ) - (1,072)
(19,994) (459) (987) (11,900) (11,464) - (44,804)
74,641 - - - 1,060 (75,701) -
(1,030) - - - - - (1,030)
- - - - 1 - 1
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,341 337,660 2,116,119
1,716,997 5,021 16,877 154,152 83,320 337,660 2,314,027
(100,293) (3,410) (8,244) (50,982) (34,979) - (197,908)
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,311 337,660 2,116,119

R2019F12A31A RAFENBARE
791,852,000t (20184 : A K #135,222,0007T)

METRFDERBYEMBER-

HR2019F 1283 1B - REAFENBAR
250,178,0007T (20184 : A R #219,024,0007T)
HWAEEETEF FEAREBURE TR
HEERTFERBRITREMEE (KMFFE24) ©

At 31 December 2019, the application for the property ownership
certificates for certain buildings with a net book value of approximately
RMB791,852,000 (2018: RMB135,222,000) was still in progress.

At 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s buildings, furniture and
fixtures and electronic devices with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB250,178,000 (2018: RMB219,024,000) were pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings (note 24).
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15. BEWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

20195 20184

2019 2018

AR¥ET T AR¥T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

M A1TBZEREE Carrying amount at 1 January 161,426 47,331

BWEBEEARE (HaF31) Additions from acquisitions (note 31) 81,000 114,500

=R (2) /BEENE Transfer (to)/from own occupied property (27,769) 1,030

FARFTRTE Depreciation provided during the year (4,365) (1,435)

MR12B31A ZEREE Carrying amount at 31 December 210,292 161,426

128318 : At 31 December:

BRI Cost 224,323 171,092

E i Accumulated depreciation (14,031) (9,666)

BREFE Net carrying amount 210,292 161,426
MR2019F 12831 - REWEZ A FEMET As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the investment property
#“hH AR ®513,400,0007T (20185 : AR was estimated to be approximately RMB513,400,000 (2018:
429,500,000T) cZfEEHB L EESEKME RMB429,500,000). The valuation was performed by an independent
EEMET - IBEEMNGREEGRE TS professionally qualified valuer. Selection criteria of the external valuer
HE BE BUMRKRERETEEZEE include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
ERAHEELBLAEE - HETERYWEDN professional standards are maintained. The valuation was determined
HEERERENYERINNBEEBHESR using the sale comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable
MAR - ZEELIOAACREETREREN properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes
EBTPITRZEBR BREVEZATEFTE such as property size. The most significant input into this valuation
BREEETERFTTEEGAZRE (F= approach is the price per square metre. The fair value measurement
&) o hierarchy of the investment property requires certain significant

unobservable inputs (Level 3).

GREMERBELEHEHBTFE=H # The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
— S EFBEH N EIRERMFTI6 leases, further summary details of which are included in note 16 to the

financial statements.
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16. &

REBEREHEA

FEBEAREEREBENEFNEESN
ERAMFH-AENIRUABETRBEASE L
o B R0FE MREBEZF L W EE K
BT EREINEARE - EFNENE
ERIF-—MRME - AKERTEAREHU
SIATEERERSEEEEE-

@ FEMLHEEFE (2019F1818 240)

16. LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of buildings generally
have lease terms of 3 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@)  Prepaid land lease payments (before 1 January 2019)

AR¥T T

RMB’000

20181 B1H 2 BREE Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 96,910
WK B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 109,844
FAREBREAER Recognised in profit or loss during the year (2,824)
F2018F 12831 H 2 REE Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 203,930

by FHEEE
FR AEBRFAREERAERES

(b)  Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the

mT movements during the year are as follows:
HEMIE
WOEYE AT Lt REME wmat
Prepaid
Office land lease Investment
premises payments properties Total
AR®T T AR®T T ARET ARBET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2019F1 818 As at 1 January 2019 690 203,930 1,130 205,750
B Additions 22,737 25,154 - 47,891
W EEKIE AR (AE31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (7ofe 37) - 237,926 - 237,926
BRE (2)RENE Transfers from/(to) investment
properties - 556 (1,130) (574)
TEEHR Depreciation charge (6,186) (7,771 - (13,957)
2019128318 As at 31 December 2019 17,241 459,795 - 477,036
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16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

(c)  Lease liabilities

FEETERIT The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the movements

during the year are as follows:

20194 20184
2019 2018
HEAE R EHERIE
Lease Finance lease
Liabilities payables
AR¥T T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
M1A1B ZREE Carrying amount at 1 January 1,820 -
HHE New leases 22,737 -
FAECERANENEEE Accretion of interest recognised during the year 575 -
e Payments (7,872) -
M12B31H 2REE Carrying amount at 31 December 17,260 -
DA Analysed into:
BVEAER o (B aE24) Current portion (note 24) 7,411 -
JEBNER SR > (HraE24) Non-current portion (note 24) 9,849 -
HESENIEBB MR EIRKRMET The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 38 to
38 B o the financial statements.
) RNREZABEINEEEBITENT: (d)  The amount recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as
follows:
20194F
2019
AR T
RMB’000
HEEBEFE Interest on lease liabilities 575
FRAEEECTEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 13,957
HEHAE RS T HEN20195F Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with
12A31HS 2RI B MM EMEE remaining lease terms ended on or before 31 December 2019
BREMEX (T AEERSE) (included in cost of sales) 1,766
RIBERABERNIEHARE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 16,298
2019 ANNUAL REPORT iR
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16. M & (&)

AEBEEREEAN (FH)

) HMEBSRHEIENYKRERMEE20)
HWE-

AEBESEHEAA

AEERELKEHEZHHEGRERET
ERAYENREDE (ME15) - ZEHEN
RRBEEREAPXMFERRESAURERT
TRETEPHSAZ - FREAEERIN
HE W AB AR®A47,008,000T (20185 : A
S #£28,859,0007T) » B H N B MR W &F
6 o

A2019F 128310 BEAEBERIBHEEHES
AR EEHENEWRREBEHEERE
T

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

(e)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in notes 32(c) to the
financial statements.

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting of several
commercial properties in the schools under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits a provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised the Group during
the year was RMB47,008,000 (2018: RMB28,859,000), details of which
are included in note 6 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2019, the undiscounted lease payments receivables by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants are as follows:

20194 20184

2019 2018

ARET T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—F R Within one year 47,378 26,893
—F L EEMFUR After one year but within two years 35,048 18,934
MENLEE=FURK After two years but within three years 24,672 11,921
=FUEENEFEUR After three years but within four years 16,425 6,347
MENEEBRFUR After four years but within five years 10,702 3,776
EEUE After five years 17,777 7,884
152,002 75,755
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17. GOODWILL

2018F1 818 :
2N
Z2FRE
BREFE

FA2018F 1 B1B A IR BT RE
WS B A T

20185128318
20185128318 :
2N
2R E

SREFE

A2019F1 B1B R4 IR EFTEE
WK B AT (faE31)

A2019F12A31 B AR BRE EE
FA20195 128318 :

2N

ZFEE

AREFE

At 1 January 2018:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated impairment
Acquisition of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2018:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 January 2019, net of accumulated impairment
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37)

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2019:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

ARBT R
RMB’000

196,114

196,114

196,114

196,114

196,114
29,265

225,379

225,379

225,379
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e (&)
[k RN S

EREBSHRBNBENDIBRETIRE
EEEMGETRERR

s TTHERREELEN;
e RUERRESELEN
e ERERREELEM IR
e ERERREELEMN-

NHERBREELEN

PTHRENTEERREELAENCHEREAE
A ARM195364,000t T HERBEEE
BUuNTKRESEDNRERSREEERE
NWEFHMERERENRERETERUMSE
AEENELZEC AREEBBREF N
MERENESREZEREA3% (201845 :
3%) o R2019F 12831 HEANRBE S RETER
ZRBIITERE18.7% (20185 1 17.6% ) °

REtBERAESELEM

PTHREFRILERRESELENVN 2 HEREE
BAREET0,00T - R ERBEEEE (N
HaKRESEDNTRERGREEEMEN
TFEHPRKEERENBESRETARUER
BEEFELZEE-AREEBBRAFHERL
BRENESHREZEBREAI% (20185F :
3%) °R2019F12A3 1 HE AN B RETENA
ZRBIITERA17.0% (20184 :116.9% ) °

EEERBEEELEM

PTHREERERRESELAEN 2 HEREAE
BARY2898200c EAERREELESE
NI RESEDRERSREEBEN
TFHEEERENRESRETERUER
BENELEE - ANEEBRBAFTHER
BRENVEREESREZEREAI% - R2019F
12ABEEARBEREEN 2 HATITESR
B18.1% o

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

o Henan School cash-generating unit;

o Northeast School cash-generating unit;

o Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit; and
o Central China School cash-generating unit.

Henan School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Henan School
cash-generating unit is RMB195,364,000. The recoverable amount of the
Henan School cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Henan School unit beyond
the five-year period is 3% (2018: 3%). The pre-tax discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections as at 31 December 2019 was 18.7% (2018:
17.6%).

Northeast School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Northeast School
cash-generating unit is RMB750,000. The recoverable amount of the
Northeast School cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Northeast School
unit beyond the five-year period is 3% (2018: 3%). The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 December 2019 was
17.0% (2018: 16.9%).

Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Guangxi Schools
cash-generating unit is RMB28,982,000. The recoverable amount of the
Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of Guangxi Schools unit
beyond the five-year period is 3%. The pre-tax discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections as at 31 December 2019 was 18.1%.
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BE (&) 17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
BEREIR (&) IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
ERBERESESEN Central China School cash-generating unit

PHREEGTERRSCELENV - HEREA
AARM283000T - EFERBEELEEN
WHWESEDNZENSREEEIENT
FHHKBEERENBSRETBULUFEHAE
BB LEE ANRHEEBLIGEHEFS
RENREREZIEERH3% - A20195F12
B3 B EARREFREBIAZHRANERS
18.7% ©

STELMBEESEAEMMN2019F128318 R
2018F12AAMEAEER ~&EBEFA
ZHBR TXHASREEBRETRE
BEAMERENRESRERIMKENEEE
ER/E:

AERA-FAEHESHDERELHER
EEEHARRTENES-

BEEMNR-BEERTHEEEMNEZNEEDN
ERAREEFEEFEN —FERWFHEE
MNEB(RERARREABAA)IRAA TS
EO

BRI R-Fr AR RBBRB AR BRI
HEABEVEBNEERAR D2ERRRE
HRRPEBBTXREXRB 2ETLAML
MARAZEBLERUAEAEFAEEEERRN
BE-

REBRX-REERXRDERELEER
EEEUARRTENERMEE

RERRTELEMNTSBRRUREN
FEEEBMRAETHEERNIBER IR
B—3-

EEEETHETRE SR RBENEETE
BRABEHERE DERRBEAHRE
NBERTEEME -

ARABNESCHAZEEAENE R TS
B URANEEZSEZRTFETINNT
ENEE ERARSHTEEYAUGE

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Central China School
cash-generating unit is RMB283,000. The recoverable amount of Central
China School cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of Central China School unit
beyond the five-year period is 3%. The pre-tax discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections as at 31 December 2019 was 18.7%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the above
cash-generating units for 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.
The following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted sales amounts are based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used are before tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the relevant unit, which is determined using the capital
asset pricing model with reference to the beta coefficient and debt ratio
of certain publicly listed companies conducting business in the PRC
education industry.

Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate is based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of the
cash-generating unit and the discount rate are consistent with external
information sources.

The most key assumption on which management has based its
determination of goodwill’s recoverable amount is budgeted sales
amounts, which are dependent on the number of students and unit tuition
and boarding fees.

The Directors of the Company have estimated the reasonably possible
changes in those factors and acknowledged that, even if the most
unfavourable possible values were assigned to those factors, the

ReE4E 147'4& B SENEAMEEERN recoverable amount then calculated, after incorporating any consequential
FHEEFE% FTESENENESR effects of such assignments on the other variables used to measure the
HERHEE- recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, would still exceed its

carrying amount.
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18. Ht B EE 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

L
Software
ARB TR
RMB’000
2019%12H31H 31 December 2019
FA2019F 1 B1E AR AS - S HIBRE5T#ESY  Cost at 1 January 2019, net of accumulated amortization 18,531
=1 Additions 8,955
WEWB AT (BaF31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) 722
HE Disposals (93)
FAGTIREH Amortisation provided during the year (6,892)
FA2019%F12A831H At 31 December 2019 21,223
20198128318 : At 31 December 2019:
BRI Cost 38,386
HEt#eE Accumulated amortisation (17,163)
BREFE Net carrying amount 21,223
2018512 A31H 31 December 2018
20181818 : At 1 January 2018:
B 7R Cost 17,050
HEt#es Accumulated amortisation (5,923)
BREFE Net carrying amount 11,127
FA2018F1 B1 B WA AS » BB HBREST#ESY  Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated amortisation 11,127
= Additions 9,683
Wi B8 Fff BB A =) Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,070
FRETRREHE Amortisation provided during the year (4,349)
20185%F12H31H At 31 December 2018 18,531
201851283108 : At 31 December 2018:
B AR Cost 28,804
HEt#es Accumulated amortisation (10,273)
BREFE Net carrying amount 18,531
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19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

REBENRE (BE0)
i fE RN RE
Htt B EERNRE
M- BERRBENKER

AR A

Prepayment for investments (Note (i)
Prepayment for land use rights

Prepayment for other intangible assets 647 735
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment

Impairment allowance

20195 20184
2019 2018
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
696,006 1,314,442
129,177 67,083

30,911 56,405
856,741 1,438,665
(30,975) (30,975)
825,766 1,407,690

ENRBRIEERERVEBHERZEHM
e

Ban . REBNREBEWEBHENEAEHBEER

(THIEER]) 2 BEBARARYE147,993,0007T

FHEZIWENEBESRMOLTA AL SHF
FAREBRRAEZREHZE 2B T ORIRERSE
BEREBUBSEITRELIFEAEER
BRz&ERNZ WA RRAESRERN2018
FIORRILERWESEE

RARER-ENBBILEEEBREERL
LEBERBEERAEEERHAEXRR I
RRBEELRZTH BREETRAYERNR
BB FLIRERSFARREANKRE
RERBEXE ALQAEBZRENTRE
MHHARBESNFGLESRENIKERE
HIARREBRREABRERLGAMGTEBE
EFE (HEA) -

2019F12R AR B BRNEBES R AR
RARRRNBRNHAR - REHPERER ER
WENEFIH EMARRER LR AS
RAXERHERI M- HAEBLSERE
HER ARAEESEME- DS

Prepayments mainly represent down payments for investments and
acquisition of new schools.

Note (i): Included in the prepayment for investments is the down payment of RMB147,993,000
for acquisition of Xinjiang Institute of Finance and Economics (“Xinjiang School”).

As previously disclosed that with regards to the proposed acquisition of
Xinjiang School, in view of certain closing conditions under the equity
transfer agreements not satisfied by the counterparties, and the fact that
continuing to pursue the proposed acquisition may not be in the best
interest of the Group and the shareholders, the Directors of the Company
decided to terminate the proposed acquisition in October 2018.

The Company engaged an external independent legal counsel to provide
professional advice to the Board in relation to the termination of proposed
acquisition matter, and to take appropriate legal actions, including but not
limited to, filing of civil litigation against the counterparties of proposed
acquisition and claiming for the prepayment amount. The Company
performed an impairment analysis assessment, as supported by the
legal opinion, by considering the probability of default and estimated an
expected credit loss by applying a loss rate approach with reference to
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate.

In December 2019, the Company obtained a positive judgement from the
Xinjiang High Court in favour of the Company’s claims. Subsequent to
the end of the reporting date, the counterparties of proposed acquisition
lodged an appeal over the above judgement and the outcome is yet to
be known at the date of this report. Should there be any development
progress on this matter, the Company will release further announcement
as and when appropriate.
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20, EARIE -HttEWRHER M 20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

BE ASSETS
20194 20184
2019 2018
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ENER Prepaid expenses 8,779 2,008
BE R H AW R E Advance and other receivables 46,078 89,857
EWHERRE Receivables from educational bureaus = 11,586
BTEX Staff advances 3,073 2,487
& W H b FE W IR R Deposits and other miscellaneous receivables 46,074 25,532
104,004 131,470
ZERELEREREIRTERIERT The amounts are interest-free and are not secured with collateral.
AR E e eRERMET PRI ERENT The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables
HRBERRENERREERE -R2019F K for which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As
201812831 H » FTsE AV ET BB IR ) o at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.
21, BERBEEESEYREEMER  21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS
20194 20185
2019 2018
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RERWITLHER Cash and bank balances 559,007 294,630
EHEREEEFER Time deposits and pledged deposits 488,332 118,534
1,047,339 413,164
B RER Less: Pledged deposits (380,832) (63,534)
REERRIBAABER Non-pledged time deposits with original
=B 2EBIRBERTFR maturity of more than three months
when acquired (107,500) -
ReELRREZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 559,007 349,630
FHEHRE: Denominated in:
AR RMB 558,192 340,082
EY UsD 24 1,541
BT HKD 791 8,007
ReERRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 559,007 349,630
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ReRRESHENREEAEFN

(&)

REXR FAEEUARBHTENRESRRT
“eh A A RHE558,192,0007T (20185 | A R
340,082,0007t) c AR ¥ FEEHFIAKE
tEB - AM  REFEH IMEEBREH) &
(HEE - EERVTEEERE) AEETE
BERERREMNEXEENRTEARELR

ROTREBBREBEBARTERNRFENZ
BRRFE-BEHREPRERONERPRF A
SENNEREFERMEATE LRE R
EHERFRARFR - ROTEHRESIEA
ERDERREEIPENTHRAFEERY
YR AT ©
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

At the end of the year, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB558,192,000 (2018:
RMB340,082,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

IE #E WA 22. DEFERRED REVENUE

EHNEBEHEBNT Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
2019412 H31H 20185 12H31H
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
AR¥T T AR#T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Tuition fees 646,353 417,108
FEE Boarding fees 79,010 55,820
EHNEEHRE Total contract liabilities 725,363 472,928

BREBERER KRR A ERE MU
E2EBMBHR - ARERSEEFRAMEAR
BLENBEBERAEBE-ZEREIBENER
RETENEREABI -BLEBERE KR
RHEBERBESRER -

R2019FEK2018F SN EBEMNDEEAR
WS B E NN B RARM ST

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from students
in relation to the proportionate service not yet provided. The Group
receives tuition and boarding fees from students in advance prior to
the beginning of each academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are
recognised proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable
program. Students are entitled to refund of the payment in relation to the
proportionate service not yet provided.

The increase in contract liabilities in 2019 and 2018 was mainly due

to the acquisitions of businesses, as detailed in note 31 to the financial
statements.
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23. HENRIEREFER 23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2019512831 H 20185F12H31H
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

AR¥ T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEVX BERREN Payables for purchase of property,

B FIE plant and equipment 127,143 70,677
EstiEA Rt RE Accrued bonuses and social insurance 107,888 44,833
mE4WEKIBEE B (#752(0)) Miscellaneous expenses received

from students (Note (i) 114,713 83,530
®rE Deposits 25,024 18,440
EREEERRE Payables to cooperative schools 28,384 13,319
L E  NEE Advance from lessee 44,768 31,740
FFFE A BB Receipt on behalf of lessee 11,182 8,960
FEAER 4 T 0T B9 B AT 48 BY Government subsidies payable to students

and teachers 14,504 10,642
EMAIREMIE Payables for investment 80,000 80,000
H th A+ 7R I8 Other payables 79,362 122,152
EFtEA Accrued expenses 12,411 4,469

645,379 488,762
FHRZSKDEEAR T E -RER BRE The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The
REREEH HtENSRERESTEANE carrying amount of other payables and accruals at the end of the year
HEEEQAFEES- approximated to their fair value due to their short term maturity.
KraFn): BERREDURBEEENBEBEER SREBL Note (i): The amount represents the miscellaneous expenses received from students which will
T AT be paid out on behalf of students.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS
20195 20185
2019 2018
BRAE®Y) 2 ARETR BRAEMW 38 ARETR
Effective Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
L Current
HESE (Wiz161) Lease liabilities (note 16(c)) 3.82-4.26 2020 7411 -
ERRERE (Hi2%) Finance lease payables (ot 26) - 7.28-13.97 2019 85,934
ERARTER Bank loans - secured 4,35-5.66,
HIBOR+0.05 2020 354,256 5.22-6.37 2019 156,837
BHEARMER Other loans — secured - 10-10.25 2019 198,989
REEHEARTERD Current portion of long term 4,99-6.65, 4.99-6.65,

RS hank loans - secured HIBOR+2.25 2020 203,178 HIBOR+2.25 2019 181,918
BEAEMEMEEHD  Current portion of other loans - secured 7.28-14.38 2020 138,357 10.31 2019 1,646
RBBE Transaction costs (4,325) -

698,877 625,324
FEEH Non-current

HELE (HiEi6e) Lease liabilties otz 1616)) 3.82-4.26 2021-2022 9,849 -
EARERE (Hit2%) Finance lease payables (7ot 26) - 7.28-13.97 2020-2023 168,261

BEARTER Bank loans - secured 4,99-6.65, 4.99-6.65,
HIBOR+2.25 2021-2024 620,027 HIBOR+2.25 2020-2023 474110
ERARMER Other loans - secured 7.28-14.38 2021-2030 167,432 10.31 2020-2029 27187
RBBE Transaction costs (9,356) (8,035)
787,952 661,523
1,486,829 1,286,847
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24. ST ERITREMER (&)

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

20194 20184
2019 2018
ARET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Analysed into:
EEZERITER: Bank loans repayable:
R—FRARRER Within one year or on demand 553,109 338,755
REZF In the second year 209,253 145,508
RE=ZFZFERHEF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BFEEEMSE) 401,418 320,567
1,163,780 804,830
EEEHMES: Other borrowings repayable:
R—FR Within one year 145,768 286,569
REZF In the second year 95,879 86,062
RE=ZFZFEF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BEEREME) 59,174 90,384
BBhF Beyond five years 22,228 19,002
323,049 482,017
1,486,829 1,286,847

FERTERREMERB T IS ELEE All of the bank loans and other borrowings are jointly secured and pledged

HIERIEA by:
() M2019F12B3HEAKEEREF -RER ()  the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic

EBURETREBZARDFENS
AR #250,178,0007C (20184 : A R #&
219,024,0007t) (HI&E14) ;

devices with an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
RMB250,178,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB219,024,000) (note 14);

iy BRAKEEEZETHBEAIARZRMD (i) the pledge of shares of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;
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BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

FFERTERRAMERBATISERLRE

HIERIER: (F)

(i) ZXRERBGEEZT (ZEXEZEBER)
(FIFE35(c)) B REBHE ZFER
BRELEAERAEHLIHEFT L
CTHEERZBERR)SEINEAER

vy ZREERSNAEERAEENREQT
BAMRATER;

V) AEBMWRS N2019F128318B ¢4
B AR %343,000,0007T (20185 : AR ¥
40,000,0007T ) ;

vi) HEBITERHOER®R:

i)y ENEBREBRIBBHREE K

T 7 2 [ A R 2 R B Y U P B W LR
BEREEEWRERE-

25. IEE W &=

(viii)

All of the bank loans and other borrowings are jointly secured and pledged
by: (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)
(viil)

personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li and Ms. Yang Xuging
(spouse of Mr. Li) (note 35 (c)), Mr. Rong Hua and Ms. Kong Ailan,
non-controlling shareholders of the sponsor of Henan School, and
Ms. Rong Yu (vice-president of Henan School);

corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
Group, which are controlled by Mr. Li;

deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB343,000,000 at as 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB40,000,000);

a letter of guarantee issued by certain bank;

Guizhou School’s charging right of tuition and boarding fees; and

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School’s charging
right of tuition and boarding fees.

25. DEFERRED INCOME

20194 20185

2019 2018

ARET T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

RELD At beginning of year 40,776 32,725
FRARE Additions during the year 10,442 6,808
WEEMH B AT (B7aF31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) 13,569 13,758
NG Released to profit or loss (18,467) (12,515)
RER At end of year 46,320 40,776
B BNER I 4p Less: Current portion (10,622) (9,775)
JE BN HA ZB 13 Non-current portion 35,698 31,001

I FIE W 55 15 WL T AE B 58 9 BY A R Y X
Bk ERBRRGRELENBEIEE
ZERRAEPREBEENRRIERFH
I AERS -

Deferred income represents the government grants received for subsidies
in connection with certain leasehold improvements and the excess amount
arising from sales and lease back transactions. These government grants
are released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets.
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26.

EAmEREE

R2018F 128310 EmEHREAREEHE
F=FHEQTAUERRARZEABER
EEMTEBRENEARITNRERE-
MEZHETEREANIEBALREERS
HRAEYERBAERB-AREBER
BHAEAREI00TE ARBE300T &R
BEER=ZLFBHAEHRBENTAHRAF
B AEAEEREEHTEERE BIFES
EEIEREEEEXANEERESSE £
TMEZHFARBEREBER FHERA X
EERBEHEANIR - ZEBRRES BN
BHREEDEIRERETBUBRELER 9
ERTERITREMERTIELEMER -

R2018F12831H MEHREE T RARKER
ENRABERESRANT

26. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

Finance lease payables as at 31 December 2018 represented the
borrowings under financing arrangements entered into by the Group
with third-party leasing companies, in the form of a sale and leaseback
transaction which resulted in a finance lease and born a repurchase
option. The subjects sold and leased back under the financing
arrangements were the office properties and office equipment owned by
the Group. As the repurchase prices are set at RMB100 and RMB300
which were minimal compared to the expected fair values of the underlying
assets at the end of the lease periods of three to five years and the Group
was certain that it would exercise the repurchase option, and considering
the amounts of the lease payments to be paid on the selling prices,
the above financing arrangements were accounted for as collateralised
borrowings at amortised cost using the effective interest method. These
borrowings were classified as other loans in interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings applying HKFRS 9 according to HKFRS 16.

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments under
finance leases and their present values were as follows:

BREEE
5020185

REHAEMNK
B{E2018%F
Present value of

Minimum lease minimum lease

payments payments
2018 2018
ARET T ARET T
RMB'000 RMB’000
ES&5: Amounts payable:
R—FR Within one year 107,960 85,934
RE= In the second year 98,417 84,446
RE=FEZFHLF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BEEEMSE) 92,575 83,815
EEMERENSRERE Total minimum finance lease payments 298,952 254,195
RIRRE X H Future finance charges (44,757)
HEMNMEREFE Total net finance lease payables 254,195
DEARBEBI D (K17E24)  Portion classified as current liabilities (note 24) (85,934)
ERENE D (Hat24) Non-current portion (note 24) 168,261
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27. IEER1E 27. DEFERRED TAX
AEERNEEHEEGE2EBHUNT The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:
20194
2019
s B B B
DAEEZ
BB DNEERE H At #Et
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition
taxes  of subsidiaries Others Total
ARET R AR¥T T AR¥T R AR¥T R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20191818 At 1 January 2019 3,021 46,398 49,419
REEFERFTABZERAN  Deferred tax credited to the statement
R IE of profit or loss during the year 2,458 10,269 10,591
REWBEEZRE Addition from acquisitions (note 37)
(BE31) - 41,549
R2019F12831H Y Gross deferred tax liabilities
EERBEELHE at 31 December 2019 5,479 10,269 101,559
20184
2018
s B B /B
NAEEZ
‘st NEEHE #Et
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition
Withholding taxes of subsidiaries Total
AREFR ARETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2018F181RH At 1 January 2018 3,975 - 3,975
REERNFABERAM  Deferred tax credited to the statement of
EIERIE profit or loss during the year (954) - (954)
REWBEEZRE Addition from acquisitions - 46,398 46,398
2018512831 H 1Y Gross deferred tax liabilities
EERBEERHE at 31 December 2018 3,021 46,398 49,419
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27. IEXZERIE (&)

RIE(PEAREMBEEEMGSE L) K
EAhE LM ERECEOIFTRESREE
TREVER B BIR10% B BB MFENF - ZHAEB
20081 A1H AN BE A RK2007F12831
BEEBEN -MPERNGRIEREE T L#E
B UHWHE S RABEBEINR B R 5
AEEMS BABERBI0% Bt NEH
FhEZE R B At B S B B B 2 B B 20085 1
B1IRAEAMEERAN D RNEEHMMATBINH -

FA2019F 128318 AEBEBRN T R AR
BT KB = FEEE AR T 2 A8 B8 IE I Ay
BH A E ARES5479,0007T (20185 1 A R
3,021,0007T) *BRRAGEH K RRERNESHE
N ERESSBETERNBARREMR
SERTRENEREAINEREENEFIFEN
FERELESE EERE ZS58TEANE
REEFEAMARINERELNER E
WHEEMBLATIRITEARNERATELED
REZEHRTEF -

RZEBRIOHCHEER - RIS
RAEERRRB T KA RERE ERBER
ARERERBEER RAEARZEEHER
AR2019F12ANANELERAEEARY
16,478,0007C (201845 : AEK%511,328,0007T) °

27. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recognised relevant deferred income
tax liabilities of RMB5,479,000 (2018: RMB3,021,000) on earnings
anticipated to be remitted by certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable
future. Other than the amount recognised in the consolidated financial
statements, deferred tax has not been recognised for withholding taxes for
the earnings expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to
be remitted to a foreign investor in the foreseeable future. In the opinion
of the Directors, such remaining earnings will be retained in Mainland
China for the expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such remaining earnings in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets amounting to RMB16,478,000 as at 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB11,328,000) have not been recognised in respect of the
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the taxable losses can be utilised.
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28. BRA 28. SHARE CAPITAL
i 12 SHARES
20194 20185
2019 2018
AR®ET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERITRHAR: Issued and fully paid:
1,541,100,000/% 1,541,100,000 (2018: 1,431,100,000)
(20184 :1,431,100,0008% ) ordinary shares
B R 1,056 983
ARATWBRASEFMMOT : A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:
%7 & B kx-] kx|
Number of shares Amount Amount
TEx AR%BTrZEE
RMB’000
USD’000 equivalent
EEIE Registered: 2,000,000,000 200 1,355
ERITRHR: Issued and fully paid:
20181818 At 1 January 2018 1,431,100,000 143 983
R20185F128318 K At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
20191818 1,431,100,000 143 983
BITH R D Issue of new shares 110,000,000 11 73
720195128318 At 31 December 2019 1,541,100,000 154 1,056
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iR ST 2
AATKE—HERESE (58] ER
AEWAEEEERINEERSHEHERM
BRERER - FENCERSHEHEEELRD
AEE (BEAEEBYFHATES HiMb
BEERAEBERBRKE 2 HER) - 5T &8 R
2017F3B20B £ BRIFE S ITEBUE R IEET >
HESEZBARBRERTF-

RIBFHE BRAATR TN RITEBREN
BEeEHEATHEREERNR LT B (B
2017548198 ) R QA BB BITIRMHIN10% © 7£
A+ —EAHBE REEREQTINE
EEERSHEHERTIRNBRSEE  UR
RAQBEMEEDBHITROMNI% - EAE
HERBENE-—IREBREEAERRAS
HEAE o

BYFAQAES THARITERRIAHE
FABEANBEREAEBIFITESS
T E-BIN RFAQDITETERRIAB Y
FUTESHHEHEMHEANTABERE:
BEADAMEMEBCBETROMNI%NIA
B (RERQABDNAEHEBHHOROER) BB
TEEET EEMTZEBAR AERRE
BRERKRE EHE -

ETEBRENZEVNIREYEHET=TN
ARER THARANERREREE
ToFRHBREZTENIHESEE I
REZEZTFRBHERL RRFTERBR
BRENHPEFTLFERAEERBEBHTE (U
REERE) -

BRECTEERESBEE HETEERU
TZBEEE: ((A2ARMZHE: ((RAF
RORBREZNBEPEBIA ZWHE:
RNA2AFRONREEZNAHAAERS
AHEBXAZFHWRHE-

BRELAETFHFEARDBREIRRRA
EREZER-

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent
non-executive directors, other employees of the Group and suppliers of
goods or services to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 20
March 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the listing date,
i.e. 19 April 2017. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period
of three to five years and ends on a date which is not later than five
years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but
may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares; (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; and (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.
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BIBEADTNR2017F3IB208 HEHM 2518 B
2019F R2018FER B o BRAEEBNOT -

1)

M2018F3H1H » AT AR 1T E5.55
BT R EMT7,112,0001 B IR AE - R
20181082680 B EHERKREXRIET
BR-—Bz2OEE AEEBEZEBR
TR 21,385,70017 BE PR EERR 1 o
B REEUTEESRI202EB TR
5,726,300 BE IR EE B BE# -

M2018F6B8H EBRABRTHEEESR
7.65278 7T 1% H & 41,674,50010 BB A%
o JA2018F7H12R A B ARITHEE
T R7.958 T I® B & 3 #9404,20019 B8 IR
FE-R2018F9A3H BEEERKRE KX
BTHR-BZTEE AEEBEZS
1,574,20017 B8 % ¥ - B )% WX 2504,500
DERERN B NEBUTEE
FIR5.9278 TR H2,630,5001p BB IR AE - H
1,056,300 EBRERFHARAR
ERT1,574200 B EIEEAZEEE
HEERB 2B NRER - M2018F10A4
26H HABREBE-—DSRBEBTHER KE&E
BB X EUER2018F9A3H B 1% H 1 3%
%£1,919,10017 B8 R 2 » 1 2 % W #92,100
REREREFARERERF 2709,3001
BRERN - BE NEBUTHEES
BR4.20258 JTHE H11,919,10010 BB R E1E &

B

R2018F9RA11B AEBNLNEMH
12,000,000 EE R AR FAEBEH R
BARMEEAWESECZARKE 2%
TRERT - 20195128318 » BRI &
ERM ZSERECEBHRGSERRE
EREARBAER-

FA2018FE11H28 » 12210010 BE IR RE 52
WA R A 3RS IR4.3258 ST IT (B i
I%WO

201954818 » 3,480,000 B8 I% # 12
B &R AERESR364B TITHEERE
léWo

FA20195 108218 » 2,810,40010 B8 B% #
BHIBAARBFARERINBRTITFEE
e
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Under the Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 March 2017, details of
share options granted in 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

1)

On 1 March 2018, 7,112,000 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$5.55. On 26
October 2018, in order to lower the exercise price which is
corresponding to a significant decrease of share price, the Group
cancelled these share options, except for 1,385,700 share options
that were forfeited. Meanwhile, the Group granted 5,726,300
share options with an exercise price of HK$4.202 per share as
substitution.

On 8 June 2018, 1,674,500 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$7.652 per share.
On 12 July 2018, 404,200 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$7.95 per share.
On 3 September 2018, in order to lower the exercise price which
is corresponding to a significant decrease of share price, the Group
cancelled these share options of 1,574,200, except for 504,500
share options that were forfeited. Meanwhile, the Group granted
2,630,500 share options with an exercise price of HK$5.92 per
share, among which 1,056,300 share options were granted to
new grantees and the remaining 1,574,200 share options were
designated as a replacement award for those cancelled original
award. On 26 October 2018, arising from a further significant
decrease of share price, the Group further cancelled those share
options of 1,919,100 granted on 3 September 2018, except for
2,100 share options that were forfeited and 709,300 share options
that were granted to the chairman of the Group. At the same time,
the Group granted 1,919,100 share options with an exercise price
of HK$4.202 per share as substitution.

On 11 September 2018, the Group also announced that 12,000,000
share options would be granted to some consultants of the Group,
who would provide consulting service relating to acquisitions in the
future. As of 31 December 2019, the services were not provided
yet, vesting conditions of these share options were also not fixed
and accepted by the grantees.

On 2 November 2018, 122,100 share options were granted and

accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$4.32 per share.

On 1 April 2019, 3,480,000 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$3.64 per share.

On 21 October 2019, 2,810,400 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$3.11 per share.
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29. BIRMERTE (&)
BT B E AR TS S B4 R AT > B R

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during

the year:
20194 20185
2019 2018
EEFE1 i g fE IR 15 BB R
THEE = THEE £ =
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
BRET TR BRERT TR
HK$ per share '000 HK$ per share '000
M AB1H At 1 January 4.352 8,195 - -
FRERH Granted during the year 3.403 6,290 4.515 9,911
FRERK Forfeited during the year 4.021 (1,417) 5.293 (1,716)
M12A831H At 31 December 3.931 13,068 4,352 8,195
RBREHREARETE2ERETEERT]T The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding
fEHAEN T : as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
20194 2019
BREHE TEE
Number of options Exercise price 1T {£ 2 & Exercise period
T B BREBET
’000 HK$ per share
709 5.920 201949H3H £20235F9A2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
6,409 4202 201943H1H Z£2023%F10H25H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
88 4320 2019%F11H2H £2023F11A1H 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
3,089 3.640 20205F4H1H E£2024%3H31H 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2024
2,773 3.110 20205108218 £2024%10H20H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
13,068
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29. B HESTE (F&) 29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
20184 2018
BREHE THEE
Number of options Exercise price 1T HA RS Exercise period
T BRET
'000 HK$ per share
709 5.920 2019%F9H83H E£2023F9H2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
7,367 4202 2019%3A1HZE2023F10825H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
119 4320 201911 H2H £2023F1181H 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
8,195
REzcBERELNFES ARY25800000T The fair value of the share options granted was RMB25,800,000 (weighted
(IMEFEHESKRAR®159T) (2018F : A average of RMB1.59 each) (2018: RMB19,699,000, RMB1.99 each), of
R 119,699,000t R AR ¥1.99) Hep which the Group recognised a share option expense of RMB4,450,000
REEBREBZ2019F12831A L EEBRITE during the year ended 31 December 2019.
PR FERE X A R #54,450,0007T ©
FRAREEZRAGEEEREZLAFTEDRE The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
HABMU-—BEABELETHS LZEKR Y was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking into
BREZGRARGEE - FTAERX 25T AEE account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
mr The following table lists the inputs to the model used:
20194 20184
2019 2018
B B & (%) Dividend yield (%) 27% 27%-30%
B & (%) Volatility (%) 52%-53% 46%-53%
£ 13 B R = (%) Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.29%-1.48% 1.65%-2.33%
FESTEREER (F8) Expected life of options (year) 5 5
IMEEHRE (BERARE) Weighted average share price (RMB per share) 1.59 1.99
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29.

30.

BRESS (&)

BREZRFAEAFHDUEERERKEM
AREE A -—ERURERZTEENZ
ER-FAHKERREREEREDRES
BrER UTT-—ERERER-

AEAFEREEMARMRHBREZEM
HAt e

REREBR A QT RIBEF % H13,068,150
BEATEZERE- REAQIENER
RE O BEITENRTEZERESEHRR
A T % 1713,068,150 % B8 /M & 18 IR IR 19 I BE Hb
B& 751,306.823 7T (B4 TR AT) ©

it 8
AEBRAFERNNHBESERLBDEY
BRRNGLEBBH RN

B f#E
REBNEAFHIERNEBRNE D A HER
BEBANRIIE - AEEANFBEELS
EEHBARRKRESZAEAEIINIEDH
ERA(RE2VBEAYRAMBATIR
REKBHETEEROHABES N B BEALE
B) AFEEAWMBIEAEEWEZS LR
HEEH TEBESHRAMBLATIREERD
EEFERD -

29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The expected life of the options is based on the management’s best
estimate and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 13,068,150 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 13,068,150 additional ordinary shares
of the Company and additional share capital of USD1,306.82 (before issue
EXpenses).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
year are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of
the financial statements.

CAPITAL RESERVE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions from
the then equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries. The additions during
the year represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the then
equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries, which were consolidated from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the subsidiaries and/or
businesses first came under the common control of Mr. Li. The deduction
during the year represents the decrease in the Group’s net assets
resulting from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries from Mr. Li
for business combination under common control.
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31.

i (&)
EFEREMBERREE

REFEEEAEZZ AQANPENBELF
EEBOREZEFN I BERA2IRFHEE (B
EEHEHABETENBLARANESEERE) -
ZERBEENVEREME RN —RERR)
ERNBRES-

() REFEQAER AEEETHBEAA
EARELE BEBREERTESS
ZHFEENBRBTEBENN0%D EZE
EXEWIERMHEE EEHEED
HEZBAFEMEARMNS0% £ P E QT E
FEE TRANKRRT  BHEEEER
EETEERAN HERNMLENERT
BRRAEMEARN25% ©

(i WEPENBREREIR HRERS
ERHFHNRMRER EREBRERTD
Roo%m s (RETPBEARSTE
AEE) »BREZRRES -BRESH
RERNEZRREZENHBRBHRE
Tt #% e

x¥%a0f

REZE2019F12831B L FE  AEB TR W
BEAERREFER ZZEWEALEHR
RENEEHEFEFEEEARERE NN
EERERAKFIBK I B2 - BERERE
E-—ERPERAIRBEAEHEANRIRSS
HERBE UR—BERPBEHRIRESHH
ENRBHEHRBE - ZEPERA—RBRPE
RINRRESLEREREHB-ZEWRED
HAWRBEAR

HUOAQABAAERN AEEFEERAFE
TEEEERAT ([ERFE L) H951%KB 1%
EHHER0I9F 1B IIBERRABYE=ZA
KIEBEEAERZBEREREER REA
AR #258,920,0007T c (R B E R2018F LB &
R AT

R2019F 826 AEBEREOBIE=FH
WHEEREREREFERZEDES K
E A A RM603,830,000 - REBEUERESER
FAF o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

30. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

31.

STATUTORY AND OTHER SURPLUS RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries in
the PRC shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable
reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of the relevant
PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) general reserve of the limited
liability companies and (i) the development fund of schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are
required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their
respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50%
of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to share capital, provided that
the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25%
of the registered capital.

(i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, for private
schools that require reasonable returns, they are required to
appropriate to the development fund not less than 25% of the
net income of the relevant schools as determined in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC. The
development fund is for the construction or maintenance of the
schools or the procurement or upgrade of educational equipment.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group completed
acquisitions of Guangxi Schools and Central China School. These
acquisitions were part of the Group’s strategy to expand school network
in regions with significant growth potential in the private higher education
sector. The Guangxi Schools include a private higher education institution
established in the PRC providing junior college education, and a private
education institution established in the PRC providing high school
education. Central China School is a private institution of formal higher
education established in the PRC. These acquisitions have been accounted
for using the acquisition method.

As detailed in announcements of the Company, the Group held 51%
shares of Songming Xinju Enterprise Management Co,. Ltd. (“Songming
Xinju”) and Songming Xinju completed the acquisition of 100% school
sponsor’s interest in Guangxi Schools from an independent third party at a
consideration of RMB258,920,000 on 11 January 2019. The consideration
was in the form of cash and was paid in 2018.

On 26 August 2019, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% school
sponsor’s interest in Central China School from an independent third party
at a consideration of RMB603,830,000. The consideration was paid in the
form of cash.
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31 ¥%60t (7) 31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
AEBZENSBIFHAFEAFEZE The Group engaged an external independent appraiser to perform the
RAREEURKRBEHEREREIZEE valuation with the identification and determination of fair values to be
SRR assigned to the acquiree’s assets and liabilities as at the acquisition date.
& 2R GUANGXI SCHOOLS
RUBEPEAEBRABIICEERAEED The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Guangxi Schools
FEWOT: as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

AU B

BRAZATHE

Fair value

recognised

on acquisition

iok=d ARBET T

Notes RMB’000

ME- -BEREE Property, plant and equipment 14 148,793
REWE Investment properties 15 32,200
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 16(b) 50,761
HihBmEEE Other intangible assets 18 59
HERIBITEE Cash and bank balances 4,829
JEAFE-HEtEWEREREMERE  Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 105,781
BERIBEERKNRIE Receivables for tuition and boarding fees 2,075
EEWA Deferred revenue (37,358)
HiEAREBERETER Other payables and accruals (37,119)
IEFE Y 3 Deferred income 25 (12,599)
ELEHEBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 27 (27,484)
BAFEHERBNEEFEEBEE Total identifiable net assets at fair value 229,938
RUiE 2 Goodwill on acquisition 17 28,982
ERBReEM Satisfied by cash 258,920
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¥ (/) 31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
EHER CENTRAL CHINA SCHOOL
REBEPEFERATBIZEERERED The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Central China
FENT: School as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
A Uk BB B
AN Y - |
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
Hrat AR¥T T
Notes RMB’000
ME- -BENRKE Property, plant and equipment 14 505,347
REWE Investment properties 15 48,800
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 16(b) 187,165
Hitht\mEEE Other intangible assets 18 663
BERBITEER Cash and bank balances 85,332
FERFE - M EUFRIER  Prepayments, other receivables and other assets
Hih&EE 2,704
BENAEERWRFIE Receivables for tuition and boarding fees 826
HEMARBEE Other current assets 51,179
HtEREBEE Other non-current assets 570
B A Deferred revenue (67,166)
HihESREBERESER Other payables and accruals (188,045)
IE JE W 25 Deferred income 25 (970)
FFRBITREMMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (8,793)
EEHEERE Deferred tax liabilities 27 (14,065)
EAFEFE 2 AR5 Total identifiable net assets at fair value
EEFEARE 603,547
AU B 2 Goodwill on acquisition 17 283
ERESEN Satisfied by cash 603,830

EHRRAZHEFTERFEARKBELE AR E The goodwill recognised is primarily attributed to the expected business
BHRME EXTFEERER - BECHERAD synergies arising from the acquisitions, which is not separately recognised.
BB AEH IR None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income

tax purposes.
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31.

XA (&)
EFHER (H)
ERUBHEAD RS RBINOT

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

CENTRAL CHINA SCHOOL (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries
is as follows:

ENRENRE
HoBEFEENRESNE

R2019FERNRERE
BWBE e RIBITES

AARARREEHREREZRER
RESEORANFE

ARBT T

RMB’000

Cash consideration paid (862,750)

Less: Cash consideration paid in previous years (855,173)

Cash consideration paid in 2019 (7,577)

Cash and bank balances acquired 90,161
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included

in cash flows used in investing activities 82,584

REBBYHEREERES (BRXES
BB ESEHEEBEE NTEYH
(RWBREFABB—F) W MERKE
FHERFAEYE (MAE)FEEHRBRIAZ
ELHAEBEZEERBROFER BIWE
FrERNEEI THAE

BWEBSEEUR BEAERREFERSD 5
B 7 5 B W &= B Bk A R #83,184,000T & A
E#72,213,000t - B R & £2019%12831H
LtFEFERAERGEESENDINEMARYE
22,333,0007T &2 A R #518,604,0007T °

MEAERREDERGARFDEE A
TEBEBFRWKZEED BB AKY1,089,221,000
TR AR%1,159,908,000T EFAXREH
mA DB A AR 430,355,000t R A R
427,922,0007T °

In accordance with HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations, the
amounts recorded for the acquisition are provisional and are subject to
adjustments during the measurement period of not exceeding one year
from the acquisition date if new information is obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would
have affected the measurement of the amounts recognised as of that
date.

Since the acquisition, Guangxi Schools and Central China School
contributed RMB83,184,000 and RMB72,213,000 respectively to the
Group’s revenue; and contributed RMB22,333,000 and RMB18,604,000
respectively to the Group’s consolidated profit for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Had the combination of Guangxi Schools and Central China School
taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue of the Group for
the year would have been RMB1,089,221,000 and RMB1,159,908,000
respectively, and the profit of the Group for the year would have been
RMB430,355,000 and RMB427,922,000 respectively.
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2. MEBERERKE 32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
(A) FEFRERS (A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
FR AEEREFTFHEZEIRNELE During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
FRAREENRTHEEBHFBEEFEA assets and lease liabilities of RMB22,737,000 and RMB22,737,000,
R #22,737,0007T & A K #£22,737,0007T respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for buildings (2018:
(20185 : ) Nil).
B MEETHELZEEEE (B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
20194 2019
RITREMER HEAE &5t
Bank and
other loans Lease liabilities Total
AR¥ TR AR¥T R AR¥ET R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20191818 At 1 January 2019 1,286,847 1,820 1,288,667
MEREREZED Changes from financing cash flows 173,929 (7,872) 166,057
MHEE New leases - 22,737 22,737
MEXH Interest expense - 575 575
REWE—BHBLRZEM Increase arising from acquisition of
a subsidiary 8,793 - 8,793
720195128318 At 31 December 2019 1,469,569 17,260 1,486,829
20184F 2018
RITREMER
Bank and
other loans
AR¥ET T
RMB’000
20181 A1H At 1 January 2018 352,259
MEREREZE 5 Changes from financing cash flows 920,142
RE U EE BT B D Bl 2 38 N Increase arising from acquisition of subsidiaries 14,446
72018%12A31H At 31 December 2018 1,286,847
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32.

33.

34.

214

HERERERMET (&) 32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(C) EBREENHEBEESR (C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES
FARERERCEHRBAENER SR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash
HAT flows is as follows:

20195
2019
ARET T
RMB’000

FTAREEHR Within operating activities 1,766

SFTAREEFHR Within investing activities =

SFFTAREEHR Within financing activities (7,872)

EEER 33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

MAEERTERBEHRZAEEEEFER Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank loans are

R RERMIEE24 © included in note 24 to the financial statements.

AR 34. COMMITMENTS

@ AEEREAFERBEUTERKIE: (a)  The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of

the year:
20194 20184
2019 2018
AR®T T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000

EHEXEES TR Contracted but not provided for:

ME- -BERSEE Property, plant and equipment 140,042 72,310

K& Investments 43,000 123,000

183,042 195,310
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#HSHEEERAT
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35.

i (&)

(b) R2018F12831H 2 B EHERIE

AEERBELHEZHFHAHE T
FoRFHENAEMNF-—E=F-

P2018F 12831  NEBE KR BN
TR HEELHEETHNARARRZEAE
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34. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)  Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018

The Group leased certain of its buildings under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for buildings were negotiated for terms
ranging from one to three years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

RIEHETBEOT follows:

20184

2018

AR¥T T

RMB’000

—FR Within one year 7,824

—FUEEFRBBRRAFE After one year but not more than five years 19,542

27,366

AR Z RER 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
ARAREERE RAEE UTEA/ D8 The directors of the Company are of the view that the following parties/

REREEAERZHFARIEBEBT -

A BEEBE

)Ry

FRE

BEE X+

RS HRAE
MEBRAF

RAEER
ARAZBE

EXEIF
TREBB
Mz R4S

companies are related parties that had transactions or balances with the
Group during the year.

(A) NAME AND RELATIONSHIP
Relationship with the Group

Name of related parties and the Company
Mr. Li Chairman of the Board
Ms. Yang Xuging Spouse of Mr. Li

Beijing Lianhe Open Education Controlled by Mr. Li
Technology Co., Ltd.
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3. BBEARZ R (F) 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(B) B&%E’&%Z%E_Z%iﬁ%%,ﬁﬂﬂ i (B) IN ADDITION TO THE TRANSACTIONS AND
FBEZRIRERI K BALANCES DISCLOSED ELSEWHERE IN
SERAFEHBERZEW THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, THE GROUP
RS HAD THE FOLLOWING TRANSACTIONS WITH

RELATED PARTIES DURING THE YEAR:
20194 20184
2019 2018
AR¥T T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
TRF-REBLN Online education services fee to a related party
BEHBREE
It mHARRBAERHEMR AT Beijing Lianhe Open Education Technology
Co., Ltd. 1,500 -

32 5 18 96 B 5 5 £ R 16 2 O MR KR 5
FrEERT o

HEEBRT 2EMARS:

MM E2ART R R EEE T HARTR
HERETEERBEE L L HEAR
e

D) AEEXE

EEAEBNMS (D)

The transaction was carried out in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by the parties involved.

OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED
PARTIES:

As set out in note 24, certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other loans were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Li and Ms. Yang
Xuging.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP

20194 20184

2019 2018

AR¥T T AR®ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

HHEERER Short term employee benefits 11,869 5,759
BIREFTEIHR Contributions to the pension scheme 474 96
DREZANERERS Equity-settled share option expense 3,401 2,848
15,744 8,703

FHRESKRIETHRAEMENE 2
HRERN BRI -

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments
are included in note 9 to the financial statements.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

RBESHR SESRTENREEDT

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

20194 2019
EWMEE Financial assets
REBERAGTE
ZEBMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
ARET T
RMB’000
SFABARE HMERRER Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
HthEENESREE other assets 95,225
2IRFFR Pledged deposits 380,832
BREFBFNRIE Prepayment for investments 665,031
EHER Time deposits 107,500
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 559,007
1,807,595
cRAaE Financial liabilities
BB RAE
ZemEeE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AR T
RMB’000
STAEMEMARERETERN Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
Ea= =R 480,312
sFERITREMERK Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,486,829
1,967,141
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6. EMITENDE (F) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)
REBEEHR FEESHR T ENKRABENT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as
(%) at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)
20184 2018
THMEE Financial assets
REHERAGTE
CERMERE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
ARET T
RMB’000
SFABARE HMERRER Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
HthEENESREE other assets 129,462
2R IBTFR Pledged deposits 63,534
BREBNKIEAE Prepayment for investments 1,283,467
HeERBELEEY Cash and cash equivalents 349,630
1,826,093

cRAaE Financial liabilities

BB 2
Z2e@mas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
ARET T
RMB’000

STAEMEMARERESERN Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
Ea-e=Ri 443,929
sFEHRITREMERK Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,286,847
1,730,776
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37. € M ITEMNAFERAFEREHR 37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

AEEEMITANKEER QX FE (REE
AREEMQAFEFEE)WT:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,
for those with carrying amounts that require recurring fair value
measurement, are as follows:

REH Group

tREE Financial liabilities
SFERITERREMER
other borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and

REE A¥E

Carrying amount Fair value
20195 201845 20195 20184
2019 2018 2019 2018
ARET R ARBT AR¥T R ARBF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1,486,829 1,286,847 1,486,829 1,286,847

EEECHMG BRERESESEY CERE
FENEAAR 4D S A TR FOR - HMABW AR
HthEENEREE SFARMEBEARER
B EANERAEEN A FEEAREEM
HIERHRZEIANHRE-

AEEUMBAESRENVBEREETREAR
TENATVEFEEERRREF BHHE
BOEFUBERBNZETEEER R
EHREAM BHEBMHIFEHITANEER
CHITBEEARGENEIZEGARBE -EHE
HEFUBEETEARME-EREES
EEFTRGEEBERERMWANETHE
RFEEMBI®K-

TMEENREBENATFEUAZTARBERER
SHEBANRS (REFBEHFEERIN) &
MRXZEWAR TXHI ARG FE
B ERBRR

FTERITREMMERIENHBHOHAFER
BEHEZERR CERBRRGTEHIAW
REA AL EUMBERARRKRESREFTE
KL 2019512831 BARAEE A
BTREMERNTHBENRABRMERN LD
AEEEHWTEAMTREE-

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports
directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the
audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair value of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as
a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2019 was assessed to be
insignificant.
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37. EMITEMNAFERAFEEREHR 37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

(#&) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
AFEER FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
TRHAPAEESHRIANQAFEFERBR: The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group’s financial instruments:

WEAFENERS Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
DFEFEMAEE
20194 2019 Fair value measurement using

EATEE EAFITHE
2019 REBTHH BARE BARE

128318 BEE-—R a1 B=R
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
31 December markets inputs inputs
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARETR AR¥T T AR¥T R AR¥T R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
STERITERRHEMMER  Interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings 1,486,829 - 1,486,829 -
DNFEFEFAHE
201845 2018 Fair value measurement using

BEAUBRE EAFUEER
RIERT 5 WAHE WAHE

2018512A318 HMEHE-R B B=R
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
31 December markets inputs inputs
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARET R AR¥T T ARET T ARBET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
STESETERREMMBER  Interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings 1,286,847 - 1,286,847 -
AR2019F 12831 AARUELIMEMEE The Company did not have any financial assets and liabilities measured at
REERAFHEFTEZ fair value as at 31 December 2019.
REBZE2019F12B831BLEE F—HRE= During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no transfers of fair
FeEUEEATFTEFTEEBE ME=ZHNSH value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
EETHELREBRRLE L (20185F &) - and out of Level 3 for financial liabilities (2018: Nil).
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38. MKEREEBEREREREK 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

AEENFESRHTABEFERITRAM
EF RERREEEY EHEFRRCENA
FR-ZEERITANTIERRERLEHE
MEEERES AREREZEAEMER
EEREBE NMHELEEERELANHEMBRER
FIE-HMENRERETER-

AEEESRTAGRNEIZER DT RER -
SRR FERBRABDESRAR -EFE
%R A b 2 B R 1 R A9BSR AR A 40
T e

JESN

AEEHAEBRNT SN REENER EEEHR
EENZFERITEREHE - EROANERE
BEHIR M 24 5 -

7 82 [ 3 48 37 FR 4 {1 ) 2245 39 BU4 o L T O
B U 2 LB o

TRHUPEFERMBBEBTROERT
7 5 B R B AR R R 2 T8 T B S B RO )
BE (EBFEERAEOLE) NT

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as other receivables and other
payables and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
which are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with a floating interest
rate. The interest rates and terms of repayments of the borrowings are
disclosed in note 24.

The Group has not used any interest swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)
as follows:

EH(TH) MRB AT =R
2 (R 2) /1
Increase/(decrease)  (Decrease)/increase
in basis points in profit before tax

BZE2019F12831BLEE
AR
AR

HZE2018F12831BLEE
AR
AR

AR¥T T
RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2019
RMB 50 (2,344)
RMB (50) 2,344
Year ended 31 December 2018
RMB 50 (5,126)
RMB (50) 5,126
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MHEEREEERERBEE (&)

S B L B
FEEEHHRSRESEMY HERST

REMEREENEERR -

TREMHRAREAZAEZAIBTIERNG
BEURgs EMEHMSARETENG
MT  HASEERREBROBRBANER (2
REBEEREENAFTEEZD) HHR
B #f e

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group has currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rate of RMB
against USD and HKD, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

EnxkBrES BR B4 AT 5% R
(F®)L# ®hn, D)
(Decrease)/
increase in  Increase/(decrease)
USD and HKD rate in profit before tax
% ARBT T
% RMB’000
201945 2019
MARBRETRE If RMB weakens against USD (5) 72
MARBEETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 (72)
MARBEBTERE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) (24,783)
MARBEBTHE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 24,783
2018%F 2018
MARBRETRE If RMB weakens against USD (5) 77
MARBEETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 (77)
MARBEBTERE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) (27,450)
MARBEBTHE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 27,450

FEEE R

AEEERNEEFERINFE=ZTETX
ZoARBNBRRAEREFEMRRETR
SHRBEREREGEERETFERYRER -
IO BUREBEASBERFEEEEZALE
EEHENEREYFER-ZERAFUBEEE
EENUYRMEBITENRZ RAEEBER
BB ENTEREEER-

CREDIT RISK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group’s policy that all students and cooperative schools who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit,
the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval.
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38. MBEREEEFEREE (&) 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

FERRE (%)
BERRNERDH

TREFTREASENFERABRRERNE
AmENGAERARRHRO ZRREER
RBENBHRER BRFIEBLEHNETRER
EZRAIRANBERTARGHN  URE
ENRANBNFRIBIE-MEFNEHE
REMEERKREE-

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

B ZE2019F12831H As at 31 December 2019

+=fR
BHEERR EERACEER
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
E-RE ERE EZRE b7 % @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBT T ARBT AR®T R ARBT T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBMARE EAE  Financial assets included in prepayments,
KHERHEMEE other receivables and other assets
-EE ~ Normal* 54,242 - - 40,983 95,225
BEARS Pledged deposits
—HREH ~ Not yet past due 380,832 - - - 380,832
EHEH Time deposits
- REH ~ Not yet past due 107,500 - 107,500
ReRBEEE Cash and cash equivalents
- REH ~ Not yet past due 559,007 - - - 559,007
REBARE Prepayment for investments
-EF" - Normal* 548,013 - - - 548,013
- - Doubtful* - - 117,018 - 117,018
1,649,594 - 117,018 40,983 1,807,595

2019 ANNUAL REPORT &% 223



Bt 1% 3R R Mt 5 BZ2019F 128318 LEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

38. MKEBEEEERBRK (&)

EERBK (&)
BERRRMELDIH (F)
B ZE2018%F12831H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2018

BEREMTIE EME  Financial assets included in prepayments,

KHEREMEE other receivables and other assets
EANSRERE
-E& -~ Normal*
BHEARSE Pledged deposits
-k aH — Not yet past due
HeRBRE%E Cash and cash equivalents
-kkaH — Not yet past due
RERNRE Prepayment for investments
-E& — Normal*
— Wi - Doubtful*

+=f@A
BHEEFE EERHEERR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
E-RE ERE E=RB kR @t
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARETT AREFR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
114,703 - - 16,767 131,470
63,534 - - - 63,534
349,630 - - - 349,630
1,166,449 - - - 1,166,449
- - 117,018 - 117,018
1,694,316 - 117,018 16,767 1,828,101

- BIERNFE AMENFERRECEEEANZ
BEENEARERERBEEREIEMIMERE
BHAREENXEEHEELARNERUKEEF
AR EHEEEM - TR 2HEENEHRES
AR AL -

HRASEERNERGEERFNE=TE
TR BMUBREAEAR FERREF
EREF /HFH HERTEEE -AKH
TESESETNEERR-

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful’”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and
by industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk
within the Group.
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RBETER

AEENAEEMRDESTHETAEEH
E4ERNAR ZITAZELHBERS
MEEMENIPBERRREELEXEBNR
FAIRERE

S R B A P A B R T R B AL B
REEAEERESHEEREEEZ B
T

TREBAARNEERFRERSORBREMR
MEmBEIHBER-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial investments and financial assets and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities at the end of the year based on contractual undiscounted
payments.

RERE Z@EAR ZZE+=fR —-Z8f @it
Less than 31012 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total
ARETTT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
2019128310 31 December 2019
FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings = 234,788 484,953 982,530 1,702,271
FARMESRER Financial liabilities included in
EiERNSRER other payables and accruals 480,312 = = = 480,312
480,312 234,788 484,953 982,530 2,182,583
2018FE 128310 31 December 2018
TERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings - 115,812 539,770 795,245 1,450,827
FARMERTER Financial liabilities included in
EirERNSRERE other payables and accruals 443,929 - - - 443,929
443,929 115,812 539,770 795,245 1,894,756
EXRER CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

AEFEFEENIEEERBRAKEN
FESERIREFRENESRL R UX
FHERLERREBEZAL:-

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.
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38.

39.

40.

MHEEREEERERBEE (&)

EXER (&)
AEERBEERANEBREBEENR
REGSHREEHERARBAHEELRFR-
REBHABRERER AEEHERHAEIK
FFRRORE - REEATRRABITH
BRAD - AEBEARZEMIREMNERER -
REFR AEENEAEEER BEXAE
FHEENEE-

REFANWEERBELENT :

38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years.

The debt-to-asset ratios at the end of the years were as follows:

20195 20184

2019 2018

ARET T AREETF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EEHEE Total liabilities 3,049,709 2,374,298

EEHE Total assets 6,001,365 4,653,509

EEEBEREXR Debt-to-asset ratios 51% 51%
WEHESEE 39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1E20205F ) > T2 W= (COVID-19) HY 1R B ¥ A
EENHFEREET —TEFE FTEAHAR
BAKRTRHEAUARE S FTBRFRRANSER
ik EheaEREHAERRIEERE
R AEETEREFRIBAEERET
ETEARTHFNE EFEBEMARELRERE
MPKREREE T -

ERELMTEFENER EEEBECTML
NEEHER BE2019F12831BLLEE
FPEERAREZA AEBNHBRRER
MREESNBEAFE -AEESHERT
COVID-19%& 15 15 3 3 i HL 3 AR S [ 8 & A B 7%
MW LEBEY WEEAFE AA T
5 1 B 5 45 AE BE O & A 1E AR S E120204F AR R
FEEGKRERP R

Py

WA B RS R R MY A2 2% — H AT AL AEE R
AEEET BB ER2019F1 A1 B RN E B
B ELERE169 - RIFZ B A AP B H|E
WL BB TEIIRSEERBEBEE
Bl (BBEERNET7R) REFEZRBTUR
-

40.

In early 2020, the outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) has certain
impact on the education business of the Group, mainly due to domestic
travel restrictions and various precaution measurements undertaken by
respective local authorities which inter alia, include closure of schools
and delays in classroom commencement during the outbreak period. The
Group has put in place certain alternative action plans for the students
during the schools closure period, which include implementation of on-line
modules and website distance learning activities.

In view of the implementation of the above mentioned action plans, the
management has assessed and preliminarily concluded that at this stage,
there was no significant impact on the financial position of the Group
subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of
this report. The Group will keep continuous attention on the situation of the
COVID-19 and react actively to its impacts on the operation and financial
position of the Group, and in the event that there is any significant
financial impacts, the Company will release further announcement as and
when appropriate, and reflect it in the Group’s 2020 interim and annual
financial statements.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, the Group
adopted HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach, the comparative amounts in the
financial statements were not restated and continued to be reported
under the requirements of the previous standard, HKAS 17, and related
interpretations.
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NN B 37 OV 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
AATRBERRNT BRI E2ERNT : Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:
20195 20184
2019 2018
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
G IERNGIE Interests in subsidiaries 446,239 446,239
FREEE Right-of-use assets 1,275 -
IRBEEHLAE Total non-current assets 447,514 446,239
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
BHeRESZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 450 3,627
2IRFFR Pledged deposits 4,122 -
WK B A E Due from subsidiaries 1,575,792 694,018
RBEELE Total current assets 1,580,364 697,645
FBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
SFTEHRITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 237,408 -
HtmEARERESTER Other payables and accruals 7,209 -
REBEEHEE Total current liabilities 244,617 -
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,335,747 697,645
HWEEBRRBARS TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,783,261 1,143,884
kREBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
sFERITREMERK Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 260,332 -
IERBEEEE Total non-current liabilities 260,332 -
EEFE Net assets 1,522,929 1,143,884
R EQUITY
[N Share capital 1,056 983
i (MEE) Reserves (Note) 1,521,873 1,142,901
HEFE 2 Total equity 1,522,929 1,143,884
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41.

42.

RAmPBARRAEK (F)

EE

ARBEREZBRNT -

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

MR2018E1 B1 B WA

FRZHEWSBE

LUBR RS2 A HO BB AR 4 2

EEIR017FERERE
2018 FHHR B

M2018F12A31H K
2019F1A1H

BEIR2018FERER L
FREEKZAHE

BITRHD
RADPEATRAX
BREX N EREZ

2019F R HEAR B

P20195128318

Balance at 1 January 2018

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Equity-settled share option
arrangements

Final 2017 dividend declared

Interim 2018 dividend

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

Final 2018 dividend declared

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Equity-settled share option
arrangements

Interim 2019 dividend

At 31 December 2019

BB 5 ORE
R EE EXEE BRERE BERR =4 @t
Share Exchange
Share Capital option Retained fluctuation
premium reserve reserve profits reserve Total
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTRT AR¥BTRT AR¥®TR AR%®T:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
669,471 446,239 - 35,778 - 1,151,488
- - - 68,852 (8,793) 60,059
- - 5,772 - - 5,772
- - - (35,778) - (35,778)
- - - (38,640) - (38,640)
669,471 446,239 5,772 30,212 (8,793) 1,142,901
_ - - (27,191) - (27,191)
- - - 102,005 22,546 124,551
335,521 - - - - 335,521
(2,879) - - - - (2,879)
- - 4,450 - - 4,450
_ - - (55,480) - (65,480)
1,002,113 446,239 10,222 49,546 13,753 1,521,873

Rt B S R AR

ISR R S A2020F 3823 EEESH AR

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the

board of directors on 23 March 2020.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
gekE BZ12ANALEE
Results of operations Year ended December 31
20155 20164 201745 2018%F 20195
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR¥TT
RMB in RMB in RMBin RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
g Income 273,994 340,996 414,405 561,450 1,089,221
EA Gross profit 135,627 163,587 227500 286,421 542,639
FERER Profit for the year 103,821 112,197 233,322 254,268 430,354
SEREA (HEET) Adjusted net profit (nofe 7) 103,821 130,051 259,443 285,243 430,354
BAREREAAEN Attributable to equity
holders of the parent 103,823 111,755 233,368 242530 386,446
Har . EKABRANDEFERZNIEFH EHHZ (BMAREE—  MNte?:  The adjusted net profit as calculated based on the adjusted profit for the year and listing
EILEMIEE) AERTHESE expenses (the non-recurring expenses of the year).
B L & BENANBLEE
Financial ratios Year ended December 31
20155 20165 20175 20185 20195
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
52 (%) Gross profit margin (%) 49.5% 48.0% 54.9% 51.0% 49.8%
AR (%) Net profit margin (%) 37.9% 32.9% 56.3% 45.3% 39.5%
R BRI R (%) Adjusted net profit margin (%) 38.9% 38.1% 62.6% 50.8% 39.5%
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EEREE BENAMALEE
Assets and liabilities Year ended December 31
20155 20165 20178 20185 20198
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ARETT AR®TR AR®T=x ARETT N B
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
FRBEE Non-current assets 1,044,878 1,727,133 2,326,642 4,103,810 4,849,628
REEE Current assets 171,815 285,465 243,261 549,699 1,151,737
PEIR=RE Current liabilities 681,541 563,442 667,996 1,632,355 2,124,500
RBEEFE Net current liabilities (509,726) (277,977) (424,735) (1,082,656) (972,763)
BEAENARBER Total assets less current liabilities 535,152 1,449,156 1,901,907 3,021,154 3,876,865
e =L Non-current liabilities 153,528 506,640 177,052 741,943 925,209
AR Total equity 381,624 942,516 1,724,855 2,279,211 2,951,656
NE - BERE Property, plant and equipment 728,270 867,240 985,301 2,116,119 3,089,932
BeRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 82,979 178,785 118,648 349,630 559,007
EEWA Deferred revenue 180,019 217,047 249,599 472,928 725,363
FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 450,996 578,628 352,259 1,286,847 1,486,829
B L & BZE12ANE/BENANBLEE:
Financial ratios As of December 31/for the year ended December 31,
20155 20164 20175 20185 20195
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR ARET T
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
TEN = Current Ratio 0.3 05 04 0.3 0.5
B E (fi2) Gearing ratio (Vote 2) 118.2% 61.4% 20.4% 56.5% 50.4%
HiaFe . RELRENEREELERUEESE -BEMATE M2 Gearing ratio equals total debt divided by total equity as of the end of the year. Total debt
STERITER R HEMER refers to all interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings.
Be¢RE BZ12A3BLEE
Cash flows Year ended December 31
20154 20164 20174 20184 20194
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ARETT AR¥Tr AR®T=x ARETT ARETT
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
RETHHEREFE Net cash from operating activities 254,364 225,100 287,060 456,736 830,909
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[EBAL

“affiliate(s)”

[ASERMA 48]

“Articles of Association” or “Articles”

[BEA

“associate(s)

B A

“Ba Mu Pu”

M2 AH]

“Bei Ai Company”

[ERAEBEE]

“Beijing Daai Gaoxue”

=34

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[EHKEFEHZE (20195) ]

“Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019)”

B—F 3=

“Business Day” or “business day”

B
DEFINITIONS

REMEEATIMS FTANEEREEEFHEEALIREESIEEZIHEZS
RZHEESBEELREFNEMA L

with respect to any specific person, any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or
controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified person

ARAR2017FEIA20B BEHRHERMNVEBERME (BTEEET)
the articles of association of the Company conditionally adopted on 20 March 2017, as
amended from time to time

AEELWRAFMETHESR
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

EREARBREERAT —BR2010F5824B8 REFEEERIZ2BRAD
B HHASZELE - ZRER -BR -BEE-IE -SF ZRBREEED BIE
B79.19% ~0.80% > 0.98% ~ 0.40% > 0.59% > 0.15% ~ 3.52% % 14.37% AR HE - BR Z= S0 &
REFENEFNRESEEN BERNHZEZERREYABLE=Z/F -BXRH
RFETERRZ— BEEESE 25.7305%K &

Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd.* (BB ARHERIFER A F) , a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 24 May 2010, which is owned as to
79.19% by Mr. Li, 0.80% by Qin Hongkang (Z= %2 EE) , 0.98% by Pan Yi (GE3R) , 0.40%
by Yang Junxiong (#2318 %) , 0.59% by Wang Lei (3EE ), 0.15% by Yao Li (#k*i)
3.52% by Liu Fengming (2@ 85 ) and 14.37% Yang Xuwei (#5JB#E) . Except for Mr. Li
and Yang Xuwei (#3 JB#4E) | the sister-in-law of Mr. Li, all shareholders of Ba Mu Pu are
Independent Third Parties. Ba Mu Pu is one of the New Registered Shareholders and holds
5.7305% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

TREEERBEREFREELD A —ER2012F10816 B RIBEPEER KL
HWERAR HEEEE2EHF - LEAASRHRERENBRERTHRE
PR B RE R E

Beijing Aiyinsheng Education Investment Co., Lid* (t R ERAEHEREFREMET A
7] ) , a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 16 October 2012,
and wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Bei Ai Company will act as the school sponsor of the
Gansu College upon the official establishment of the Gansu College

TRAESEHEREERAT —ER2018F3ALBRFEKLZERA
A HEEEE2EHEE

Beijing Daai Gaoxue Education Technology Co., Lid* (tEAESE2HEREL AR
A|]) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 23 March 2018. It is wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group

KATREEE
the board of Directors of the Company

BEAR - FEGEHBERBRITCERRE FILNERSEHZR
the business cooperation agreement to be entered into by and among Huihuang Company,
the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the New Registered Shareholders

BEERIT-ROAZHEANEEENBEF(EH A EHASEELRBER
h)

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business to the public and which
is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong
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DEFINITIONS

[(REBERAREHS]
“BVI"

[FE 2R

“Central China School”

[RERE]

“Chengxin Investment”

[ E
“China” or “PRC”

[EREE A
“close associate(s)

”

[ &) & A

“Companies Ordinance”

DA (FBRMEEN)

151 1

“Companies (WUMP) Ordinance”

[AR2AFE]

“Company”

[BEE AL
“connected person(s)

”

42 BB 3R

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

(RO EEAL]

“core connected person(s)”

REERRES
the British Virgin Islands

HMIAERBEREBRZER  —BR2003FREBFEEERNINSEHERB-E
FERALRLNANFTEGEHEER

Science and Technology College of Hubei Minzu University* (G4t RIR KR 2RI Epx) |
an institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2003. Central
China School is a PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entity of the Company

EAREHEREEEGBEE (BRER)  —BR2015F12812B BB+
B22RYNERER HTAEFRAEEBEBARBTEEBAEARAHEE
REBA (BEGEE (ZTEENZTFNHRK) RRILERRE)  H20195F8
B26HE BERETBERAZEEREZZLERRK

Kashi Daai Chengxin Investment Management Limited Partnership* (Bt K Z2HERE
EEBEBLE (BREE)), alimited partner established under the laws of the PRC on
12 December 2015 with Mr. Li as its general partner and ten individuals acting as its limited
partners, including Yang Xuwei (#5 JB4E) , the sister-in-law of Mr. Li, and the Principal
of Northeast School. Chengxin Investment ceased to be a Registered Shareholder of Yun Ai
Group since 26 August 2019

RFEARANE BAFHRME TEEEE - RFISITHRERAE
the People’s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this annual report, Hong Kong,
the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

BEELTRAMETHES
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEBEDIE22E R AMGRA RABEET - MR I UEM B X BK
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEBERFENREQNT CEBRMBEGR OGS BT FET WA UHEMTS
K&K

the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

FEHFSHEBERAR  —RR2016F7AHEHEHBTMRA LN ER R
BRAF

China New Higher Education Group Limited (FFEI#i & EBBBR 2 8 ) , an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 8 July 2016

AEELWRAFMETFHES
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEELLMRBIMETHNERSE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEELHRAFMETHES
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



[REFH]

“Daai Fangzhou”

“Daai Partnership

[KRERA

“Daai Shuren”

2%

“Director(s)”

[ESRES (2019%F) ]

“Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) ”

[BEQH]

“Enchang Company”

[REEFHZE (20195) ]
“Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)”

[ %

“Equity Transfers”

[BRZBHEGZ (2019F) ]
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement
(2019)"

Bx
DEFINITIONS

EMABFAGEZAEBRAT  —BR2016F3816BRIBEPEEER LD
HNEBELE UAREENZENBAT

Yunnan Daai Fangzhou Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (EMAEF R EEHBHE
BR 2 &) , a wholly foreign owned enterprise established under the laws of the PRC on 16
March, 2016, and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group

EAREREEBABLE (FRER) —BR2015F12888 RIEPEEE
HYNEREE AEERFERAEBEERAURBAZEERERSFERAER
BRA-B2019F8A26HE AEEBRTHEAEEEEAZTERR

Kashi Daai Investment Management Limited Partnership* (Bt K EREEHEAH
% (BREE)), a limited partnership established under the laws of the PRC on 8
December 2015 with Ma Chongliang ( F5 52 52 ) acting as the general partner and Mr. Li
and Ma Chongliang ( 552 %) acting as the limited partner. Daai Partnership ceased to be
a Registered Shareholder of Yun Ai Group since 26 August 2019

ETRREMARBEAAETRLR —BR2018F3IA4ARPER L Z2BR A
A -HHEEZREEZ2EHR

Beijing Daai Shuren Education Consulting Company Limited* (dt R K B# A KB BHAE
BR A F]) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 14 March 2018. It is wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group

AREES

the directors of the Company

EHHEEERESTEBTFREINERESEES
the school directors’ power of attorney to be executed by each of the directors of each PRC
Operating School

BEANESHERREREELT  —HR2014FE11B13ARBETBE EE
RINERAR HHEERKEL2ERE - BREQAAAETERNERERE
Enshi Autonomous Prefecture Changging Education Development Co., Ltd.* ( B} B 34 M
EEHBEREEMREME AT, alimited liability company established under the laws of
the PRC on 13 November 2014. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Enchang Company is the
school sponsor of Central China School

FreERR EEEEREEQAFASEELIEFIILNREERGZE
the equity pledge agreement to be entered into by and among the New Registered
Shareholders, Yun Ai Group and Huihuang Company

201958 A26H 2019512860 Fh4E - HERE AESE BERER
I ERERENEHEEEZERETEE2RE

the transfer of equity interests in Yun Ai Group from each of Mr. Li, Chengxin Investment,
Daai Partnership, Huihuang Investment and Shanghai Taifu to Songming Dexue on 26 August
2019 and 6 December 2019

BEAR - FEGEHBERBRITCERREFILNBRIZBHEHZ
the exclusive call option agreement to be entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the New Registered Shareholders
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Bx
DEFINITIONS

[BREMRSERER |
B E (20195 ) J

“Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy
Agreement (2019)”

[RAEGEBESH 5

“Existing Structured Contracts”

[HREER] B

“Gansu College”

[ Greenwoods ¥z B 3 &F | 5

“Greenwoods Jia Xin Rui Xuan’

BN R EAEA N B

”Group", “we” or “us”

[EAEER] B

“Guangxi Schools”

[EMNER] B

“Guizhou School”

BEAAEFEGSHBERS T UNBRRIMREREEZA G H

the exclusive technical service and management consultancy agreement to be entered into
by and among Huihuang Company and PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities

NEFERREMNBRZEBMEHEGN (BUBREEZMEE) THERE
MEH (BUADT HAHB2018F10AEZAEMEE) REBREBMS
X (GHUNAATHEA2018F12A10BZAEMIEE)  BEAREREBHEEN (H
MAATBHB209F1ANMBZAEHMERE) REVEREBMEESN (HOK
AT BEA2019F8A26B 2 A E K E)

namely, the Structured Contracts for Yunnan School and Guizhou School as disclosed in the
prospectus, the Henan School Structured Contracts as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 8 October 2018, the Northeast School Structured Contracts as disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 10 December 2018, the Guangxi Schools
Structured Contracts as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 11 January
2019 and the Central China School Structured Contracts as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 26 August 2019

BMEIREBEMIREER  —BR004FEREVEEZERNINBLISEZHAE
g

College of Technology and Engineering * (BN E T KEBFH M TEEPL), an
independent institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2004

EHEEARESBCE (BRER) B —RBR2018F8A20ARIBPEEENK L
HERSEEERE- - GreenwoodsE BT A S B H E MV39% A% &

Jia Xin Rui Xuan Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (& Bl Iz 8T IR E S B ¥
(BBREE) ), alimited liability partnership established under the laws of the PRC on 29
August 2018. Greenwoods Jia Xin Rui Xuan owns 39% equity interest of Songming Xinju

RAF -EFENHEBLAR FEEEERRACHBER IR FXEME
BRAATHBEAMBARNERARZAINHEMEREEKELE R
SEBREBNER

the Company, its subsidiaries, the PRC Operating Schools and the consolidated affiliated
entities from time to time, or, where the context so requires in respect of the period before
the Company became the holding company of the present subsidiaries, the entities which
carried on the business of the present Group at the relevant time

EREEFRERELER EAREARBERTERREAREFRRRES
RHBHEC AR ERERARQAANGEHEER

together, Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College* (E P S ZEBIMR B 2 &R ) |
Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School* ( B 78 2% 2 B PR B 2
T E3 K2 ) and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School* ( f& 7 5% % B &%
BT M B E) . Guangxi Schools are consolidated affiliated entities of the Company

EMNIEREZER —BR012F7AERBEFEEZERINRPISEEEH
AR HERENEERAEESEZERE AR QANKEHESE
Guizhou Technology and Business Institute* (& /N T B £ 2% ) | a private institution of
formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC on 3 July 2012, of which the
school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group and a consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



(KA F]

“Haxuan Company”

L e

“Henan School”

(Bl R [#EW]
“HK$”, “Hong Kong dollar(s)”,
“HKD” or “cents”

[&#%]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[EEa ]

“Huihuang Company”

[EERE]

“Huihuang Investment”

(BYE=5
“Independent Third Party(ies)’

(= =R
“Listing Date”

[ Em &R Al
“Listing Rules”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

BREEBHENEERART  —ER2016F48 198 RBFEEEXLINERA
A HEEEBEAIIVRERAEEATEE2609%KE - RHEARAR
ERNME —SBRERE

Harbin Xuande Technology Co., Ltd.* (R BEEREBR AT ), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 19 April 2016, and owned as to 73.91%
by Yun Ai Group and as to 26.09% by Ningde Company. Haxuan Company is the sole school
sponsor of the Northeast School

BENEBEZR —BROBFARBIRZEZERNINRRSEEERE
KB THEERARDAAZEEHBEER

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College* (& e R HE 2 EP%) | a private
institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in June 2013.
Henan School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

DRIRBTRBI BEERKENEEEY
Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong
Kong

FEEBEITRE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

ARAZEEGEEREERAT —BNR2016F8ABRBFBEEEKINE
RAG AEAEENR2ENRE QT

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., Ltd.* (AR A ZEEEEREHE
BR-2J]) , a limited liability company established on 5 August 2016 under the laws of the
PRC, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group

BEAAEBEEREEEABLE (BREE)  —BR2015F128228 RiE+
BEERINEREY BTA4EERAHEBERARIBEAAEAEER
ERA(BIEHEMAEERBELE) - B2019F8826HEE BERETBAEE
EEzRERRE

Kashi Daai Huihuang Investment Management Limited Partnership* (B8t K BB IRE
EEAEBLE (BEREH)), alimited partner established under the laws of the PRC on
22 December 2015 with Mr. Li acting as its general partner and 31 individuals acting as its
limited partners, including Mr. Zhao Shuai (&5 ff) and Yang Xuwei (45 fB#E) . Huihuang
Investment ceased to be a Registered Shareholder of Yun Ai Group since 26 August 2019

BIRAQAARAEBEEALTREFSEHERENSE =5
third party(ies) who is/are independent of and not connected with the Company and its
connected persons

2017548 19R
19 April 2017

GRS LR A (BRRREET)
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time
to time
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Bx
DEFINITIONS

B (20195F) |
“Loan Agreement (2019)”

[ER]

“Main Board”

[ZF5E4 ]
“Mr. Li"

[# 520
“MOE”

(Bt
“Ms. Yang”

[ 358 & R

“New Registered Shareholders”

[HEBEEH]

“New Structured Contracts”

ﬁ
At
S
5
Il
—

“Ningde Company”

BEAR - FEHEEEREEZEERIT LNERDGZE
a loan agreement to be entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the PRC Operating
Schools, and Yun Ai Group

BMXEENBLZIGM (T EREHREDS)  BYREZXAGEME E A I 1T
E1E

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

ZEHEE AQFANEPRA HPh—BERRR ESEXIERATES
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z8F) | the founder, one of the controlling shareholders, chairman of
the Board and an executive Director of the Company

FEHKE
the Ministry of Education of the PRC

BRELZt ERENEE
Ms. Yang Xuging (#5783 ) , the spouse of Mr. Li

EFEBEB2019F8AGAETHREEZANRER  NHEHHE -BXH - L8
AE SHEERPZEAFAINURN2019F12H68 2 BB E BIHEHEEE B
HoSHEERFE AT

the shareholders of Yun Ai Group after the completion of the Equity Transfers, namely Pai
Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Shanghai Taifu, Songming Dexue and Zhongyi Company since 26 August
2019 and subsequent to 6 December 2019, Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming Dexue and
Zhongyi Company

(B EEHRE (2019F) BREMBBREBZAIHRE (2019F) -BRAB
e R (20196 ) - REE FIHE (2019F) - RERERNZEHZE (2019F) - &
REPRERESHEANEZRHR (2019F) EREHEREES (2019F) EX
REZE (2019F) - RREEE (2019F) - ERIHZ (20195 ) RE B &S (2019
FIURBEZEBTNER E—PFBHN BB R2019F88268 K2019F12
A6EZAE

collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019), the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement (2019), the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019),
the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019), the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019), the
School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the
Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Loan Agreement (2019) and the Spouse’s
Undertakings (2019), and the amendments thereof, further details of which are set out in the
announcements dated 26 August 2019 and 6 December 2019

ERBILARBRE LTI ERECRLE (ARER)  —BR2016F4A7HR
BHREEERINEREE HeBERARLERRRRERGREHES
BERNBEARE D EH26.09%% 5

Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Area Deshida Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
(BERBLURBRBERLERESBLEX (ARAEM)), a limited liability
partnership established under the laws of the PRC on 7 April 2016, of which the partnership
interest is owned by the principal of the Northeast School and his family members. Ningde
Company owns 26.09% equity interest of Haxuan Company

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



[RILER]

“Northeast School”

[ B 5k |

“Pai Dui Pai”

[FEGEHEERE

“PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[ B AR ]
“PRC Legal Advisors”

[HEZEEZR]

“PRC Operating Schools”
[REER=R]

“Registered Shareholders”

[R5 HA ]
“Reporting Period”

[ARE]
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

BREEESMR —BAR20UEREBEFEEERINBIEE RILBRAXR
AANGREHEBEEE

Harbin Huade University * (R FE /B ZE B E PR ) , an independent institute established
under the laws of the PRC in 2004. Northeast School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company

ERHHEKEEEERAERAT —ER2010F6 A28 REBEPBIEREK M
BRAR HAZ%4 ZRA BB FHE - IHB BHEE EBF RS-
NE - EEH RUKX -BEFTR - BESTRIGBEE D BI#EB54.30% 13.64%
2.74%~4.85%~1.30% > 14.23% > 0.64% > 0.95% ~2.39% * 0.51% ~ 0.48% ~ 0.47% ~ 0.57%
F293% cBREFEE BEF (FEEZFHRIK)  ZBRA (FTRENBEK R
BES (FEESFHIRK) N LARAMBATHABYE=F -HHEAH
RERRZ— FEEEEE20.0568%M B o

Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.* ( BB E HEE B E B
BEAR AT ), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 2
June 2010, which is owned as to 54.30% by Mr. Li, 13.64% by Li Yaohong ( Z=#24L) ,
2.74% by Miao Qiongfen (#BI83F) , 4.85% by Huang Wei (Z4&) , 1.30% by Wang Yan
(SE44) , 14.23% by Yang Xuwei (#5JB#E) |, 0.64% by Xiaofen Bi (), 0.95% by
Yuan Song (R ) , 2.39% by Liu Yun (ZIZE), 0.51% by Lv Xuerui (B EF) , 0.48%
by Wu Shiyi (SR t2) , 0.47% by Fu Zigang ({&F ) , 0.57% by Yang Xufen (#5fB23)
and 2.93% by Yang Xuyan (#3 JE%f) . Except for Mr. Li, Yang Xufen (#2fB2%) | the sister-
in-law of Mr. Li, Li Yaohong (Z=#BA4L) , the sister of Mr. Li, and Yang Xuyan (%3 JE %) |
the sister-in-law of Mr. Li, all are Independent Third Parties. Pai Dui Pai is one of the New
Registered Shareholders and holds 20.0568% equity interest of Yun Ai Group.

MERERERDTELEER RERLRAANGEHEBEER  UREMRE
EBMEEHN (BARKE) HAXEENREEZRAA

namely, the School Sponsors and the PRC Operating Schools, each a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company and other investment holding companies which were consolidated to
the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to time

BEAMBEAN AR AABTEAR 2R ERER

Commerce & Finance Law Offices, the Company’s Legal advisors as to PRC Laws

FEHBER NEHER ENER THER RUAER BEASRRESF
BR

the consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Henan School,
Northeast School, Guangxi Schools and Central China School

EFEE2RE (KTEEH)
the shareholders of Yun Ai Group, as updated from time to time

BZE2019F12831BLEE
the year ended 31 December 2019

AR® PEBRBHNEEER

Renminbi, the lawful currency for the time being of the PRC
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Bx
DEFINITIONS

[ERERE

“School Sponsors”

[ERENERESENET
& (2019%F) J

“School Sponsors’ and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019)"

[ERERERES (2019F)

“School Sponsors’ Powers of
Attorney (2019)”

[RHEREEHRG

“SFO”

[EEARE]

“Shanghai Taifu”

[ iz
“Share(s)”

[R5
“Shareholder(s)”

REERENEZETEE THER BREQIAR -HMEE -BEATRURRK
RERBEPRELE AT

the current school sponsors, Yun Ai Group, Henan Rongyu, Haxuan Company, Qinzhou
Yinghua, Enchang Company and the future school sponsor Bei Ai Company

BRERE PHEEEER ERENEZANEBEESREBEARSETN
BRERERESEMNZRHE

the school sponsors’ and directors’ rights entrustment agreement to be entered into by and
among School Sponsors, the PRC Operating Schools, the relevant directors appointed by the
School Sponsors and Huihuang Company

BREREUBENAAZBABETNEREBRERRES
the school sponsors’ power of attorney to be executed by the School Sponsors in favor of
Huihuang Company

BEEBLPENEZTSFRAEGR. BFFEIRER
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
and supplemented from time to time

LBREHIEREREESEROE (ARE®)  —BR2015F128158 1R
BHEEERINEREE HEBERBAAFITFZEXNREBRAA -
RINTELZEXREERLATABRINTFLZERMBMEBZAERLATDZTEES
FIFZEeRRAEZEAERAAHTPEAFLZRE (EE)RHERLE (—
RAABEEMRINRGERAR MR RAER (RAMRE 2318) R LF
FERZM (BRMMRIE:601318) L™ HEH6S2%RER BRI T ELEFHE
AREBRDTEECI%RE B2019F1286A 8 LBAETBEAEEE
Bz BRR

Shanghai Taifu Xiangyi Equity Investment Fund Limited Partnership* ( L3 K & ¥ U5 R #E
REESEHLE (BMREE)) a limited partnership established under the laws of
the PRC on 15 December 2015 with Shenzhen Pingan Decheng Investment Co., Ltd. (3%
YL ERIREABR A T) acting as its general partner. Shenzhen Pingan Decheng
Investment Co., Ltd.* CRINITT FELRERIREBRAF) is wholly owned by Shenzhen
Pingan Financial Technology Consulting Co., Ltd.* GRIIF L2 L RAIHZBAGR A
&) , which in turn is owned as to 96.52% by Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China,
Ltd. (P EF 2R (EE) RMHBEMR AT ), a joint-stock company incorporated in
the PRC and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2318) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601318) and as to 6.38% by Shenzhen Ping An New
Capital Investment Co., Ltd* CRIITFZRIFTERIREBR AT ) . Shanghai Taifu
ceased to be a Registered Shareholder of Yun Ai Group since 6 December 2019

AATRAFEREEMETHNEBR
ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

ROFEA
holder(s) of the Share(s)

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



[BRRIRES (2019F) |

“Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney

(2019)"

[REREFZTHZE (2019F) |

“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment

Agreement (2019)”
[ IhE1E 3 2 1R B

“Sino-Foreign Regulation”

N

r

[

PHEE

“Songming Dexue”

[EHHE]

“Songming Xinju”

[ o B eE (20195F)
“Spouse Undertakings (2019)”

[EBHEE8]
“Structured Contracts”

(BT 2 [ & B 5 3 PR
“Stock Exchange” or
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

(B8 2 &) J

“subsidiary(ies)

Bx
DEFINITIONS

FRERAREEEEUEEATAZIRARBEINRRERES
the shareholders’ power of attorney to be executed by the New Registered Shareholders and
Yun Ai Group in favor of Huihuang Company

MRERR EREPRERBELABERTHNRRERNZEHZH
the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement to be entered into by and among the New
Registered Shareholders, the School Sponsors and Huihuang Company

FEARAEMBES IS EDZRAG 0 B EH B R20035 58 /7 3 R2019F382H
&5
the Regulation on Sino-Foreign Cooperation in Operating Schools* ( ¥ A R H M E
INEVEYEER &) | promulgated by the State Council in 2003 and amended on 2 March
2019

SHEZEHERRERAT —ER019F4B817TERBEPEEERLIZE
RAB HEEE 2 EREB S HEEAFRERRZ—LEEEESE
70.8305% 2 IR #E

Songming Dexue Education Development Co., Ltd.* (SRHEZEEHEREFRLT), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 April 2019 and wholly
owned by Mr. Li. Songming Dexue is one of the New Registered Shareholders and owns
70.8305% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

EHHFECEEEARAT —MMN2016F108278RBEFPBEEERLZER
AR AHAFTEEFLE  GreenwoodsEEIHH R A EH A DRI HEE10% - 39%K
51% S ANERRMMNEENE - KRR

Songming Xinju Enterprise Management Company Limited (S E X EEAR A
7] ) , a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 27 October 2016,
and owned as to 10% by Mr. Li Jianchun (Z=# %) , 39% by Greenwoods Jia Xin Rui Xuan
and 51% by Daai Shuren. Songming Xinju is the sole shareholder of Qinzhou Yinghua

ERENEBE LT BH I NEERS
the spouse undertakings to be executed by Ms. Yang, the spouse of Mr. Li

BEZEBEGHARNEBEENZER
collectively, Existing Structured Contracts and the New Structured Contracts

EBHMAEXZERLDA
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

EELWRAMETFHES
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
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Bx
DEFINITIONS

[FERR]
“substantial Shareholder(s)”

EYl
“USD’

[#TEER

“Xinjiang School”

[E25HE]

“Yun Ai Group”

“Zhongyi Company”

[% J

“op

BEBELEHRBFAETNRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

En XERNEEER
United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

MEBEMRAREHHEER  —BR00FREPEEERNINRPISSEREHE
HE

Xinjiang Institute of Finance and Economics* (¥ BB & K 2L &), a private
higher education institution established in 2003 under the PRC law

EHERRAEREEEERAA (B ZEHEERREERAAIRIE
EERAFREEEEGRLT])  —BR2005FIF19BREPEEERINE
AR HBEEH BAH SHEZRPEHE AT D B HHE20.0568%  5.7305%
70.8305%%3.3822% - HAZMERREMNERNER B H

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Lid* (EEEEHZHEREEBAR
A F]) (formerly known as “Yunnan Einsun Investment Co., Ltd.* (EEEEHHZBREHFR
A ) ” and “Yunnan Einsun Investment Group Co., Ltd* (ZEEER AR EEBEGR L
Al) "), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 19 September
2005, which is owned as to 20.0568% by Pai Dui Pai, 5.7305% by Ba Mu Pu, 70.8305% by
Songming Dexue and 3.3822% by Zhongyi Company. It is the school sponsor of the Yunnan
School and the Guizhou School

SPRHBRCXEERZARBERAT  —BMR2016F7B12B RIBEREEEK
Y2BERAR -HHBYE= 7288 PR AANCERR 22— L#
BEEE S E3.3822% M 1

Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd.* (& B &
TEBSEZXHRB AR D F) , alimited liability company established under the laws of
PRC on 12 July 2016 and is wholly owned by an Independent Third Party. Zhongyi Company
is one of the New Registered Shareholders and owns 3.3822% equity interest in Yun Ai
Group

ERalse
per cent

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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